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GROUP CORPORATE STRUCTURE

Sentoria Group Berhad
[Registration No. : 199801007217 (463344-K)]

Sentoria Morib Bay Sdn. Bhd.
[Registration No. : 201101027193 (955328-A)]

100%

Sentoria Vacation Club Berhad
[Registration No. : 200901007954 (850929-U)]

100%

Sentoria Borneo Samariang Sdn. Bhd.
[Registration No. : 201301015066 (1044899-X)]

100%

Ataria Asia Sdn. Bhd.
[Registration No. : 201501034710 (1160030-V)]

100%

Active Academy Sdn. Bhd.
[Registration No. : 201701046955 (1261131-K)]

100%

100%
Sentoria Themeparks and  
Resorts Sdn. Bhd.  
[Registration No. : 200601028040 (747796-W)]

100% Sentoria Property Services Sdn. Bhd.
[Registration No. : 199901002917 (477817-P)]

100% Sentoria Alam Sdn. Bhd.
[Registration No. : 200301023349 (625769-P)]

Sentoria Land Sdn. Bhd.
[Registration No. : 201301018778 (1048608-M)]

Blue Sky Leisure Sdn. Bhd.
[Registration No. : 201101026527 (954663-D)]

100%

Star Wholesale Sdn. Bhd.
[Registration No. : 201201014327 (987844-P)]

100%

100%

100%

Sentoria Leisure Langkawi Sdn. Bhd.
[Registration No. : 200501005706 (682753-T)]

LEISURE & HOSPITALITY PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

Sentoria Alfa Sdn. Bhd.
[Registration No. : 200301030531 (632951-M)]

100%

Sentoria Bina Sdn. Bhd.
[Registration No. : 199901002914 (477814-V)]

100%

Sentoria Harta Sdn. Bhd.
[Registration No. : 200201031993 (599658-M)]

100%

Sentoria Borneo Land Sdn. Bhd.
[Registration No. : 201301015011 (1044844-V)]

100%

Sentoria Projects Sdn. Bhd.
[Registration No. : 201101027571 (955706-H)]

100%

Sentoria IBS Sdn. Bhd.
[Registration No. : 201701046551 (1260727-D)]

100%

Sentoria Langkawi Sdn. Bhd.
[Registration No. : 201301043118 (1072940-A)]

75%

Sentoria Utara Sdn. Bhd.
[Registration No. : 201401038085 (1114233-A)]

75%
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

REVENUE (RM’000) 

FY2017

FY2016

FY2018
restated

FY2020

FY2021

202,961

35,150

241,369

224,224

280,415

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (RM’000) 

10,177

(75,248)

(148,011)

51,365

45,182

FY2017

FY2016

FY2018
restated

FY2020

FY2021

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (RM’000) 

402,717

446,468

523,645

446,123

270,585

FY2017

FY2016

FY2018
restated

FY2020

FY2021

TOTAL ASSETS (RM’000) 

848,496

1,023,070

1,203,907

1,122,629

993,679

FY2017

FY2016

FY2018
restated

FY2020

FY2021

	 Notes:
	 (1)	 For the financial year ended 30 September
	 (2)		 For the financial period from 1 October 2018 to 31 March 2020
	 (3)	 For the financial year ended 31 March		

				    restated	 18 months

		  2016(1)	 2017(1)	 2018(1)	 2020(2)	 2021(3)

FYE		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Revenue		  224,224	 280,415	 241,369	 202,961	 35,150

Profit before taxation		  45,182	 51,365	 10,177	 (75,248)	 (148,011)

Profit after taxation		  33,111	 38,032	 16,506	 (88,626)	 (171,179)

Net profit attributable to 
owners of the Company		  33,129	 38,029	 16,508	 (87,607)	 (161,638)

Shareholders’ equity		  402,717	 446,468	 523,645	 446,123	 270,585

Total assets		  848,496	 1,023,070	 1,203,907	 1,122,629	 993,679



OVERVIEW OF GROUP’S 
BUSINESS

The Group is involved in property 
development and construction 
(with its own construction arm) 
and the leisure and hospitality 
industry. Its existing major property 
development and construction 
projects are mainly located in 
Kuantan-Pahang, Morib-Selangor 
and Kuching-Sarawak, further 
details of which are set out 
below under “Review of Business 
Operations”.

The Group is primarily a developer and main 
contractor of affordable homes, almost all of 
which are priced below RM300,000 per unit and 
are mainly targeted at the Bottom 40% (“B40”) 
and Middle 40% (“M40”) households. 

On the leisure and hospitality side, the Group’s 
major facility is Bukit Gambang Resort 
City (“BGRC”), an integrated resort city of 
approximately 727 acres located in Gambang-
Pahang. BGRC was developed on the concept 
of “One Location Multiple Attractions” offering 

accommodation with integrated facilities for 
leisure, business convention or retreat. 
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
BUSINESS OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
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BGRC encompasses Bukit Gambang Water Park (“BGWP”), the largest water theme park on the East Coast of 
Peninsular Malaysia covering an area of about 46 acres within a lush secondary jungle environment, thus providing 
a natural tropical ambience to the various water rides and attractions. 

Adjacent to BGWP is Bukit Gambang Safari Park (“BGSP”) nestled within 138 acres of secondary jungle. BGSP 
is the largest zoo safari park in Malaysia with more than 300 species of wild animals from all over the world. 
These animals include, inter alia, white lions, golden eagles, brown bears, cheetahs. BGSP which boasts of the first 
Malaysian-born white lion cub, affectionately named ‘King’. The safari park was designed on the concept of a fully 
covered walking zone with a drive-through savannah to enhance the experience of the animals roaming free in their 
natural habitats.

The other theme parks under the Group’s Leisure and Hospitality Division (“LHD”) include the Borneo Samariang 
Water Park (“BSWP”) in Kuching-Sarawak and Langkawi Nature Park (“LNP”) in Langkawi-Kedah.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

In 2020, the Group changed the financial year end from September to March. The comparative figures for the 
financial period ended 31 March 2020 (“FY 2020”) reported here are therefore for the 18-month period from 1 
October 2018 to 31 March 2020.

Financial Performance

For the financial year ended 31 March 2021 (“FY2021”), the Group achieved a revenue of RM 35.2 million, representing 
a 82.7% decrease from the FY2020. Property Development division (“PDD”) continued to be the major contributor 
to the Group’s revenue. However, the overall slow progress of construction works due to COVID-19 pandemic had 
led to lower revenue recognition. 

The Group recorded gross loss of RM 41.7 million for FY2021 as compared to gross profit of RM21.9 million achieved 
in FY2020. This was mainly due to the Property Development Division (“PDD”) suffered margin compressions arising 
from rising construction and development costs, and associated costs from project delays in FY2021. 

Similarly, gross margin for LHD had also taken a hit from the impact of COVID-19 pandemic as all leisure parks were 
closed during the various stage of Movement Control Order (MCO) imposed by the government, resulted in high 
fixed or semi-fixed operating costs incurred without a commensurate level of revenue.   

The Group recorded net loss of RM 171.2 million for FY2021 as compared to net loss of RM88.6 million achieved 
in FY2020. 

The loss attributable to the equity owners was RM161.6 million for FY2021, representing a increase in loss of 
RM74.0 million from a loss of RM87.6 million in FY 2020. 

Aside from the earlier mentioned decreases in revenue and gross margin, the loss position was further contributed 
by the followings:

•	 Impairment loss on re-measurement of inventories;

•	 Fair value loss on investment properties;

•	 Higher finance costs;

•	 Reversal of deferred tax assets.

Premised on the above, the basic and diluted earnings per share of the Group had declined to negative 29.0 sen 
respectively in FY2021 from a negative 15.7 sen in FY2020 (after adjusting for the retrospective adjustments arising 
from the issue of bonus shares during FY2018).

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
BUSINESS OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
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Liquidity and capital resources

The Group has net cash used of RM4.3 million for the FY2021 as compared to net cash used of RM12.3 million for 
FY2020. The details of these changes in cash flows are as follows:

(i)	 Net cash generated from operating activities for FY2021 was RM3.6 million, as compared to a net cash 
generated from operating activities of RM18.4 million for FY2020. This was mainly due to the net inflows from 
working capital changes of RM66.5 million (FY2020: inflow of RM89.3 million) mitigated by the overall loss 
before tax from operations during the FY2021.

(ii)	 Net cash used in investing activities for FY2021 reduced to RM0.5 million as compared to RM8.6 million in 
FY2020 due to lower purchase of property, plant and equipment during the financial year.

(iii)	 Net cash used in financing activities for FY2021 was RM7.5 million as compared to RM22.1 million in FY2020, 
which was used for repayment of borrowings and finance lease liabilities. 

Gearing

The Group’s gearing ratio (calculated as total borrowings divided by shareholders’ equity) as at 31 March 2021 was 
165.1% as compared to that of 98.9% as at 31 March 2020 mainly due to the lower shareholder funds.

REVIEW OF BUSINESS OPERATIONS

Property Development Division

Kuantan

During the  FY 2021, the Group has successfully delivered vacant possession of two property projects comprising 
506 unit of houses in PRIMA 2 and 334 units in Taman Bukit Rangin 3C located in Kuantan to house buyers.

The Group’s current on-going development and construction projects in Kuantan include Taman Indera Sempurna 3 
Phase B, Taman Damai Sempurna 1 Phase B, Taman Bukit Rangin 1 Phase B as well as the Third “design and build” 
Pembangunan Perumahan Rakyat 1Malaysia (PR1MA) Project (“PR1MA 3”), situated along Jalan Kuantan - Pekan. 

Total GDV and contract value of the above on-going developments (including design and build contracts) in Kuantan 
is approximately RM69.2 million. 

Morib

Morib Bay Resort City (“MBRC”), another resort city planned by the Group is strategically located within a radius of 
50 kilometres from Port Klang, Putrajaya, Cyberjaya and Kuala Lumpur International Airport. 

The current on-going main projects in Morib include a total of 357 units single-storey terrace houses comprising 
Project Mawar (44 units) and Seroja (165 units) and Orkid-RSKU (148 units), and 630 apartment units under the 
affordable housing scheme Rumah SelangorKu (“RSKU”). Total GDV for these ongoing projects is approximately 
RM215.2 million. 

Kuching

Borneo Samariang Resort City (“BSRC”) lies within Bandar Baru Samariang, a new satellite township rapidly taking 
shape north of Kuching.

The current development of BSRC includes BSWP, service apartments and MICE facilities, and commercial and 
residential properties. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
BUSINESS OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
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The on-going developments in Borneo Samariang Garden (“BSG”), the residential and commercial component of 
BSRC, include 428 units of Ataria service apartment and 586 units of single-storey terrace house, with an aggregate 
GDV of approximately RM273.8 million. 

As at 31 March 2021, the total outstanding order book and unbilled sales amounted to RM304.6 million from its 
ongoing projects in Kuantan, Morib and Kuching. 

Leisure and Hospitality Division

The LHD with facilities in BGRC, BSWP and LNP is loss making in FY2021 as the leisure park facilities are capital 
intensive in nature with fixed or semi-fixed operating costs. It is envisaged that the LHD would take longer before it 
could resume to its normal operation level and restore its profitability under the current COVID-19 situation.

PROSPECTS

The global and domestic economy remains challenging with the current COVID-19 pandemic which is impacting all 
industries.  

The Group’s leisure and hospitality business is envisaged to remain tough and the timing of resumption for the 
operations is very much dependant on the success of the national’s efforts in combating the spread of COVID-19 
virus and the rollout of COVID-19 vaccination in Malaysia. 

The affordable housing development is also in line with the Malaysian Government’s thrust to encourage ownership 
of affordable houses by the B40 and M40 households. The Group will focus on residential products priced below 
RM300,000 and at the same time, collaborate with strategic partners to enhance and expand its design and build 
projects.

Amid this challenging time, the Group will continue to build resilience by closely monitoring the Group’s liquidity and 
capital adequacy. The PDD will remain as the core operation and cash generating unit of the Group, the on-going 
projects in Kuantan, Morib and Kuching together with the planned launches are anticipated to continue to contribute 
positively to the Group in the coming financial years. 

The Group had taken steps to address its financial challenges which amongst others include obtaining assistance 
of Corporate Debt Restructuring Committee (CDRC) to mediate with the financing banks to restructure their facilities 
to the Group. Restraining Orders from the Court had also been obtained for Sentoria Bina Sdn Bhd (the main 
construction arm of the Group) and Sentoria Themeparks and Resorts Sdn Bhd to enable the Group to formulate 
Schemes of Arrangement (under Section 366 of the Companies Act) with its contractors and suppliers to repay 
amounts owing to them.

With the mutual cooperation and kind understanding of its various bankers and stakeholders, the Group is 
determined to overcome its present performance set-back to restore itself to a stronger financial footing.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
BUSINESS OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE



Dear  
Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of 
Directors (“Board”), I present 
you the Annual Report and 
Audited Financial Statements 

of the Group for the 
financial year ended 

31 March 2021 
(“FY2021”).

REVIEW OF GROUP’S 
PERFORMANCE

The unprecedented 
COVID-19 pandemic 
remains a great 
challenge to most 
industries which 
have been impacted 
immensely by the 
current economic 
condition. 

In FY2021, working 
capacities for 
property development 
and construction 
activities were greatly 
curtailed during the 
different stages 
of the Movement 
Control Order. As a 
result, the Property 
Development Division 
(“PDD”) suffered 
margin compressions 
arising from rising 
construction and 
development costs, 
and associated costs 
from project delays. 
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CHAIRMAN’S 
STATEMENT
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Similarly, the business performance of the Leisure and Hospitality Division’s (“LHD”) had also taken a significant hit 
by the prolonged closure of borders as well as the Movement Control Orders imposed by the national government 
to curb the spreading of COVID-19. Without a commensurate level of revenue generated from visitors to the leisure 
parks and hotels operated by the Group, the high fixed or semi-fixed operating costs had led to a loss-making 
position for the division as a whole. 

Further analysis on the Group’s financial performance is set out in the “Management Discussion and Analysis of 
Business Operations and Financial Performance” (“MD&A”) on pages 5 to 8 of this Annual Report.

Notwithstanding the restrictions on property development and construction activities during the FY2021, the Group 
has successfully delivered vacant possession for more than 1,300 units of houses from its ongoing projects from 
January 2020 to February 2021. This has been achieved despite the financial challenges faced by the Group which 
were exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic.  

Prospects

Whilst uncertainties on the economic landscape remain a concern to the local industries, the economic stimulus 
packages introduced by the Malaysian government are anticipated to aid local businesses to recoup earnings as 
the economy recovers. 

In line with the Malaysian Government’s thrust to encourage ownership of affordable houses by the B40 and M40 
households, the Group will continue to focus on its core competency in the development of affordable housing 
projects. Premised on the encouraging sales performance for new projects launched during the FY2021, the PDD 
is expected to continue to contribute positively to the Group and help weather through the current challenges faced 
by the Group. 

Operations of the LHD remain uncertain and would require time before the operation level normalises even as the 
country phases itself out of the MCO constraints. With the rollout of the nationwide vaccination program in Malaysia, 
the momentum of resumption and recovery of the LHD would rely heavily on the effectiveness and efficiency of the 
program. 

To aid the current financial difficulties faced by the Group, assistance has been obtained from the Corporate Debt 
Restructuring Committee to address its financial obligations with the financing banks in conjunction with Scheme 
of Arrangement with the existing trade creditors sanctioned by the Court following the Restraining Orders granted. 
These would help ease the financial burdens of the Group and allow it to recalibrate its financial structure to restore 
and maintain an adequate level of working capital. 

Moving ahead, the Group will continue to focus on its core business in property development and construction and 
is taking all measures to optimise its resources in order to weather through the current challenges.

Appreciation

I and my fellow Directors would in closing, like to thank our business partners, associates and bankers, for the 
continuing support of and confidence in the Group. To our advisors and the relevant government and regulatory 
authorities, I wish to express my sincere appreciation for their invaluable assistance and advice throughout FY2021.

Lastly, I thank my fellow Directors and all Sentorians for their loyal and dedicated services in overcoming challenges 
despite the trying operating conditions.

Dato’ Hj. Abdul Rahman bin Hj. Imam Arshad
Chairman of the Board
21 July 2021

CHAIRMAN’S 
STATEMENT 
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Dato’ Hj. Abdul Rahman Bin Hj. Imam Arshad was 
appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director on 
1 October 2015 and was re-designated as Independent 
Non-Executive Chairman on 30 September 2020. He is 
presently a member of our Audit and Risk Management, 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

Dato’ Hj. Abdul Rahman graduated with a Bachelor 
of Arts (Sociology and Anthropology) degree from 
University of Malaya in 1973 and in 1990, he obtained 
his Master of Public Administration (MPA) also from 
University of Malaya.

He started his career as an Assistant Secretary in the 
Finance Division of the Ministry of Education Malaysia. 
In 1978, he moved on to the Ministry of Health Malaysia 
where he served until 1986. During this period, he was 
the Senior Administrator in the Institute for Medical 
Research Malaysia. In 1983, Dato’ Hj. Abdul Rahman 
was promoted to the Principal Assistant Secretary in 

the Procurement Division of the same Ministry. He was 
then posted to Development Division of the Ministry of 
Works Malaysia in 1986 where he served until 1988. He 
then took sabbatical leave for two years to study for his 
Master of Public Administration (MPA).

In 1990, he was appointed Director of Road Transport 
Department Malaysia in Perak and in 1995, he became 
the Director of Johor State Development Office, a 
department under the Implementation Coordination 
Unit of the Prime Minister’s Department. In 2000, Dato’ 
Hj. Abdul Rahman was transferred to the Pahang State 
Secretary Office as Director of the State Economic 
Planning Unit. In 2002, he became the Hon. State 
Financial Officer of Pahang and in 2004 he was 
promoted as the Hon. State Secretary of Pahang, a 
position he held until his retirement in 2006.

He attended all six (6) Board meetings held during the 
financial year ended 31 March 2021.

DATO’ HJ. ABDUL RAHMAN BIN HJ. IMAM ARSHAD
71 years of age, Malaysian, Male
Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Dato’ Chan Kong San, the Group’s co-founder, was 
appointed to the Board on 15 March 1999. He was re-
designated as Joint Managing Director on 23 May 2011.

He graduated with a degree in Civil Engineering from 
University of Texas at Arlington, United States in 
1986 and was elected a member of The Institution of 

Engineers, Malaysia in 1993. He had worked for various 
consulting firms in Malaysia and other major property 
development companies before co-founding the Group 
in 1999.

He attended all six (6) Board meetings held during the 
financial year ended 31 March 2021.

DATO’ CHAN KONG SAN
60 years of age, Malaysian, Male
Joint Managing Director

BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS’ PROFILE
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Dato’ Gan Kim Leong, the Group’s co-founder, was also 
appointed as Director on 1 September 1999 and on 
23 May 2011, was re-designated as Joint Managing 
Director.

He obtained a Bachelor of Engineering in Civil 
Engineering in 1987 and a Master of Business 
Administration in 1993 from University of Malaya. He 
was elected a member of The Institution of Engineers, 
Malaysia in 1993 and was registered as a Professional 

Engineer of The Board of Engineers Malaysia in 1994.

Upon graduation, he worked in various senior positions 
in the property development and construction industry 
before co-founding the Group with Dato’ Chan Kong 
San.

He attended all Six (6) Board meetings held during the 
financial year ended 31 March 2021.

DATO’ GAN KIM LEONG
59 years of age, Malaysian, Male
Joint Managing Director

Mr Wong Yoke Nyen was appointed as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director on 8 October 2012 and was 
re-designated as Senior Independent Non-Executive 
Director on 30 September 2020. He is also the Chairman 
of our Audit and Risk Management Committee and 
a member of our Remuneration and Nomination 
Committees.

Mr Wong obtained his Bachelor of Arts with Second 
Class Honours (First Division), after completing a 
course in accountancy from City of London Polytechnic, 
United Kingdom (now known as London Metropolitan 
University). He is also a graduate of the Wharton Advance 
Management Program from the Wharton Business 
School of the University of Pennsylvania, an Ivy League 
university in the United States. In addition, he holds an 
Advance Diploma in Corporate Finance awarded jointly 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England 
and Wales and the Chartered Institute for Securities 
Investment. Correspondingly, he is also a member of 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and 
Wales (Corporate Finance Faculty).

In 1981, he started his career in Baker Rooke, a firm 
of chartered accountants in London, where he gained 

wide experience and exposure in the areas of auditing, 
accountancy and management consultancy work. In 
1983, he joined Aseambankers Malaysia Berhad (now 
known as Maybank Investment Bank Berhad). He is a 
seasoned investment banker with more than thirty (30) 
years of corporate finance and investment banking 
experience. His last position in investment banking was 
as Executive Vice President cum Head of Corporate 
Finance Division of Aseambankers Malaysia Berhad. He 
has also served as the Honorary Advisor to the Master 
Builders Association Malaysia from July 2008 to June 
2010.

In 2004, he started WYNCORP Advisory Sdn Bhd, a 
licensed corporate finance advisory services provider 
and is currently its Managing Director.

He is also an Independent Non-Executive Director of 
New Hoong Fatt Holdings Berhad,  Benalec Holdings 
Berhad, Focus Lumber Berhad, Export-Import Bank of 
Malaysia Berhad and Hap Seng Consolidated Berhad.

He attended all six (6) Board meetings held during the 
financial year ended 31 March 2021.

MR WONG YOKE NYEN
62 years of age, Malaysian, Male
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS’ PROFILE
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Datin Sri Lim was appointed as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director, a member of the Audit and 
Risk Management, Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee on 16 January 2020 and was re-designated 
as Chairman of Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee on 30 September 2020. 

Datin Sri Lim graduated from the University of Malaya 
with a Bachelor of Accounting in 1993.  She is a member 
of the Malaysian Institute of the Certified Public 
Accountants and also a member of the Malaysian 

Institute of Accountants. Datin Sri Lim joined the Lion 
Group in May 1993, of which she is now a Tax General 
Manager of the Finance Division. 

She also sits on the Board of Greentech Technology 
International Limited, a company listed on the Hong 
Kong Stock Exchange.

She attended all six (6) Board meetings held during the 
financial year ended 31 March 2021.

DATIN SRI LIM MOOI LANG
53 years of age, Malaysian, Female
Independent Non-Executive Director

BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

Notes to Board of Directors’ Profile:
1.	 Family Relationship
	 None of the Directors has any family relationship with any other Director and/or major shareholder of the 

Company.

2.	 Conflict of Interest
	 None of the Directors has any personal interest or conflict of interest in any business arrangement involving 

the Group.

3.	 Conviction of Offences
	 None of the Directors has been convicted of any offences within the past five (5) years, other than traffic 

offences (if any) and no public sanctions or penalties were imposed on them by the relevant regulatory bodies 
during the financial year ended 31 March 2021.
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Ms Yip Lye Ying joined the Group in 2003. She holds 
a certificate in Book-keeping conferred by London 
Chamber of Commerce and Industry Examination 
Board. Ms Yip possessed more than 20 years of 
experience in property development industry and has 
worked her way up to the current position as General 
Manager of Property Development for Kuantan region 
since 2019.  Throughout her tenure with the Group, she 

has been responsible for various management roles 
in property & construction division. In her capacity 
as General Manager, apart from sales & marketing 
and after sales services, she is responsible for credit 
control, project planning, implementation, monitoring 
and coordinating of construction progress by working 
closely with construction team.

MS YIP LYE YING 
56 years of age, Malaysian, Female
General Manager – Property Development

Mr Goh joined the Group as Project Executive in 2004. 
He holds a Diploma in Architectural from Tuanku Abdul 
Rahman College (now known as Tuanku Abdul Rahman 
University College). He has contributed to various 
successful  projects of the Group in Kuantan throughout 
his tenure with the Group, and has climbed to the position 

of Assistant General Manager - Construction in 2019. 
Experience in handling project planning, budget, cost 
control, safety for housing development, construction 
using Industrialized Building System (“IBS”) and system 
formwork method. 

MR GOH CHUN SENG
37 years of age, Malaysian, Male
Assistant General Manager – Construction 

Ms Lim joined the Group in 2005 as Account Executive. 
She holds a certificate in Book-keeping conferred 
by the London Chamber of Commerce and Industry 
Examinations Board. She possessed more than 30 
years of relevant working experience with vast exposure 

in developer and construction accounts. Due to her hard 
work and ability to shoulder more responsibilities, she 
has been promoted to her current position as Assistant 
General Manager - Finance Operation in 2013.

MS LIM SOO YOON
56 years of age, Malaysian, Female
Assistant General Manager – Finance Operation 

KEY SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE 
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KEY SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE 

Mr Khoo joined the Group in 2018 as Senior Account 
Executive.  He holds a Bachelor of Commerce major 
in Accounting & Finance from University of Otago 
New Zealand. Mr. Khoo started his career with an 
international accounting firm where he was exposed to 
various industries and was experience in providing audit 
and advisory services to client to ascertain compliance 
with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (MFRS), 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 

Malaysian Private Entities Reporting Standards 
(MPERS) and Companies Act 2016. Equipped with 
professional knowledge and good attitude, he has been 
promoted to Assistant Finance Manager in 2019 and 
Group Finance Manager in 2020.  He is responsible for 
the management of the financial affairs of the Group 
(such as record keeping, financial planning and financial 
reporting).   

MR. KHOO KAH KEN
32 years of age, Malaysia, Male
Group Finance Manager

None of the above Key Senior Management has any:
•	 directorships in public companies and listed issuers;
•	 family relationship with any Directors and/or major shareholders of the Company;
•	 personal interest or conflict of interest in any business arrangement involving the Group;
•	 conviction for offences within the past five (5) years other than traffic offences (if any); and
•	 public sanctions or penalties imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year ended 31 

March 2021.
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SUSTAINABILITY 
STATEMENT

“Sentoria Group Berhad (hereinafter referred to as “Sentoria Group” or “the Group”) is a Malaysian-based 
investment holding company, which owns a portfolio of subsidiaries involved in property development 
and construction and the leisure and hospitality industry.”

We believe our significant growth from our humble beginnings as a contractor to a full-scale property developer and 
resort operator is attributed to practicing sustainable operations, where we strive to attain financial sustainability 
and customer satisfaction in a safe, caring and sustainable environment.

SCOPE & BOUNDARY

Our Sustainability Statement has been written in accordance with and guided by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad’s 
Main Market Listing Requirements and the Sustainability Reporting Guide and Toolkits. This statement covers the 
sustainability journey of Sentoria Group from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021.

The statement discloses our approach towards addressing a wide range of material Economic, Environmental and 
Social (“EES”) risks and opportunities that impact Sentoria Group’s business operations.

Our statement should be read together with the rest of Sentoria Group’s FY2021 Annual Report for a more 
comprehensive perspective of the Group’s commitment to sustainability and how sustainability continues to be a 
pillar of the Group’s culture in its pursuit of ensuring long-term value creation for stakeholders.

PURPOSE

Our journey of drafting our Sustainability Statement for FY2021 has further reinforced our belief in the importance 
of building a strong foundation of corporate citizenship by striking a balance between financial results and ensuring 
high standards of governance across our business operations to promote responsible business practices, managing 
environmental impacts, and meeting the social needs of the community in which we operate.

Our above purpose and believe is reflected through our Business Vision:-

In pursuit of achieving and materialising sustainability, we still recognise the importance of financial stability and 
appreciate our Shareholders, Investors and Customers who believed in and contributed to our business operations, 
with the following Business Mission:-

Our Group aims to be a dynamic and progressive business organisation, with sustainable operations 
throughout Malaysia.

Business Vision

We strive to attain financial sustainability and a high level of satisfaction among our customers by:

(a)	 being a competitive and premier property developer in our selected market niches, through timely 
delivery of quality, well-designed and reasonably-priced real estate properties; and

(b)	 being an innovative and distinctive leisure and hospitality group offering affordable, conducive, quality 
service and family-oriented leisure attractions.

Business Mission
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SUSTAINABILITY 
STATEMENT

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Sentoria Group’s approach to sustainability is driven by its robust three-tier governance structure, which allows for 
material matters to be monitored, assessed and deliberated across all levels of the organisation.

With the Board of Directors (“Board”) at the apex, sustainability strategies and initiatives of Sentoria Group are 
headed by the Joint Manging Directors (“JMD”). The roles and responsibilities of each tier of the governance 
structure is as follows:-

•	 Aligns corporate and division priorities, and strategies with sustainability vision;
•	 Develops the overarching sustainability strategy;
•	 Reviews, suggests improvements and issues the final approval to the Sustainability Statement 

prepared for the financial year;
•	 Reviews, deliberates and approves sustainability initiatives, and activities; and
•	 Monitors the overall achievement of sustainability strategies adopted by Sentoria Group.

•	 Implements sustainability directives and policies introduced by the Board;
•	 Identifies and recommends any changes in sustainability initiatives, activities and method of 

implementation;
•	 Makes the appropriate recommendation to the Board on sustainability matters;
•	 Endorses material matters;
•	 Identifies and recommends compliance with sustainability guidelines and regulatory requirements 

to ensure the disclosure of the Sustainability Statement in the Annual Report is in accordance with 
Bursa Securities’ Main Market Listing Requirements; and

•	 Reviews and suggests improvements to the Sustainability Statement.

•	 Implements sustainability initiatives and activities to manage EES risks and opportunities;
•	 Implements any change in sustainability initiatives, activities and method of implementation as 

advised by the JMD;
•	 Carries out Materiality Assessment based on the data collected for monitoring and managing of EES 

risks;
•	 Reports the results /status of the action plan to the JMD on a periodical basis;
•	 Assesses the sustainability material matters and efforts to address the materiality issues; and
•	 Prepares Sustainability Statement at the end of the financial year on the basis of the sustainability 

initiatives carried out in the year and Board’s sustainability vision.

Board

JMD

Senior Management
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SUSTAINABILITY 
STATEMENT

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The materiality assessment has been done based on participation and contribution from key personnel of respective 
departments. While the materiality assessment did not involve any external stakeholders, key personnel took into 
consideration internal and external perspectives when identifying and addressing key sustainability matters which 
are material to Sentoria Group.

The materiality assessment process adopts a four-step approach as outlined below:
 

OUR STAKEHOLDERS

In view of our Business Mission and Vision, we look at our stakeholders as valuable assets which empower our 
organisation. Stakeholders’ perspectives are imperative to us and regular engagement helps us build trust and gain 
insights into emerging issues that are significant to both stakeholders and the business.

Stakeholder Group Area of Interest and Material Topics Method of Engagement

Customers •	 Quality
•	 Competitive price
•	 Business continuity
•	 Timely project completion

•	 Corporate website
•	 Brochures
•	 Email and phone calls

Employees •	 Work-life balance 
•	 Competitive salary and benefits
•	 Career development and trainings
•	 Health and safety

•	 Formal and informal meetings
•	 Performance appraisals
•	 Community projects
•	 Email and mobile
•	 Trainings

Shareholders and Investors •	 Sustainable profitability and 
matters

•	 Company’s performance against 
industry 

•	 Compliance with regulatory 
requirements

•	 Annual general meetings
•	 Regular updates and 

communication
•	 Investor relation initiatives
•	 Annual reports
•	 Quarterly announcements

Identify  
Stakeholders 

Determine 
Sustainability
Matters

Categorise and 
Prioritise

Review  
Process

	 Identify Sentoria 
Group’s key 
stakeholders

	 Engage 
Stakeholders

	 Determine 
material 
sustainability 
matters  for each 
stakeholder

	 Categorise and 
prioritise key 
sustainability 
matters

	 Address key 
sustainability 
matters

	 Review 
materiality 
assessment 
process
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OUR STAKEHOLDERS (cont’d)

Stakeholder Group Area of Interest and Material Topics Method of Engagement

Suppliers and Subcontractors •	 Fair procurement
•	 Timely payments
•	 Business continuity

•	 Email and phone calls
•	 Meetings
•	 Performance feedback/review

Regulatory Authorities
•	 Bursa Malaysia
•	 Construction Industry 

Development Board (“CIDB”)
•	 Department of Occupational 

Safety and Health Malaysia 
(“DOSH”)

•	 Immigration Department of 
Malaysia

•	 State and local authorities

•	 Compliance
•	 Local and government agenda

•	 Reports and compliance

Surrounding Communities •	 Health and safety
•	 Quality of life

•	 Community projects
•	 Social media

MATERIAL SUSTAINABILITY MATTERS

ECONOMIC

Commitment to Quality

We believe in delivering superior quality products to our clients at all times. We are committed to see that not only 
our shareholders’ interests are taken care of but also those of our customers and suppliers. In this regard, we value 
our customers as they are a major factor for the Group’s profitability and sustainability. To our property buyers, we 
will continue to supply quality homes and services at affordable prices. To our visitors of our theme parks, we will 
continue to ensure an amazing and wholesome experience for everyone.

Sustainable Procurement

We practise a transparent procurement process that is fair for all parties. Our supplier relationships are guided by 
our Procurement Standard Operation Procedure (“SOP”) and the local laws and regulations. To date, we have been 
supporting local suppliers which enables us to do our part in regards to contributing to the Malaysian economy. 
Local sourcing also helps us to build and maintain community relations, increasing our network and presence in the 
market. We also have a system in place to ensure that fair evaluation and selection of our vendors are upheld at all 
times. We will continue to practice transparent and fair policies so that our business partners know that they can 
grow with us and consider us to be their business partner of choice.

SUSTAINABILITY 
STATEMENT
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SUSTAINABILITY 
STATEMENT

MATERIAL SUSTAINABILITY MATTERS (cont’d)

ENVIRONMENT

We acknowledge that as we develop our business, we demand more natural resources, undoubtedly leaving an 
environmental footprint. We strive to adopt best practices in our daily operations through accounted processes, 
continuous monitoring and implementing effective initiatives.

Our standard operating procedures for environmental management include:

•	 Preserving, conserving, minimising wastage of resources and ensuring that the work environment is free from 
pollution hazards.

•	 Complying with all relevant environmental, health and safety laws and regulations such as Occupational 
Safety and Health Act, 1994 (“OSHA”).

•	 Communicating clearly to all employees, customers and suppliers to instil in them the environmental 
awareness, culture and values of our Group.

As a means to increase the efficiency of our construction processes and reduce energy emissions, SGB Group 
has been employing the use of Industrialised Building Systems (“IBS”) for our projects. This system provides 
operational advantages and efficiencies but also reduces wastage of building materials and promotes better work 
place cleanliness and a safer and organised constructions site.

In our workplace, we practice environmental awareness. A major initiative to save the trees has been ongoing 
where we minimise printing and instead view documents electronically. Where printing is necessary, employees are 
encouraged to practice double sided printing which effectively halves paper consumption. During lunchtime and 
after working hours or when the meeting rooms are not used, lights and air-conditioning are promptly switched off 
in order to conserve electricity. We also practice daily monitoring of air-conditioning and lighting usage and ensure 
that energy efficient equipment be used where possible.

SOCIAL

Promoting a Safe and Healthy Workplace

We aim to do more than just preventing accidents; we want to ensure that our stakeholders’ health and safety is 
prioritised and safeguarded. This starts with educating our employees first. We believe that we can instil a sense 
of urgency towards health and safety aspects by taking the heart of the matter into our own hands by educating 
and changing the mind-sets of the management and our labourers to advocate on matters relevant to this subject. 
In this respect, the Group places the utmost importance on the continuous compliance with all relevant health and 
safety laws and regulations, such as OSHA.

Furthermore, to ensure a safe working environment, as precautionary measures, the Company had also set up 
a Standard Operating Procedures (“SOP”) in relation to the Covid-19 pandemic on top of adherence the SOP in 
accordance with the rules and regulations as well as the guidelines issued by the Authorities. We have implemented 
the requirements of social distancing and wearing of face mask at all times. Other precautionary measures such as 
daily check-in via the MySejahtera application, temperature taking before entering the office/site premises, placing 
of hand sanitisers at common areas as well as regular sanitisation, have been widely practiced. 

To reduce the chances of virus contamination, the management has encouraged virtual meetings with stakeholders, 
customers, suppliers and/or vendors. 
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MATERIAL SUSTAINABILITY MATTERS (cont’d)

SOCIAL (cont’d)

Prioritising Our People

Without our employees, Sentoria Group would not be where it is today. We see our employees as one of our 
major stakeholders and we understand the value of investing in them as an important step to ensure continuous 
growth for the Group. Our support to our employees is extended not only to their careers, but also to their personal 
development through trainings, workshops and non-work related activities organized by management.

Empowering Our Employees

Building a strong team is one of our highest priorities as we realise that the success and the continuous growth of 
the Group also depends on our employees. We are committed to ensuring that our employees are equipped with 
technical and practical knowledge to enhance their personal skills and contribution to the organisation. 

Training is an important part of improving our employee’s skill sets and knowledge and we encourage employees to 
attend array of training in all areas which provide opportunities to personal and career enhancement of the Group.

In FY2021, given the outbreak of Covid-19 and imposition of the various MCO in our country, our employees faced 
restrictions to participate in physical training. Nevertheless, the Company has encouraged the employees to 
participate in virtual seminar/workshop/training of which some employees have endeavoured to take part in such 
training where available.

OUR COMMITMENT

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group shall endeavour to undertake sustainable and responsible practices to 
add value to sustainable business growth, environmental stewardship and social responsibility.

SUSTAINABILITY 
STATEMENT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
OVERVIEW STATEMENT

The Board of Directors (“Board”) presents this Statement to provide shareholders and investors with an overview of 
the corporate governance (“CG”) practices of the Group during the financial year ended 31 March 2021 (“FY2021”). 
This overview takes guidance from the key CG principles set out in the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 
2017 (“Code”).

This Statement is prepared in compliance with the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad (“MMLR”) and is to be read in conjunction with the CG Report 2021 (“CG Report”) which is available on the 
Group’s website at www.sentoria.com.my.

The CG Report provides the explanations on how the Group applied each Practice set out in the Code during FY2021.

PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS

(a)	 Board Responsibilities

	 The Board acknowledges and fully supports the importance of corporate governance in directing and 
managing the businesses and affairs of the Group, and to safeguard and enhance shareholders’ value and 
performance of the Group on a sustainable and long term basis.

	 The Board determines the Group’s strategic objectives and ensures that required resources are in place for 
the Group to meet its objectives and to guide the Group on its short and long term goals, providing advice, 
stewardship and directions on the management and business development of the Group. The Board also set 
the Group’s values and standards and ensure that its obligations to the shareholders and other stakeholders 
are understood and fulfilled.

	 The above roles and responsibilities of the Board is formalised in the Board Charter. The Board Charter clearly 
sets out the matters reserved for the Board, except where they are expressly delegated to a Board committee, 
the Chairman of the Board (“Chairman”), the Joint Managing Directors (“JMDs”), or a nominated member of 
Executive Management. The Board Charter is reviewed periodically or as and when changes occur to ensure 
that it reflects the current needs of the Group. More information on the Board Charter can be found on the 
Group’s website.

	 In furtherance of the above and to ensure orderly and effective discharge of its functions and responsibilities, 
the Board has established the following Board committees:

•	 Audit & Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”)
•	 Nominating Committee (“NC”)
•	 Remuneration Committee (“RC”)

	 In order to foster a strong governance culture in the Group and to ensure a balance of power and authority, 
the roles of the Chairman and JMDs are strictly separated. This is also to maintain effective supervision and 
accountability of the Board and Executive Management. The Chairman is responsible for Board effectiveness 
and to ensure that the conduct and working of the Board is in an orderly and effective manner while the JMDs 
takes on the primary responsibility of managing the Group’s businesses and resources as well as overseeing 
and managing the day-to-day operations of the Group.

 
	 The Board has formalised a Code of Conduct and Ethics which reflects the Group’s vision and core values of 

integrity, respect and trust. The core areas concerned include the following:

•	 Conflict of interest
•	 Confidential information
•	 Insider information and securities trading
•	 Fair dealings
•	 Protection and proper use of Group’s assets
•	 Other legal and ethical standards
•	 Compliance with laws, rules and regulations
•	 Reporting of any illegal or unethical behaviour
•	 Compliance procedures
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
OVERVIEW STATEMENT

PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (Cont’d)

(a)	 Board Responsibilities (Cont’d)

	 The Code of Conduct and Ethics governs the conduct of the Directors and all employees of the Group and 
provides guidance on the communication process and the duty to report whenever there are breaches of the 
same. This code is reviewed and updated from time to time by the Board to ensure that it continues to remain 
relevant and appropriate.

	 To maintain the highest standards of ethical conduct, the Group has a formal Whistle-blowing Policy. As 
prescribed in this policy, the Board gave their assurance that employees’ and third parties’ identities will be 
kept confidential and whistle-blowers will not be at risk to any form of victimisation or retaliation from their 
superiors or any member of Executive Management provided that the reporting is in good faith.

	 All matters raised will be investigated and whistle-blowers (who are employees of the Group) can report 
through telephone or via e-mail to their immediate superior who shall then escalate the matters concerned 
to respective Heads of Department or Head of Human Resources or JMDs or the Chairman of the ARMC. For 
whistle-blowers who are non-employees of the Group, they can address their concerns to the Chairman of the 
ARMC.

	 The Board is mindful of the provisions of Section 17A of the MACC Act and had established the Anti-Bribery 
and Anti-Corruption Policy on 29 June 2020. The Whistle Blowing Policy and Procedure mentioned above is 
also expected to encourage reporting of any unlawful or unethical behaviour in relation to the Anti-Bribery and 
Anti-Corruption matters.

	 The Group recognises that effective succession planning is integral to the delivery of its strategic plans. It is 
essential to ensure a continuous level of quality in key management, in avoiding instability by helping mitigate 
the risks which may be associated with any unforeseen events, such as the departure of a key individual, and 
in promoting diversity.

	 Currently, there is an informal succession plan for key management put in place by the JMDs. Going 
forward, the Board will, with the JMDs, develop a formal and definitive succession plan. Notwithstanding 
the informality of the existing succession plan, the Board is conscious that the Group must secure a pipeline 
of talented and capable individuals from within the Group who will ultimately progress to key management 
and/or Board positions. The Group’s approach to succession planning encompasses potential succession to 
all senior positions including that of the JMDs; and considers the identification, development and readiness 
of potential successors to be of paramount importance. The Board is aware that the Group cannot, at this 
moment, afford to have candidates who are Up-Next: Ready Now for all key positions in the Group. To address 
this shortcoming, the Group intends to use executive search consultants as and when the need arises.

	 The Board members have full and unrestricted access to the Joint Company Secretaries who are members of 
the Malaysian Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. In addition to their corporate secretarial 
administrative responsibilities, they also advise the Board on its roles and responsibilities, corporate 
disclosures and regulatory compliance, corporate governance developments and practices.

	 The Directors also received updates from time to time on relevant new laws and regulations. Visits by the 
Independent Directors to the Group’s businesses were also arranged for enhancement of their knowledge 
in respect of the Group’s businesses as well as better awareness of the risks associated with the Group’s 
operations.

	 The Board is aware that continuous training for the Directors is vital for them in discharging their duties 
effectively. All Directors are encouraged to attend appropriate external training programmes to supplement 
their knowledge in the latest developments and issues relevant to the Group, especially in the areas of 
corporate governance and regulatory requirements.
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (Cont’d)

(a)	 Board Responsibilities (Cont’d)

	 The external training programmes, seminars and/or conferences attended by the Directors in office at the end 
of FY2021 were as follows:

Directors Training Programmes
Dato’ Hj. Abdul Rahman Bin
Hj. Imam Arshad

•	 Restructuring Options and Legal Updates

Dato’ Chan Kong San •	 Restructuring Options and Legal Updates

Dato’ Gan Kim Leong •	 Restructuring Options and Legal Updates

Mr. Wong Yoke Nyen •	 Digital Leadership for Sustainable Business in Industry 4.0  
•	 Financial Institutions Directors’ Education (“FIDE”) Core 

Programme Module A – Banks
•	 FIDE Core Programme Module B – Banks

Datin Sri Lim Mooi Lang •	 Mandatory Accreditation Programme for Directors of Public Listed 
Companies

•	 A Guide for Effective Audit Committees
•	 2021 Malaysia Budget Webinar by Tricorglobal
•	 A Legal Analysis of Selected Provisions of The Finance Bill 2020 

by Rosli Dahlan Saravana Pertnership
•	 Transfer Pricing by BDO Regional Tax
•	 Can you Survive a review by Inland Revenue Board/ Royal 

Malaysian Customs Department by BDO

Datuk Aznam Bin Mansor
(Retired on 30.9.2020)

•	   Tricor General Understanding of Sec 17A MACC Act 2009

Mr. Lee Chaing Huat
(Retired on 30.9.2020)

•	 Restructuring and Corporate Rescue
•	 Integrated Reporting

	 The Board (via the NC and with assistance of the Joint Company Secretaries) shall continue to evaluate and 
determine the training needs of the Directors to build their knowledge so that they can be up-to-date with the 
development of the Group’s business and industry that may affect their roles and responsibilities.

(b)	 Board Composition

	 The Group is led by an experienced and diversified Board which comprises professionals from various fields 
to bring together a balance of skills, mix of experience and expertise in area relevant to enhance the growth 
of Group’s business. The Directors collectively bring with them wide and varied technical, financial, legal and 
corporate experience to enable the Board to lead and control the Group effectively.

	 The Board (via the NC) evaluates the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, all committees of the Board and 
the contribution of each individual Director. This evaluation which is done annually is facilitated by the Joint 
Company Secretaries and conducted using evaluation forms set out in Bursa Malaysia Berhad’s Corporate 
Governance Guide (3rd Edition) covering the following aspects:

Board and Board committees 
•	 Board mix and composition
•	 Quality of information and decision making
•	 Boardroom activities
•	 Board’s relationship with the management

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
OVERVIEW STATEMENT
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (Cont’d)

(b)	 Board Composition (Cont’d)

Directors
•	 Fit and proper
•	 Contribution and performance
•	 Calibre and personality

	 As for the ARMC, the annual evaluation is done in 2 components:

(i)	 ARMC evaluation questionnaire – This evaluation which covers the below aspects is done by ARMC 
members and assess by the Board thereafter.

•	 Quality and composition
•	 Skills and competencies
•	 Meeting administration and conduct

(ii)	 Self and peer evaluation by the ARMC members

	 Completed evaluation forms and the results of the evaluations are collated into a report and deliberated on 
by the NC and subsequently by the Board and key issues arising thereon are identified for further action by 
Executive Management.

	 Based on the evaluation carried out for FY2021, the NC has informed the Board that it was satisfied with the 
effectiveness of the Board and Board committees and the contribution and performance of each individual 
Director.

	 In addition, the NC having reviewed the self and peer evaluations of the ARMC members, has informed the 
Board that the ARMC is performing effectively.

	 The Board opined that given the current state of the Group’s development, it is more important to have the 
right mix of skills on the Board rather than to attaining the 30% threshold for women Directors. Nevertheless, 
the Board is consistently looking  for potential women Directors and shall appoint women to the Board as 
and when suitable candidates are identified. The Board is mindful of the gender diversification issue, and will 
response accordingly at the appropriate junction. 

	 The Board is committed to provide fair and equal opportunities and nurturing diversity in the Group. In this 
respect, all persons, regardless of age, gender, ethnicity, cultural background or other personal factors, with 
appropriate experience and qualifications will be considered equally during recruitment and promotion. The 
Board is also committed to workplace diversity ensuring that we value and respect our differences and that 
our workplace is fair, accessible, flexible and inclusive and free from discrimination.

(c)	 Remuneration

	 The Board (via the RC) will ensure that the Group’s levels of remuneration commensurate with the skills and 
responsibilities expected of Executive Management as well as the Directors and that it must be sufficient 
to attract and retain talent needed to run the Group successfully. The Board, as a whole, determines the 
remuneration of the Directors and each individual Director is required to abstain from discussing his/her own 
remuneration. The RC is guided by market norms and industry practices when making recommendations for 
the compensation and benefits of Directors and Executive Management.

	 The RC’s recommended remuneration for Directors and Executive Management is subject to Board’s approval 
as it is the ultimate responsibility of the Board to approve the remuneration of the Directors and Executive 
Management.

	 In relation to the fees and allowances for Directors, it will be presented at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) 
for shareholders’ approval.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
OVERVIEW STATEMENT
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (Cont’d)

(c)	 Remuneration (Cont’d)

	 The details of the Director’s remuneration policies and practices are included in the Board Charter which is 
available on the Group’s website.

	 The detailed disclosure on a named basis for the remuneration of individual Directors is set below:

Directors
Fee Payable

RM’000

Salaries 
and Other 

Benefits 
Payable*

RM’000

Attendance
Allowances

RM’000

Estimated 
value of 

Benefits in 
Kind

RM’000
Total

RM’000

Dato Chan Kong San – 2,856 – 10 2,866

Dato Gan Kim Leong – 2,856 – 10 2,866

Dato’ Hj Abdul Rahman bin 
Hj. Imam Arshad

84 – 22 – 106

Wong Yoke Nyen 84 – 22 – 106

Datin Sri Lim Mooi Lang 84 – 16 – 100

Former Non-Executive 
Directors

Datuk Aznam bin Mansor 48 – 15 – 63

Lee Chaing Huat 48 – 15 – 63

*	 Salaries and other benefits payable included salaries and employees provident fund

PRINCIPLE B: EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(a)	 ARMC

	 The ARMC currently comprises three members, all of whom are Independent Directors. The ARMC Chairman 
is Mr Wong Yoke Nyen.

	 The ARMC’s policies and procedures to review, assess and monitor the performances, suitability and 
independence of the external auditors are stipulated in its Terms of Reference.

	 Prior to the commencement of the annual audit, the ARMC shall seek confirmation from the external auditors 
as to their independence. This independence confirmation would be re-affirmed by the external auditors to the 
AC upon their completion of the annual audit. These confirmations were made pursuant to the independence 
guidelines of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

	 Further details on the work performed by ARMC in furtherance of its oversight role are set out in the ARMC 
Report on pages 33 to 35 of this Annual Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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PRINCIPLE B: EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(b)	 Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

	 The Board fulfils its responsibilities in the risk governance and oversight functions via a risk management 
framework which adopts a structured and integrated approach in managing key business risks. This 
framework together with the system of internal control are designed to manage the Group’s risks within its 
risk appetite to ensure the Group achieves its business and corporate objectives.

	 As for the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal control, it is reviewed by the ARMC with 
assistance from the internal auditors. The internal audit function is outsourced to an independent professional 
consulting firm to provide an independent and objective assurance on the effectiveness of governance, risk 
management processes and internal control system of the Group. The internal auditors’ independence is 
maintained by reporting functionally to the Board through the ARMC and administratively to Executive 
Management. Internal audit reports which are issued have to be tabled to the ARMC for review and Executive 
Management is required to be present at ARMC meetings to respond and provide feedback on the audit 
findings and recommended improvements. In addition, Executive Management is also required to present in 
ARMC meetings, status updates on significant matters and changes in key processes that could impact the 
Group’s operations.

	 Based on the above, the Board is of the view that the risk management process and system of internal control 
were in place during FY2021 for identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks faced or potentially to 
be encountered by the Group.

	 Further details of the risk management and internal control framework are set out in the Statement on Risk 
Management and Internal Control on pages 30 to 32 of this Annual Report.

PRINCIPLE C: INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP WITH 
STAKEHOLDERS

(a)	 Communication with Stakeholders

	 The Board is committed to ensuring that communications to stakeholders and the investing public in general, 
regarding the businesses, operations and financial performance of the Group is timely and factual and are 
available on an equal basis.

	 The release of announcements and information by the Group to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa 
Securities”), is handled by the JMDs, Finance Managers and/or the Company Secretaries within the 
prescribed requirements of the MMLR and the Group Corporate Disclosure Policy (“CDP”). The CDP outlined 
the procedures and processes to be followed in ensuring compliance by all Directors, officers and employees 
of the Group. The full text of the CDP is available on the Group’s website.

	 Information is disseminated via annual reports, circulars/statements to shareholders, quarterly and annual 
financial statements, and announcements from time to time. As these announcements and information can 
be price sensitive, they are only released after having reviewed by the JMDs and/or the Board where necessary.

	 The Group’s website also provides all relevant information to stakeholders and the investing community. 
Quarterly and annual financial statements, announcements, financial information, annual reports, and circular/
statements to shareholders are uploaded onto the website for investors and the public.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
OVERVIEW STATEMENT
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PRINCIPLE C: INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP WITH 
STAKEHOLDERS (Cont’d)

(a)	 Communication with Stakeholders (Cont’d)

	 Any shareholders’ queries or concerns relating to the Group may be conveyed to our Head of Public and 
Investor Relations at our Registered Office as detailed below:

	 No. 56 & 58 Jalan Dagang SB 4/2
	 Taman Sg. Besi Indah
	 43300 Seri Kembangan, Selangor
	 Telephone no.: +603-8943 8388
	 Facsimile no.: +603-8943 5388
	 Email: investor@sentoria.com.my

	 Our Senior Independent Director, Mr Wong Yoke Nyen is designated by the Board to be the contact for 
consultation and direct communication with shareholders on areas that cannot be resolved through the above 
normal channels of contact. He too can be contacted at the above addresses.

(b)	 Conduct of General Meetings

	 The AGM serves as a principal forum for the Group’s dialogue with shareholders. All shareholders are 
encouraged to attend the AGM, during which they can participate and given the opportunity to ask questions 
and vote on important matters affecting the Group, including the election/re-election of Directors, business 
operations, and the financial performance and position of the Group.

	 Barring unforeseen circumstances, all Directors (which include the Chairs of all mandated Board committees) 
shall be attending the forthcoming 22nd AGM to address shareholders’ queries at the meeting. The external 
auditors will also be present at the meeting to answer shareholders’ queries on their audit process and report, 
the accounting policies adopted by the Group, and their independence.

	 In line with Practice 12.1 of the Code, the Company’s Notice of the forthcoming 22nd AGM shall be given to 
shareholders at least 28 days prior to the meeting.

	 This Corporate Governance Overview Statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board on 
21 July 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Utilisation of Proceeds Raised from Corporate Proposals

The Group did not carry out any fund raising corporate proposal during the financial year 31 March 2021 (“FY2021”).

Material Contracts

Save for the related party transactions as disclosed in Note 34 to the financial statements, neither the Company 
nor any of its subsidiary companies have entered into any material contracts which involved the Directors’ and/or 
major shareholders’ interests, which were still subsisting at the end of FY2021 or which were entered into since the 
end of the previous financial period.

Audit and Non-Audit Fees

The audit fees paid or payable by the Company and the Group to the External Auditors for FY2021 amounted to 
RM35,000 and RM202,000 respectively. As for non-audit fees incurred for services rendered to the Company and 
the Group by the External Auditors or a firm or corporation affiliated to the External Auditors during FY2021, the 
amount concerned was RM3,000 for the Company and the Group.

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE
REQUIREMENTS

PURSUANT TO THE MAIN MARKET LISTING REQUIREMENTS OF BURSA MALAYSIA SECURITIES BERHAD
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This Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control which has been prepared in accordance with the 
Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control (Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers) (“Guidelines”) 
is made pursuant to Paragraph 15.26(b) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities Malaysia 
Berhad (“Listing Requirements”).

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY

The Board of Directors (“Board”) acknowledges that risk management and internal control are integral to corporate 
governance and that it is responsible for establishing a sound risk management framework and internal control 
system as well as to ensure their adequacy and effectiveness. The Board recognises that the Group’s risk management 
framework and internal control system are designed to manage the Group’s risks within its acceptable risk appetite 
to ensure the Group achieves its business and corporate objectives. As risks are inherent in all business activities, 
the said framework and system provide reasonable, rather than absolute assurance against the risks of material 
misstatements of financial information or against financial losses and fraud or breaches of laws or regulations.

The Board confirms that there is an ongoing risk management process established to identify, evaluate and manage 
significant risks to mitigate the risks that may impede the achievement of the Group’s business and corporate 
objectives.

The review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management framework and the system of internal control 
is delegated by the Board to the Audit and Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”).

RISK MANAGEMENT

As guided by enterprise risk management framework of Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (“COSO”), the Board has formalised the risk management framework and it is outlined in the Group’s 
Risk Management Policy. The framework adopts a structured and integrated approach in managing key business 
risks with the aim of safeguarding the Group’s assets and the shareholders’ interests.

The ARMC reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management process and  it is assisted by the Risk 
Management Committee (“RMC”) comprising the Joint Managing Directors (“JMDs”), the Group Finance Manager 
(“FM”), operations managers and key personnel to identify and assess risks as well as to ensure that the risk 
management processes are adequate and effective. All policies and procedures formulated to identify, measure 
and monitor various risk components are reviewed and recommended by the RMC to the ARMC. Additionally, 
the ARMC reviews and assesses the adequacy of risk management policies and ensures that the infrastructure, 
resources and systems are in-place for implementing the risk management processes.

The risk management processes involve the key management staff in each functional/operating unit of the Group 
and are managed by the RMC. The risks identified by risk owners in risk registers remain the foundation in developing 
a risk profile and the action plans to assist key management to manage and respond to these risks. 

For FY2021, the Group’s key business risks identified and the measures taken to manage these risks were as 
follows:

1.	 Risk - Competition from other property developers and other leisure and hospitality operators

Measure -	 Carried out segmented promotional and marketing activities and regular review of business 
performance

2.	 Risk - Investment risk for new projects

Measure -	 Established procedures for the review of new projects implemented and on-going monitoring 
during the implementation stage

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL CONTROL
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RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

For FY2021, the Group’s key business risks identified and the measures taken to manage these risks were as 
follows (cont’d):

3.	 Risk - Cash flow and liquidity

Measure -	 Strengthened cash flow management with enhanced policies and procedures and continuous 
monitoring via financial ratio analysis, cash flow planning and matching for capital, operation and 
project needs, and loan restructuring

4.	 Risk - Seasonal cycle (Leisure & Hospitality Division)

Measure -	 Differentiation strategy for mass and corporate customers to minimise the seasonal impact

5.	 Risk - Attractiveness of activities (Leisure & Hospitality Division)

Measure -	 Regular monitoring and updates on product offerings to the market

The Group’s risk management practices are business driven and the processes in identifying, evaluating and 
managing significant risks facing the Group are embedded into its culture and operations. These processes are 
driven by the JMDs and are responsive to changes in the business environment and are clearly communicated to all 
levels, via management meetings (formal and informal) and discussions.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

The Board acknowledges the importance of the internal audit function and is committed to articulating, 
implementing and reviewing the Group’s system of internal control. The internal audit function has been outsourced 
to an independent professional service provider to assist the ARMC in discharging their responsibilities and duties. 
To ensure independence, the Internal Auditors report directly to the ARMC.

During FY2021, the internal audit of the Group was carried out in accordance with a risk-based audit plan approved 
by ARMC. The internal audit provides an assessment of the adequacy, efficiency and effectiveness of the Group’s 
system of internal control to ensure that the internal controls are viable and robust. The audit findings and 
recommended improvements, are presented to the ARMC. In addition, the Internal Auditors also carried out follow-
up reviews to ensure their recommendations for improvements to internal controls are implemented.

 
The key elements of the Group’s system of internal control include:

1.	 A well-defined organisation structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility, authority and accountability;
2.	 Approval and authority limits are imposed on key management in respect of day-to-day operations and major 

non-operating transactions;
3.	 The Board and the ARMC meet every quarter to discuss financial performances, business operations and 

strategies, corporate updates and internal audits findings;
4.	 Regular training and development programs are attended by employees to enhance their knowledge and 

competency;
5.	 Management financial statements and reports are prepared regularly for monitoring of actual performance by 

the JMDs and senior management;
6.	 Key functions such as finance, taxation, treasury, corporate secretarial and compliance and legal matters are 

controlled centrally from Head Office;
7.	 A fully independent ARMC comprising exclusively Independent Directors with full and unrestricted access to 

both Internal and External Auditors; and
8.	 The quarterly financial results and yearly audited financial statements are reviewed by the ARMC prior to their 

approval by the Board.

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT
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ASSURANCE

The Board has reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management framework and system of 
internal control for FY2021 and up to the date of this Statement and is of the view that the risk management process 
and system of internal control which are in place for the period covered by this Statement is adequate and effective.

Executive Management is accountable to the Board for the identification of material risks relevant to the business 
of the Group, implementation and maintenance of sound risk management practices and internal controls and the 
monitoring thereof. Any significant control deficiencies and changes in risks that could affect the Group’s objectives 
and performance are reported to the Board half-yearly or as and when required.

The JMDs and the FM have provided assurance to the Board that the Group’s risk management processes and 
internal control were operating adequately and effectively in all material aspects, and that there were no material 
losses incurred as a result of any weaknesses in internal controls that would require disclosure in this Annual 
Report.

The Board and Executive Management will continuously improve and enhance the system of internal control to 
ensure its adequacy and relevance in safeguarding the shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets.

Review of this Statement by the External Auditors

As required by Paragraph 15.23 of the Listing Requirements, the External Auditors, Grant Thornton Malaysia 
(“GTM”), has reviewed this Statement. Their review procedures were performed in accordance with Audit and 
Assurance Practice Guide 3 (“AAPG 3”): Guidance for Auditors on Engagements to Report on the Statement on Risk 
Management and Internal Control in the Annual Report issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

AAPG 3 does not require GTM to consider whether this Statement covers all risks and controls, or to form an 
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk and control procedures.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained, GTM have reported to the Board that nothing has come 
to their attention that causes them to believe that this Statement included in this Annual Report, is not prepared in 
all material aspects, in accordance with the disclosures required by Paragraphs 41 and 42 of the Guidelines, nor is 
it factually inaccurate.

This Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board 
dated 21 July 2021.
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The Audit and Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”) was established to act as a committee of the Board of 
Directors (“Board”) with the primary objective of assisting the Board in fulfilling its fiduciary duties in relation to:

•	 Assessing the internal control and risk management processes in relation to the risk and control environment
•	 Overseeing the financial reporting function
•	 Evaluating the internal and external audit processes

The ARMC was also empowered by the Board to directly oversee the Group’s risk management framework and 
policies and its implementation.

The ARMC is guided by its terms of reference which can be viewed on the Company’s website at www.sentoria.
com.my.

MEMBERSHIP AND MEETINGS

The members of the ARMC during the financial year ended 31 March 2021 (“FY2021”) and as of the date of this 
Report together with their attendance record at meetings held during FY2021 are as follows:

Name Designation Status of Directorship

No. of meetings 
attended/No. of 
meetings held

Wong Yoke Nyen Chairman Senior Independent
Non-Executive Director

6/6

Dato’ Hj. Abdul Rahman bin
Hj. Imam Arshad

Member Independent Non-Executive 
Director

6/6

Datin’ Sri Lim Mooi Lang Member Independent Non-Executive 
Director

6/6

Datuk Aznam bin Mansor
(Retired on 30.9.2020)

Member Independent Non-Executive 
Director

3/3

Lee Chaing Huat
(Retired on 30.9.2020)

Member Senior Independent Non-
Executive Director

3/3

Whilst the ARMC’s terms of reference requires the ARMC to meet at least 4 times in a financial year, it met six times 
during FY2021. The Company Secretaries who are also the Secretaries to the ARMC were in attendance during the 
meetings. The Group Finance Manager and other officers, if necessary, were invited to the meetings to deliberate 
on matters within their purview.

After each meeting, the ARMC Chairman submits a report on matters deliberated to the Board for their reference 
and notation. Matters reserved for the Board’s approval are tabled at Board meetings. The Company Secretaries 
document the decisions made and actions required and forward them to Executive Management for their action.

SUMMARY OF ARMC’S ACTIVITIES

The following were activities carried out by the ARMC for FY2021:

(a)	 Financial Results

•	 Reviewed and recommended the quarterly financial results of the Group (including announcements) 
and the annual financial statements of the Group and Company for the Board’s approval.

•	 Deliberated on significant matters raised by the External Auditors which includes, inter-alia, financial 
reporting issues, significant decisions made by Executive Management, significant transactions and 
management reports and updates on actions recommended by the External Auditors.

•	 Deliberated on changes in or  implications of major accounting changes to facilitate the implementation 
of and compliance with these accounting standards and other legal requirements.

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE REPORT
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SUMMARY OF ARMC’S ACTIVITIES (cont’d)

(b)	 External Audit

•	 Reviewed and approved the External Auditors’ scope of work and audit plan prior to the commencement 
of the annual audit.

•	 Analysed and reviewed the proposed external audit fees for approval of the Board.
•	 Analysed and reviewed the non-audit fees and related costs in respect of non-audit services rendered by 

the External Auditors, if any, to ensure that their independence is not impaired.
•	 Reviewed and discussed with the External Auditors, the changes in or implications of major accounting 

policies and standards, significant matters arising from the audit, significant decisions made by 
Executive Management, significant transactions, compliance with accounting standards and other legal 
and regulatory requirements  and the Audit Report; and reported same to the Board.

•	 Evaluated the performance, suitability and independence of the External Auditors and recommended 
their re-appointment to the Board for approval.

•	 Had on two occasion in FY2021, engaged the External Auditors in private meetings without the presence 
of Executive Management.

(c)	 Internal Audit

•	 Reviewed and assessed the adequacy of the scope, resources and functions of the internal audit.
•	 Reviewed and discussed with the Internal Auditors, their audit findings and issues arising during the 

course of audit and reported the same to the Board.
•	 Reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of corrective actions taken by Executive Management on all 

significant matters raised by the Internal Auditors.
•	 Evaluated the competency and independence of the Internal Auditors and their resources to address the 

risk areas set out in their audit plan.

(d)	 Related Party Transactions

•	 Reviewed significant related party transactions to ensure that they are fair, reasonable, on normal 
commercial terms to ensure that they not detrimental to the minority shareholders and is in the best 
interests of the Group.

•	 Reviewed the procedures and processes to monitor, track and identify recurrent related part transactions 
of a revenue and trading nature (“RRPT”).

•	 Reviewed the Circular to Shareholders in relation to the proposed renewal of shareholders’ mandate for 
RRPT on behalf of the Board for issuance to the shareholders for the forthcoming 22nd Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.

 
(e)	 Annual Report

•	 Reviewed and issued this Report for inclusion in the FY2021 Annual Report.
•	 Reviewed the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control, Corporate Governance Overview 

Statement, Corporate Governance Report, Additional Disclosure Requirements and Management 
Discussion and Analysis of Business Operations and Financial Performance on behalf of the Board for 
inclusion in the FY2021 Annual Report.

(f)	 Risk Management

•	 Reviewed (i) the risk profile update report compiled by Executive Management to identify new key 
business risks as well as to re-affirm existing risks; and (ii) the resultant risk registers setting out the 
measures to address the new risks.

•	 Reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management process in identifying and assessing 
risks with as disclosed in the reports submitted by the Group’s Risk Management Committee (“RMC”) 
thrice during FY2021.

•	 Reviewed and assessed the adequacy of the risk management policies in place and ensured that the 
necessary infrastructure, resources and systems are in-place for implementing the risk management 
process.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Group has outsourced its internal audit function to an independent professional consulting firm to assist 
the ARMC in discharging their responsibilities and duties. The role of the internal audit function is to undertake 
independent regular and systematic reviews of the system of internal controls so as to provide reasonable 
assurance to the ARMC that such systems continue to operate satisfactorily and effectively in the Group.

The internal control review procedures performed by the outsourced internal audit team are guided by International 
Professional Practices Framework issued by The Institute of Internal Auditors Inc. and designed to understand and 
evaluate risks, and related controls to determine the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk and control structures 
and processes and also to provide recommendations for further improvement.

The outsourced Internal Auditor is led by a management team, who are registered with professional bodies, which 
comprised:

(a)	 Director : Mr Ryan Chong Chee Seng

	 Qualification:  Certified Internal Auditor (“CIA”), Certified Practising Accountant with CPA Australia (“CPA”), a 
Chartered Member of Institute of Internal Auditors Malaysia (“CMIIA”), Accountants registered with Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants (“MIA”) and ASEAN Chartered Professional Accountant (“ASEAN CPA”)

(b)	 Manager : Ms Ong Ai Sim 

	 Qualification: Associate member of Institute of Internal Auditors Malaysia (“AIIA”)

	In addition, the entire outsourced internal audit team is re-affirmed to be totally independent.

	The Internal Auditors present their Internal Audit Reports, which include their findings and recommendations 
for improvements, to the ARMC for its review and deliberation. The ARMC also appraised the adequacy of the 
comments, actions and measures to be taken by the Executive Management in resolving the audit issues reported 
and recommended for further improvement.

	The Internal Auditors also carried out follow-up reviews to monitor the implementation of the said action plans and 
measures for reporting to the ARMC.

For FY2021, the internal audit scope covered the review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal 
controls of the following:

(a)	 Internal Audit Report on Property & Construction Division: Sales & Collections (Kuantan Project)

•	 Execution of Sale & Purchase Agreement;
•	 Progress Billings to Purchasers;
•	 Collections from Purchasers; and
•	 Defects Liability / Liquidated Ascertained Damages claimed by Purchasers (if any).

(b)	 Internal Audit Report on Related Party Transactions (RPTs)

•	 Procedures and record keeping of RPTs;
•	 Documentation of agreement and assessment of arm lengths;
•	 Approval of RPTs; and
•	 Periodic reviews of RPT.

The total costs paid or payable for the internal audit function for FY2021 was RM54,000. 

WONG YOKE NYEN
Chairman of Audit and Risk Management Committee

21 July 2021

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE REPORT



<      36        |        Sentoria GROUP BERHAD [Registration No. : 199801007217 (463344-K)]

The Directors hereby submit their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company for the financial year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding. The principal activities and details of its subsidiary 
companies are disclosed in Note 9 to the financial statements.

There have been no significant changes in the activities of the Company and its subsidiary companies during the 
financial year.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

				    Group	 Company
				    RM’000	 RM’000
			 
Net loss for the financial year				    171,179	 62,388

Attributable to:			 
Owners of the Company				    161,638
Non-controlling interests				    9,541

				    171,179

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

All material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year are disclosed in the financial 
statements.

DIVIDENDS

There were no dividends paid, declared or proposed by the Company since the end of the previous financial period.

HOLDING COMPANY

The immediate and ultimate holding company is Sentoria Capital Sdn. Bhd., a private limited liability company, 
incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the financial year and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Dato’ Hj. Abdul Rahman bin Hj. Imam Arshad
Dato’ Chan Kong San
Dato’ Gan Kim Leong
Wong Yoke Nyen
Datin Sri Lim Mooi Lang	
Lee Chaing Huat (retired on 30.9.2020)
Datuk Aznam bin Mansor (retired on 30.9.2020)

Dato’ Chan Kong San and Dato’ Gan Kim Leong are also the Directors of all subsidiary companies included in the 
financial statements of the Group for the financial year.

DIRECTORS’
REPORT
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DIRECTORS’
REPORT

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

The Directors holding office at the end of the financial year and their beneficial interests in the ordinary shares and/
or options over ordinary shares of the Company and its related corporations during the financial year as recorded in 
the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings kept by the Company pursuant to Section 59 of the Companies Act 2016, 
were as follows:

	 Number of ordinary shares
		  At			   At
Shares in the Company		  1.4.2020	 Bought	 Sold	 31.3.2021

Direct interest
Datin Sri Lim Mooi Lang		  2,000,000	 –	 –	 2,000,000 

Indirect interest
Dato’ Chan Kong San*		  284,700,428	 –	 –	 284,700,428 
Dato’ Gan Kim Leong**		  303,796,868	 817,500 	 (6,000,000) 	 298,614,368 
Datin Sri Lim Mooi Lang***		      9,600,000	 –	 (2,300,000)	 7,300,000

	 Number of Warrants-B
		  At			   At
		  1.4.2020	 Bought	 Sold	 31.3.2021

Indirect interest
Dato’ Chan Kong San*		  180,887,134	 –	 –	 180,887,134
Dato’ Gan Kim Leong**		  181,739,094	 –	 –	 181,739,094

*	 Deemed interest by virtue of their interests in Sentoria Capital Sdn. Bhd. pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies 
Act 2016

**	 Deemed interest by virtue of their interests in Sentoria Capital Sdn. Bhd. and Base Rock Sdn. Bhd.  pursuant to 
Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016

***	 Deemed interest by virtue of shares held by spouse and child pursuant to Section 59(11)(c) of the Companies 
Act 2016

	 Number of ordinary shares
		  At			   At
Shares in Sentoria Capital Sdn. Bhd.		  1.4.2020	 Bought	 Sold	 31.3.2021

Direct interest
Dato’ Chan Kong San		  250,000	 –	 –	 250,000 
Dato’ Gan Kim Leong		  250,000	 –	 –	 250,000

Dato’ Chan Kong San and Dato’ Gan Kim Leong, by virtue of their interests in the ordinary shares of Sentoria Capital 
Sdn. Bhd., are deemed to have an interest in the shares and/or options over shares of the Company and its subsidiary 
companies to the extent that Sentoria Capital Sdn. Bhd. has an interest pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act 
2016 during the financial year.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the other Directors in office at the end of the financial year held any interest 
in the shares and/or options over shares of the Company or its related corporations during the financial year.
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DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

During and at the end of the financial year, there was no arrangements subsisted to which the Company is a 
party, being arrangement with the object or objects of enabling the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the 
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Since the end of the previous financial period, no Director has received or become entitled to receive any benefits 
(other than as disclosed in Note 32 to the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or 
a related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which 
the Director has a substantial financial interest except for those related party transactions as disclosed in Note 34 
to the financial statements.

There was no indemnity coverage and insurance premium paid for the Directors and officers of the Group and of 
the Company during the financial year.

ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The details and salient terms of Warrants-A and Warrants-B are disclosed in Note 19 to the financial statements.

There were no issuance of shares or debentures during the financial year.

TREASURY SHARES

There was no repurchased of its own ordinary shares, cancellation or reissuance of treasury shares during the 
financial year.

As at the end of the financial year:

(a)	 out of the Company’s total 567,277,991 issued ordinary shares, 9,596,900 are held as treasury shares by the 
Company; and

(b)	 the number of outstanding ordinary shares in issue after deducting those held as treasury shares is 
557,681,091 ordinary shares.

OPTIONS GRANTED OVER UNISSUED SHARES

No options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Company during the financial year.

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable 
steps:

(a)	 to ascertain that action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of provision 
for doubtful debts and have satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that 
adequate provision had been made for doubtful debts; and

(b)	 to ensure that any current assets other than debts, which were unlikely to be realised at their book values in 
the ordinary course of business have been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to 
realise.

DIRECTORS’
REPORT



  Annual Report 2021        |        39      >

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:

(a)	 which would render the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of provision for doubtful debts in the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent;

(b)	 which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company misleading;

(c)	 which have arisen which would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of 
the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate; and

(d)	 not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements which would render any amount stated in 
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

At the date of this report, there does not exist:

(a)	 any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year 
which secures the liability of any other person; or

(b)	 any contingent liability of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

In the opinion of the Directors:

(a)	 no contingent liability or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the 
period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, will or may affect the ability of the Group and 
of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due;

(b)	 the results of the Group’s and of the Company’s operations during the financial year were not substantially 
affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature other than the Coronavirus outbreak 
as disclosed in Note 40.1 to the financial statements; and

(c)	 there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, 
transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the results of operations of 
the Group and of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR AND AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

The significant events during the financial year and after the reporting date are disclosed in Note 40 to the financial 
statements.

DIRECTORS’
REPORT
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AUDITORS

The fees paid to or receivable by the auditors, Grant Thornton Malaysia PLT, as remuneration for their services to the 
Company and its subsidiary companies for the financial year are disclosed in Note 29 to the financial statements. 

There was no indemnity given or insurance effected for the auditors of the Company and its subsidiary companies.

Grant Thornton Malaysia PLT, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors,

............................................................…………….	 )
DATO’ GAN KIM LEONG 	 )
	 )
	 )
	 )	 DIRECTORS
	 )
	 )
	 )
............................................................…………….	 )
DATO’ CHAN KONG SAN	 )

Kuala Lumpur
21 July 2021
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STATEMENT BY
DIRECTORS

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 46 to 138 are drawn up in accordance with 
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the 
Company as at 31 March 2021 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors,

............................................................………...	 ...........................................................……………
	 DATO’ GAN KIM LEONG	 DATO’ CHAN KONG SAN

Kuala Lumpur
21 July 2021

STATUTORY
DECLARATION

I, Dato’ Gan Kim Leong, being the Director primarily responsible for the financial management of Sentoria Group 
Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, the financial statements set 
out on pages 46 to 138 are correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true 
and by virtue of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by	 )
the abovenamed at Kuala Lumpur in	 )
Federal Territory this 21st day of July	 )
2021	 )	 ........................................................................
		  DATO’ GAN KIM LEONG

Before me:

RAMATHILAGAM A/P T RAMASAMY (W.671)
Commissioner for Oaths
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Sentoria Group Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial 
position as at 31 March 2021 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the 
Company for the financial year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 46 to 138.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Group and of the Company as of 31 March 2021, and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial 
year then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards 
on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities

We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, 
Conduct and Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 
Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 2 to the Financial Statements, which indicates that the Group and the Company had 
incurred a net loss attributable to owners of the Company of RM161,638,000 and RM62,388,000 respectively. 
As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s and the Company’s total current liabilities exceeded its total current assets by 
RM436,495,000 and RM63,156,000 respectively. This note indicate that these financial indicators were compounded 
by the outbreak of the Coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic since beginning of 2020, which affected operations of 
the Group in the Leisure and Property Development Divisions during the financial year.

In addition, the Group is still negotiating with existing financial institutions to restructure and reschedule payment 
for the remaining outstanding borrowings of approximately RM461,000,000 as at 31 March 2021 through Corporate 
Debts Restructuring Committee (“CDRC”) as at to-date as details in Notes 2 and 40.2 to the financial statements. 
 
The above events or conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

As stated in Note 2 to the financial statements, the ability of the Group and the Company to continue as going 
concern are highly dependent on successful implementation of restructuring measures which include operational 
recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic for leisure and property development division, favourable outcome of the 
ongoing negotiation with the financial institutions and creditors on restructuring and rescheduling the payment for 
remaining outstanding debts and effectiveness on working capital management. If these are not forthcoming, the 
Group and the Company may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of 
business. 

	Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

INDEPENDENT
AUDITORS’ REPORT 
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company as a whole, and 
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter 
described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have determined the matters described 
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Group

Revenue and expense recognition for property development activities and construction contracts

The risk - The Group recognises revenue and expenses for property development activities and construction 
contracts based on the stage of completion method. 

In determining the stage of completion, the management is required to exercise significant judgement in estimating 
the total costs to complete and stage of completion, and the overall progress of projects as to whether provision for 
liquidated ascertained damages (“LAD”) is required. As such, we have identified revenue and expense recognition 
for property development activities and construction contracts as a significant risk requiring special audit 
consideration.

Our response - Our audit procedures included, amongst others, inquiries with the operational and financial personnel 
of the Group for the assumptions used, inspection of documentation to support costs estimates made, comparing 
estimated costs to actual costs to assess the reliability of management’s budgeting process and control, inspecting 
contracts with sub-contractors and reviewing analyses of cost budgets, performing site visits of ongoing projects, 
performing analyses of total estimated revenue and testing the computation of revenue and expenses recognised 
over time in accordance with MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. With regards to projects whereby 
actual progress is behind planned progress, we obtained explanation from management on the cause of the delays, 
inspected correspondences with customers and sub-contractors and corroborated key judgement applied by 
management as to whether provision for LAD is required. The Group’s disclosures regarding property development 
activities and construction contracts are included in Notes 3.6.1, 4.9, 4.10, 7, 14, 15, 26 and 27 to the financial 
statements.

Recognition of deferred tax assets

The risk - The Group has recognised deferred tax assets for unutilised capital allowances, unutilised tax allowances 
and other temporary differences.

Recognition of deferred tax assets requires significant management judgement as to the ability of the Group to 
generate sufficient future taxable profits to utilise the unabsorbed business losses, unutilised capital allowances, 
unutilised tax allowances and other temporary differences.

We have identified recognition of deferred tax assets as a significant risk requiring special audit consideration due 
to the inherent uncertainty in projecting the amount and timing of future taxable profits.

Our response - We assessed the accuracy of projected future taxable profits by evaluating historical projection 
accuracy and comparing the assumptions, such as projected growth rates as well as operating margin, with our 
own expectations of those assumptions derived from our knowledge of the Group and our understanding obtained 
during our audit.
 
The Group’s disclosures regarding deferred tax assets are included in Notes 3.6.1, 4.18.2 and 10 to the financial 
statements.

Company

There are no key audit matter in relation to the financial statements of the Company.

INDEPENDENT
AUDITORS’ REPORT 
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Information other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprise the 
Directors’ Report, but does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the Company and our auditors’ 
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is 
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements of the Group and the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements

The Directors of the Group and of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of 
the Group and of the Company that give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting 
Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in 
Malaysia. The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the Directors are responsible for assessing 
the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the 
Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s and of the Company’s internal control.

INDEPENDENT
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

We also (cont’d):

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the Directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s or the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 
of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group or the Company to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Other Matter

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the 
Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person 
for the content of this report.

GRANT THORNTON MALAYSIA PLT	 LIM SOO SIM
(201906003682 & LLP0022494-LCA)	 (NO: 03335/11/2021 J)
 CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS (AF 0737)	 CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT

Kuala Lumpur
21 July 2021
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	 Group	 Company
	 Note	 2021	 2020	 2021	 2020
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
 Property, plant and equipment	 5	  492,912 	  508,778 	  25 	  44 
 Biological assets	 6	  929 	  1,577 	  – 	  – 
 Inventories	 7	  150,066 	  156,714 	  – 	  – 
 Investment properties	 8	  53,406 	  63,822 	  51,330 	  61,100 
 Investment in subsidiary companies	 9	  – 	  – 	  266,025 	  272,125 
 Deferred tax assets 	 10	  20,837 	  43,980 	  – 	  – 
 Goodwill on consolidation	 11	  3 	  3 	  – 	  – 
 Trade receivables	 12	  – 	  293 	  – 	  – 
 Other receivables	 13	  – 	  6,096 	  – 	  – 

Total non-current assets		   718,153 	  781,263 	  317,380 	  333,269 

Current assets
 Inventories	 7	  115,516 	  183,149 	  – 	  – 
 Contract assets	 14	  6,205 	  17,399 	  – 	  – 
 Contract costs	 15	  8,437 	  5,418 	  – 	  – 
 Trade receivables	 12	  51,801 	  46,048 	  – 	  – 
 Other receivables	 13	  68,977 	  68,257 	  195 	  208 
 Amount due from subsidiary
  companies	 9	  – 	  – 	  138,805 	  178,274 
 Tax recoverable		   7,051 	  5,588 	  30 	  29 
 Fixed deposits with licensed banks	 16	  4,246 	  4,136 	  – 	  – 
 Cash and bank balances	 17	  12,293 	  11,371 	  1,794 	  1,799 

Total current assets		   274,526 	  341,366 	  140,824 	  180,310 
Non-current asset held for sale	 18	  1,000 	  – 	  1,000 	  –

Total assets		   993,679 	  1,122,629 	  459,204 	  513,579

STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 MARCH 2021
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STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 MARCH 2021

	 Group	 Company
	 Note	 2021	 2020	 2021	 2020
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners
 of the Company
 Share capital	 19	  161,778 	  161,778 	  161,778 	  161,778 
 Treasury shares	 20	  (5,962)	  (5,962)	  (5,962)	  (5,962)
 Revaluation reserve	 21	  75,738 	  80,097 	  33,767 	  33,767 
 Warrant reserve	 22	  51,467 	  51,467 	  51,467 	  51,467 
 (Accumulated losses)/retained
  earnings		   (2,827)	  158,811 	  4,284 	  66,672 

		  280,194	  446,191 	  245,334 	  307,722
Non-controlling interests	 9	  (9,609)	  (68)	  – 	  – 

Total equity		   270,585 	  446,123 	  245,334 	  307,722 

Non-current liabilities
 Contract liabilities	 14	  525 	  695 	  – 	  – 
 Deferred tax liabilities 	 10	  3,446 	  3,433 	  3,792 	  4,402 
 Borrowings 	 23	  6,313 	  48,287 	  6,098 	  6,631 
 Other payables	 24	  1,789 	  – 	  – 	  – 

Total non-current liabilities		   12,073 	  52,415 	  9,890 	  11,033 

Current liabilities
 Trade payables	 25	  119,627 	  100,369 	  – 	  – 
 Other payables	 24	  73,375 	  105,267 	  3,172 	  3,139 
 Contract liabilities	 14	  61,657 	  25,443 	  – 	  – 
 Amount due to subsidiary companies	 9	  – 	  – 	  103,593 	  96,026 
 Tax payable		   4 	  4 	  – 	  – 
 Borrowings 	 23	  456,358 	  393,008 	  97,215 	  95,659 

Total current liabilities		   711,021 	  624,091 	  203,980 	  194,824 

Total liabilities		   723,094 	  676,506 	  213,870 	  205,857 

Total equity and liabilities		   993,679 	  1,122,629 	  459,204 	  513,579

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MACRH 2021

	 Group	 Company
		  1.4.2020	 1.10.2018	 1.4.2020	 1.10.2018
		  to	 to	 to	 to
	 Note	 31.3.2021	 31.3.2020	 31.3.2021	 31.3.2020
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Revenue	 26	  35,150 	  202,961 	 –	 –

Cost of sales	 27	  (76,895)	  (181,085)	 –	 –

Gross (loss)/profit		   (41,745)	  21,876 	 –	 –

Other income		   2,197 	  759 	  42 	  169 

Finance income		   220 	  618 	 –	  23 

Fair value adjustments on investment
 properties		   (8,770)	  4,658 	  (8,770)	  6,379 

Impairment loss on financial assets		   (11,297)	  (2,318)	 –	 –

Impairment loss on contract assets		   (3,279)	 –	 –	 –

Distribution expenses		   (115)	  (2,056)	 –	 –

Administration expenses		   (27,534)	  (68,849)	  (1,982)	  (4,276)

Other expenses 	 28	  (33,760)	  (7,983)	  (51,526)	  (850)

Finance costs	 28	  (23,928)	  (21,953)	  (743)	  (1,017)

(Loss)/profit before tax	 29	  (148,011)	  (75,248)	  (62,979)	  428 

Tax (expense)/income	 30	  (23,168)	  (13,378)	  591 	  (650)

Net loss for the financial year/period		   (171,179)	  (88,626)	  (62,388)	  (222)

Items that will not be reclassified
 subsequently to profit or loss
Revaluation of land and buildings		  –	  12,525 	 –	 –
Deferred tax relating to revaluation of
 land and buildings		  –	  (1,231)	 –	 –
Change in tax rate 		  –	  (1,069)	 –	  (1,782)
Derecognised of property, plant and
 equipment		   (4,359)	 –	 –	 –

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
 for the financial year/period		   (4,359)	  10,225 	 –	  (1,782)

Total comprehensive loss for the
 financial year/period		   (175,538)	  (78,401)	  (62,388)	  (2,004)
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MACRH 2021

	 Group	 Company
		  1.4.2020	 1.10.2018	 1.4.2020	 1.10.2018
		  to	 to	 to	 to
	 Note	 31.3.2021	 31.3.2020	 31.3.2021	 31.3.2020
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Net loss for the financial year/period
 attributable to:
 Owners of the Company 		   (161,638)	  (87,607)
 Non-controlling interests		   (9,541)	  (1,019)

		   (171,179)	  (88,626)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:
 Owners of the Company 		   (165,997)	  (77,382)
 Non-controlling interests		   (9,541)	  (1,019)

		   (175,538)	  (78,401)

Loss per share attributable to equity
 holders of the Company (Sen)
 - Basic	 31	  (28.98)	  (15.71)

 - Diluted	 31	  (28.98)	  (15.71)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED TO 31 MARCH 2021
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STATEMENTS OF
CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MACRH 2021

	 Group	 Company
		  1.4.2020	 1.10.2018	 1.4.2020	 1.10.2018
		  to	 to	 to	 to
	 Note	 31.3.2021	 31.3.2020	 31.3.2021	 31.3.2020
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
 (Loss)/profit before tax 		   (148,011)	  (75,248)	  (62,979)	  428

 Adjustments for:
 Biological assets written off 		   132 	  1,580 	  – 	  – 
 Depreciation of investment properties 		   26 	  69 	  – 	  – 
 Depreciation of property, plant and
  equipment 		   9,589 	  14,705 	  19 	  53 
 Depreciation of biological assets 		   315 	  617 	  – 	  – 
 Fair value adjustments on investment
  properties		   8,770 	  (4,658)	  8,770 	  (6,379)
 Finance cost 		   23,928 	  21,953 	  743 	  1,017 
 Finance income 		   (220)	  (618)	  – 	  (23)
 Gain on disposal of biological assets 		   (165)	  – 	  – 	  – 
 Gain on disposal of investment
  properties  		   (114)	  (160)	  – 	  – 
 Impairment loss on biological assets 		   – 	  366 	  – 	  – 
 Impairment loss on investment in
  subsidiary companies 		   – 	  – 	  6,100 	  850 
 Impairment loss on trade and other
  receivables 		   11,878 	  2,318 	  – 	  – 
 Impairment loss on property, plant and
  equipment 		   – 	  3,891 	  – 	  – 
 Impairment loss on amount due from
  subsidiary companies 		   – 	  – 	  45,426 	  – 
 Impairment loss on contract assets 		   3,279 	  – 	  – 	  – 
 Inventory written off 		  – 	  1 	  – 	  – 
 Loss on remeasurement of inventories 		   23,366 	  – 	  –	  – 
 Loss/(gain) on disposal of property,
  plant and equipment 		  747 	  1,790 	  – 	  (88)
 Property, plant and equipment
  written off 		  – 	  112 	  – 	  – 
 Provision for onerous contract 		   9,331 	  – 	  – 	  – 
 Receivables written off 		   184 	  243 	  – 	  – 
 Reversal of impairment loss on other
  receivables no longer required 		  (581)	  – 	  – 	  –

 Operating loss before working capital
  changes 		  (57,546)	  (33,039)	  (1,921)	  (4,142)

 Changes in working capital:
  Inventories 		   49,023 	  (42,714)	  – 	  – 
  Contract assets/liabilities 		   44,027 	  90,381 	  – 	  – 
  Contract costs 		  (3,019)	  (4,252)	  – 	  – 
  Receivables 		  (11,565)	  63,600 	  13 	  513 
  Payables 		   (11,955)	  (18,157)	  33 	  1,339
  Holding company 		   – 	  455 	  – 	  –

 Cash generated from/(used in)
  operations 		   8,965 	  56,274 	  (1,875)	  (2,290)
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STATEMENTS OF
CASH FLOWS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MACRH 2021

	 Group	 Company
		  1.4.2020	 1.10.2018	 1.4.2020	 1.10.2018
		  to	 to	 to	 to
	 Note	 31.3.2021	 31.3.2020	 31.3.2021	 31.3.2020
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

  Finance income received 		   220 	  618 	 –	  23 
  Finance cost paid 		   (4,061)	  (34,871)	  (743)	  (1,017)
  Tax paid 		   (1,475)	  (4,909)	  (20)	  (14)
  Tax refunded 		  –	  1,263 	 –	 –

   Net cash from/(used in) operating
  activities 		   3,649 	  18,375 	  (2,638)	  (3,298)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
 Purchase of property, plant and
  equipment 	 A 	  (2,977)	  (33,481)	 –	 –
 Purchase of biological assets 		   (35)	  (429)	 –	 –
 Subscription of shares in subsidiary
  companies  		  –	 –	 –	  (2,500)
 (Placement)/uplift of fixed deposits
  with licensed banks 		   (110)	  4,324 	 –	  (1,379)
 Uplift of short term funds 		   - 	  7,990 	 –	  7,990 
 Proceeds from disposal of property,
  plant and equipment 		   1,527 	  11,884 	 –	  88 
 Proceeds from disposal of investment
  properties  		   734 	  1,126 	 –	 –
 Proceeds from disposal of biological
  assets 		  401 	 –	 –	 –
 Advances to subsidiary companies 		  –	 –	  (3,255)	  (7,030)

 Net cash used in investing activities 		  (460)	  (8,586)	  (3,255)	  (2,831)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
 Proceeds from issuance of shares 		  –	  7 	 –	  7 
 Advances from subsidiary companies 		  –	 –	  7,567 	  18,951 
 Repayment of lease liabilities 		   (467)	  (572)	 –	 –
 Repayment of borrowings 		   (9,639)	  (333,283)	  (3,148)	  (72,604)
 Drawdown of borrowings 		   2,609 	  311,836 	 –	  58,755 
 Own shares bought 		  –	  (79)	 –	  (79)

 Net cash (used in)/from financing
  activities 		  (7,497)	  (22,091)	  4,419 	  5,030 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
 Net changes 		   (4,308)	  (12,302)	  (1,474)	  (1,099)
 At beginning of financial year/period 		   (45,510)	  (33,208)	  (20,501)	  (19,402)

 At end of financial year/period 	  B 	  (49,818)	  (45,510)	  (21,975)	  (20,501)
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NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

A.	 PURCHASE OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

	 The Group acquired property, plant and equipment with aggregate costs of RM2,977,000 (31.3.2020: 
RM33,814,000) of which Nil (31.3.2020: RM333,000) were acquired by means of finance lease arrangements. 
Cash payments of RM2,977,000 (31.3.2020: RM33,481,000) were made by the Group to purchase these 
property, plant and equipment. Included in the cash payments were interest capitalised of RM2,378,000 
(31.3.2020: RM8,716,000). 

B.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

	 Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

	 Group	 Company
		  2021	 2020	 2021	 2020
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Cash and bank balances 		  10,511 	  9,589 	  12 	  17 
Bank overdrafts  		   (60,329)	  (55,099)	  (21,987)	  (20,518)

			   (49,818)	 (45,510)	  (21,975)	  (20,501)

C.	 CASH OUTFLOWS FOR LEASES AS A LESSEE

				    Group	 Company
				    1.4.2020	 1.4.2020
				    to	 to
				    31.3.2021	 31.3.2021
				    RM’000	 RM’000

Included in net cash from/(used in) operating activities:
Payment relating to short-term leases				    7,440 	 –

Included in net cash (used in)/from financing activities:
Payment of lease liabilities				    467	 –
Interest paid in relation to lease liabiilties				   146 	 –

Total cash outflows for leases				    8,053	 –

STATEMENTS OF
CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MACRH 2021

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

– 31 MARCH 2021

1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION

	 The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and listed on the 
Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The Company’s registered office is located at No. 56 & 58 
(2nd floor), Jalan Dagang SB 4/2, Taman Sungai Besi Indah, 43300 Seri Kembangan, Selangor Darul Ehsan.

	 The principal place of business of the Company is located at No. 56 & 58, Jalan Dagang SB 4/2, Taman Sungai 
Besi Indah, 43300 Seri Kembangan, Selangor Darul Ehsan.

	 The Company is principally engaged in investment holding. The principal activities and details of its subsidiary 
companies are disclosed in Note 9 to the financial statements. 

	 There have been no significant changes in the activities of the Company and its subsidiary companies during 
the financial year.

	 The immediate and ultimate holding company is Sentoria Capital Sdn. Bhd., a private limited liability company, 
incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia.

	 The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution 
of the Directors passed on the 21 July 2021.

2.	 GOING CONCERN

	 The Group and the Company had incurred a net loss attributable to owners of the Company of RM161,638,000 
and RM62,388,000 respectively during the financial year then ended. As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s and 
the Company’s total current liabilities exceeded its total current assets by RM436,495,000 and RM63,156,000 
respectively. 

	 These financial indicators were compounded by the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic since beginning of 
2020, which affected operations of the Group in the Leisure and Property Development Divisions during the 
financial year.

	 The Group and the Company implemented several restructuring measures during the financial year in response 
to these conditions, and these efforts (including seeking financial support from financial institutions, vendors 
and business partners) are ongoing as at the date of authorisation of these Financial Statements. The 
Company has also engaged consulting firm to assist on the restructuring related matters.

	 The key restructuring measures undertaking by the Group are as follows:

	 Operational recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic

	 The Group resumed its property projects on a staggered basis since June 2020 and at present, observes 
positive developments arising from its property projects in the Property Development Division.

	 The Group also resumed its theme park operations in Kuantan on a staggered basis since July 2020 until 
January 2021 when Malaysian Government has continue to imposed Movement Control Order (“MCO”).

	 As disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements, the construction work-in-progress amounting to 
RM100,921,000 of the Group has also been slowed down by the COVID-19 pandemic and the Group plans to 
fund and complete the construction work in progress as disclosed in the Note 33 to the financial statements 
from its internal generated fund. The Group will also seek the supports of bankers and business associates 
for the necessary extra funding. 

	 The Group anticipates business operations from its Property Development Division and Leisure Division to 
gradually normalise within 2 years from the date of authorisation of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
– 31 MARCH 2021

2.	 GOING CONCERN (CONT’D)

	 The key restructuring measures undertaking by the Group are as follows (cont’d):

	 Funding

	 The Group and the Company proactively engaged with its existing lenders during the financial year to 
restructure and reschedule its financing facilities to strengthen the financial position and ensure that the 
debts post restructuring is at a sustainable level, with an anticipatory favourable outcome.

	 As disclosed in Note 40.2 to the financial statements, on 27 August 2020, Corporate Debt Restructuring 
Committee (“CDRC”) under the purview of Bank Negara Malaysia had accepted the Group’s application for 
assistance to mediate with the lenders to restructure or renegotiate the respective financial facilities held by 
the Group and certain of its subsidiary companies in the aggregate sum of approximately RM461,000,000 as 
at 31 March 2021. 

	 In term of this advisory, existing lenders are required to observe an informal standstill with immediate effect 
and withhold litigation proceedings against the Group. The Group are still negotiating with existing lenders to 
reschedule payment for the remaining outstanding borrowings.

	 Working capital management

	 The Group continuously monitors its working capital management and right sizes its operational and financial 
resources to optimise cost efficiencies.

	 The Directors have, to the best of their abilities, prepared cash flow projection encompassing 12 months 
after the end of the reporting date that incorporates the estimated impact of the measures described in the 
preceding paragraphs.

	 As at the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the cash flow projection supports the notion that 
the Group is able to generate sufficient cash flows for the next 12 months after the end of the reporting date 
to meet cash flow requirements, realise assets and discharge liabilities in the normal course of business of 
the Group.

	 As disclosed in Notes 40.3 and 40.4 to the financial statements, Sentoria Bina Sdn. Bhd. (“SBSB”) and Sentoria 
Themeparks and Resorts Sdn. Bhd. (“STAR”), wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company,  who have applied 
to the High Court of Malaya at Kuala Lumpur pursuant to Sections 366 and Section 368 of the Companies 
Act 2016 in order to formulate and finalise a proposed Scheme of Arrangement between SBSB, STAR with its 
Creditors, respectively, pursuant to Section 366 of the Act to settle the claims of Creditors while at the same 
time maintaining SBSB and STAR as a going concern and the Orders allows SBSB and STAR to negotiate 
terms with its lenders and creditors without having the threat of any proceedings and actions being brought 
against SBSB and STAR. 

	 On 3 May 2021, the High Court granted an order to SBSB for the approval of the Scheme of SBSB (“the 
Approval Order”) and the Scheme shall be binding on SBSB and its scheme creditors. 

	 On 5 April 2021, the High Court granted RO under Section 368 of the Companies Act 2016 and Scheme Order 
to STAR for STAR’s proposed Scheme of Arrangement with its respective creditors pursuant to Section 366 of 
the Companies Act 2016 and these Orders commenced on 5 April 2021 and shall be in effect for a period of 
3 months and they were subsequently extended to another 6 months until 4 January 2022.  

	 The Group is still negotiating with other creditors on an amicable solutions to their demand. 

	 The ability of the Group and of the Company to continue as going concern are highly dependent on successful 
implementation of above restructuring measures. If these are not forthcoming, the Group and the Company 
may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. 
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

– 31 MARCH 2021

2.	 GOING CONCERN (CONT’D)

	 The key restructuring measures undertaking by the Group are as follows (cont’d):

	 Working capital management (cont’d)

	 In view of the foregoing, the Directors consider that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements of 
the Group and of the Company on a going concern basis and accordingly the financial statements do not 
include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded assets amounts or to 
the amounts and classification of the liabilities that may be necessary should the Group and the Company be 
unable to continue as a going concern.

	

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION

3.1	 Statement of compliance

	 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with 
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

3.2	 Basis of measurement

	 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company are prepared under the historical cost 
convention, except for certain land and buildings that are measured at fair value at the end of each 
reporting period as disclosed in the summary of significant accounting policies.

	 Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of consideration given in exchange for goods and 
services.

	 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either 
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most 
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be 
accessible by the Group and the Company.

	 The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic 
best interest.

	 A fair value measurement of a non-financial market takes into account a market participant’s ability 
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

	 The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising 
the use of unobservable inputs.

	 All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to their fair value measurement as a whole:

(a)	 Level 1 -	 Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
		
(b)	 Level 2 -	 Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to their fair 

value measurement is directly or indirectly observable
		
(c)	 Level 3 -	 Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to their fair 

value measurement is unobservable
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
– 31 MARCH 2021

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT’D)

3.2	 Basis of measurement (cont’d)

	 For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the 
Group and the Company determine whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy 
by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to their fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting year/period.

	 For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group and the Company have determined classes of 
assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the 
level of fair value hierarchy as explained above.

3.3	 Functional and presentation currency

	 The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is the Group’s and the 
Company’s functional currency and all values are rounded to the nearest RM’000, except when otherwise 
stated.

3.4	 Adoption of new standards/amendments/improvements to MFRS

	 The Group and the Company have consistently applied the accounting policies set out in Note 4 to all 
year/period presented in these financial statements. 

	 At the beginning of the current financial year, the Group and the Company adopted new standards/
amendments/improvements to MFRS which are mandatory for the financial years beginning on or after 
31 March 2020. 

	 Initial application of the amendments/improvements to the standards did not have a material impact to 
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, except for:

	 MFRS 16 Leases

	 MFRS 16 supersedes MFRS 117 Leases, IC Interpretation 4 Determine whether an Arrangement contains 
a Lease, IC Interpretation 115 Operating Lease – Incentives and IC Interpretation 127 Evaluating the 
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for 
the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise 
most leases on the statement of financial position.

	 Lessor accounting under MFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from MFRS 117. Lessors will continue to 
classify leases as either operating or finance leases using similar principles as in MFRS 117. Therefore, 
MFRS 16 does not have an impact for leases where the Group and the Company is the lessor. 

	 The Group and the Company adopted MFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method, the standard 
is applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised at the 
date of initial application. The Group and Company elected to use the transition practical expedient 
to not reassess whether a contract is, or contains a lease at 1 April 2020. Instead, the Group and the 
Company applied the standard only to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying MFRS 
117 and IC Interpretation 4 at the date of initial application.

	 Upon adoption of MFRS 16, the Group and the Company applied a single recognition and measurement 
approach for all leases except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The standard 
provides specific transition requirements and practical expedients, which have been applied by the 
Group and the Company.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT’D)

3.4	 Adoption of new standards/amendments/improvements to MFRS (cont’d)

	 Initial application of the amendments/improvements to the standards did not have a material impact to 
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, except for (cont’d):

	 MFRS 16 Leases (cont’d)

	 Leases previously classified as finance leases

	 The Group and the Company did not change the initial carrying amounts of recognised assets and 
liabilities at the date of initial application for leases previously classified as finance leases (i.e., the right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities equal the lease assets and liabilities recognised under MFRS 117). 
The requirements of MFRS 16 were applied to these leases from 1 April 2020. 

	 The Group’s long term leasehold land and buildings, motor vehicles and plant and machinery which 
in substance were finance lease previously classified as property, plant and equipment meets the 
definition of right-of-use assets. The Group do not present right-of-use assets separately. Instead, they 
are included in the same line item when the corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they 
were owned. 

	 Right-of-use assets recognised previously under finance leases in the statement of financial position of 
the Group were identified as follows:

						      Carrying
						      amount
1.4.2020					     RM

Long term leasehold land					     96,285
Long term leasehold buildings					     269,223
Motor vehicles					     610
Plant and machinery					     1,029

Total right-of-use assets					     367,147

	 In the statements of financial position, right-of-use assets continue to be included in property, plant and 
equipment as disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements. 

	 Lease previously accounted for as operating leases

	 The Group and the Company elected to use the recognition exemptions for lease contracts that, at the 
commencement date, have a lease term of 12 months or less and do not contain a purchase option 
(short-term leases). 

	 The operating lease commitments as of 31 March 2020 were related to short-term leases. Hence, no 
lease liabilities were recognised in respect of those commitments.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT’D)

3.5	 Standards issued but not yet effective

	 The new and amended standards that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the 
Group’s and of the Company’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Group and the Company 
intend to adopt these new and amended standards, if applicable, when they become effective in the 
respective financial year.

Amendments to MFRS effective 1 June 2020:
Amendments to MFRS 16*#	 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

Amendments to MFRSs effective 1 January 2021:
Amendments to MFRS 9*#, 139*#,	 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
 7*#, 4*# and 16

Amendments to MFRS effective 1 April 2021:
Amendments to MFRS 16*#	 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments to MFRSs effective 1 January 2022:
Amendments to MFRS 3#	 Reference to the Conceptual Framework
Amendments to MFRS 116	 Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds Before
 		   Intended Use
Amendments to MFRS 137#	 Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 
Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018-2020 

MFRS and Amendments to MFRSs effective 1 January 2023:
MFRS 17 and Amendments to	 Insurance Contracts
 MFRS 17*#	
Amendments to MFRS 4*#	 Insurance Contracts – Extension of the Temporary
		   Exemption from Applying MFRS 9
Amendments to MFRS 101	 Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification of
		   Liabilities as Current or Non-current
Amendments to MFRS 101	 Presentation of Financial Statements – Disclosure of
		   Accounting Policies
Amendments to MFRS 108	 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
		   and Errors – Definition of Accounting Estimates
Amendments to MFRS 112	 Income Taxes – Deferred Tax related to Assets and
		   Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

Amendments to MFRSs - effective date deferred indefinitely:
Amendments to MFRS 10*#	 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
 and 128*#	  its Associate or Joint Venture

*	 Not applicable to the Group’s operations
#	 Not applicable to the Company’s operations
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3.5	 Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

	 The initial application of the accounting standards and amendments are not expected to have any 
material financial impacts to the financial statements, except for:

	 IFRIC Agenda Decision on MFRS 123 “Borrowing Costs”

	 In March 2019, International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) published an 
agenda decision on borrowings costs confirming, receivables, contract assets and inventories for 
unsold units under construction for which revenue is recognised over time and are ready for intended 
sale are non-qualification assets. On 20 March 2019, the MASB decided an entity shall apply the change 
in accounting policy as a result of the IFRIC Agenda Decision to financial statements for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2020.

	 The Group is currently assessing the impact on the change in accounting policy pursuant to the 
IFRIC Agenda Decision on borrowing costs incurred on property under construction where control is 
transferred over time.

3.6	 Significant accounting estimates and judgements

	 Estimates, assumptions concerning the future and judgements were made in the preparation of these 
financial statements. They affect the application of the Group’s and of the Company’s accounting 
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, expenses and disclosures made. They are 
assessed on an on-going basis and are based on experience and relevant factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The actual results may 
differ from the judgements, estimates and assumptions made by management, and will seldom equal 
the estimated results.

3.6.1	 Estimation uncertainty

	 Information about significant estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on 
recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses are discussed below.

	 Useful lives of depreciable assets

	 Management estimates the useful lives of the property, plant and equipment, biological assets 
and investment properties to be within 2 to 99 years and reviews the useful lives of depreciable 
assets at each reporting date. As at 31 March 2021, management assessed that the useful lives 
represent the expected utility of the assets to the Group and the Company. The carrying amounts 
of the Group’s and the Company’s property, plant and equipment, biological assets and investment 
properties at the reporting date are analysed in Notes 5, 6 and 8 to the financial statements 
respectively. Actual results, however, may vary due to changes in the expected levels of usage 
and technological developments, with resulting adjustments to the Group’s and the Company’s 
assets.

	 Property development activities and construction contracts

	 As revenue from ongoing property development activities and construction contracts are 
recognised over time, the amount of revenue recognised at the reporting date depends on the 
extent to which the performance obligation has been satisfied. This is done by determining the 
stage of completion. The stage of completion is determined by the proportion that property 
development or contract costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total 
property development or contract costs.
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3.6	 Significant accounting estimates and judgements (cont’d)

3.6.1	 Estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

	 Property development activities and construction contracts (cont’d)

	 Significant judgement is required in determining the stage of completion, the extent of the 
development and contract costs incurred, the estimated total revenue include any compensation 
for liquidated ascertained damages and total costs and the recoverability of the development 
project and contract cost. In making these judgements, management relies on past experience 
and, if necessary, the work of specialists.

	 The carrying amount of property development costs and construction contracts of the Group 
arising from property development activities is disclosed in Notes 7, 14 and 15 to the financial 
statements respectively.

	 Impairment of non-financial assets

	 An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating 
unit’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. To determine the recoverable amount, 
management estimates expected future cash flows from each cash-generating unit and 
determines a suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

	 The Group assessed whether there are any indications of impairment of property, plant 
and equipment during the financial year. In doing this, management considered the current 
environment, taking into consideration the impact of COVID-19 pandemic and performance of 
Cash Generating Units (“CGUs”). Management considered certain CGUs which are loss-making 
as impairment indications. 

	 The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations using cash 
flow projections derived from financial budgets approved by management. Management has 
made estimates about future results and key assumptions applied to cash flow projections 
of the CGUs. These key assumptions are applied to cash flow projections of the CGUs and 
include forecast growth in future revenues and operating profit margins, as well as determining 
appropriate pre-tax discount rates and growth rates.

	 In the process of measuring expected future cash flows management makes assumptions about 
future operating results. The actual results may vary, and may cause significant adjustments to 
the Group’s and the Company’s assets within the next financial year. 

	 In most cases, determining the applicable discount rate involves estimating the appropriate 
adjustment to market risk and the appropriate adjustment to asset-specific risk factors.

	 Provision for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) of trade receivables and contract assets

	 The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables and contract assets. 
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that 
have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type and rating, coverage by 
letters of credit and other forms of credit insurance). 

	 The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group 
will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking 
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are 
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults 
in the real estate sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At every reporting date, the 
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are 
analysed. 
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3.6	 Significant accounting estimates and judgements (cont’d)

3.6.1	 Estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

	 Provision for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) of trade receivables and contract assets (cont’d)

	 The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic 
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in 
circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience 
and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual default 
in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables and contract assets 
is disclosed in Note 35 to the financial statements.

	 Inventories

	 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. In estimating net realisable 
values, management takes into account the most reliable evidence available at the times the 
estimates are made.

	 The Group’s core businesses are subject to economic and social preference changes which may 
cause selling prices to change rapidly and the Group’s result to change.

	 The carrying amount of the Group’s inventories at the reporting date is disclosed in Note 7 to the 
financial statements.

	 Deferred tax assets

	 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it 
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which all the deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the 
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of 
future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

	 It is the Group’s accounting practice to require a detailed 10-year cash flows projection to estimate 
whether it is probable that future taxable profits will be available to utilise against the deferred tax 
assets recognised. The Group’s management also monitors and assesses annually to ensure the 
recognition requirements are met.

	 Income taxes

	 Significant judgement is involved in determining the Group’s provision for income taxes. There 
are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain 
in the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises tax liabilities based on estimates of 
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different 
from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and 
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

	 Revaluation of property, plant and equipment

	 The Group’s and the Company’s measure their lands and buildings at fair value with changes in 
fair value being recognised in other comprehensive income. Significant judgement is required 
in the determination of fair value which may be derived based on different valuation method. 
In making this judgement, the Group and the Company evaluate based on past experience and 
reliance on the work of specialists. The Group and the Company engage independent valuation 
specialists to determine fair values.

	 Information regarding the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining fair value is 
disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements.
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3.6	 Significant accounting estimates and judgements (cont’d)

	 Fair value valuation of investment properties

	 The Group’s and the Company’s measure their investment properties at fair value with changes in 
fair value being recognised in profit or loss. Significant judgement is required in the determination 
of fair value which may be derived based on different valuation method. In making this judgement, 
the Group and the Company evaluate based on past experience and reliance on the work of 
specialists. The Group and the Company engage independent valuation specialists to determine 
fair values.

	 Information regarding the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining fair value is 
disclosed in Note 8 to the financial statements.

	 Provision of onerous contracts

	 The Group estimates the provision for its non-cancellable rental guarantee schemes when it is 
inevitable that a loss will be incurred on performance of the contract. The provision is measured 
according to management’s best estimate of expected future occupancy rates and is measured at 
net present value. The estimate includes an assessment of current market conditions, historical 
trends as well as future expectation and is therefore subject to significant uncertainty.

3.6.2	 Significant management judgements

	 The following are the significant management judgement in applying the accounting policies of 
the Group and the Company that have the most significant effect on these financial statements.

	 Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied properties

	 The Group and the Company determine whether a property qualifies as an investment property 
and has developed the criteria in making that judgement. Investment property is a property held 
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both.

	 Certain properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation 
and another portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for 
administrative purposes. The Group and the Company account for the portions separately if the 
portions could be sold separately (or leased out separately under a finance lease). If the portions 
could not be sold separately, the property is an investment property only if an insignificant portion 
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.

	 Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so 
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment property.

	 Deferred tax on investment properties

	 For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from investment properties that are 
measured using fair value model, the management of the Group and the Company review the 
investment properties and concluded that the Group’s and the Company’s investment properties 
are held under a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all the economic 
benefits embodied in the investment properties over time. Therefore, in making judgement, the 
management has determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of investment 
properties measured using the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale. 

	 Accordingly, the Group and the Company recognise deferred taxes in respect of the changes in 
fair value of investment properties. The final tax outcome could be different from the deferred tax 
liabilities recognised in the financial statements should the investment properties subsequently 
be disposed rather than consumed substantially all of the economic benefits embodied over 
time.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

	 The Group and the Company apply the significant accounting policies, as summarised below consistently 
throughout all financial year/period presented in these financial statements, except otherwise stated.

4.1	 Consolidation

4.1.1	 Basis of consolidation

	 The Group’s financial statements consolidate the audited financial statements of the Company 
and all of its subsidiary companies, which have been prepared in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policies. Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiary companies have 
been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by 
the Group. The financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary companies are all drawn 
up to the same reporting date.

	 All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from 
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.

	 Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. Identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair 
values at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the 
periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are received.

	 In business combinations achieved in stages, previously held equity interests in the acquiree are 
re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date and any corresponding gain or loss is recognised 
in profit or loss.

	 The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling interests in 
the acquiree, if any, is recognised on the acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-controlling 
interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets.

	 Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business 
combination, the amount of the non-controlling interests in the acquiree (if any), and the fair 
value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), over the net fair value 
of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill in the statements 
of financial position (“SOFP”). The accounting policy for goodwill is set out in Note 4.6 to the 
financial statements. In instances where the latter amount exceeds the former, the excess is 
recognised as a gain on bargain purchase in profit or loss on the acquisition date.

	 Subsidiary companies are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group 
and are no longer consolidated from the date that control ceases.

	 Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiary companies not attributable, directly 
or indirectly, to owners of the parent, and is presented separately in the consolidated statements 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated SOFP, 
separately from equity attributable to the owners of the parent.

	 Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary company that do not result in a 
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying 
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in 
their relative interests in the subsidiary company. Any difference between the amount by which 
the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is 
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the parent.

	 Upon the loss of control of a subsidiary company, the Group derecognises the assets and 
liabilities of the subsidiary company, any non-controlling interests and the other components of 
equity related to the subsidiary company. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is 
recognised in profit or loss.
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4.1	 Consolidation (cont’d)

4.1.1	 Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

	 If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary company, then such interest is 
measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently it is accounted for as equity 
accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence 
retained.

4.2	 Subsidiary companies

	 Subsidiary companies are entities, including structured entities, controlled by the Group. Control exists 
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Potential voting rights are considered 
when assessing control only when such rights are substantive. Besides, the Group considers that it has 
de facto power over an investee when, despite not having the majority of voting rights, it has the current 
ability to direct the activities of the investee that significantly affect the investee’s return.

	 Investment in subsidiary companies is stated at cost less any impairment losses in the Company’s 
financial position, unless the investment is held for sale or distribution.

	 Upon the disposal of investment in a subsidiary company, the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and its carrying amount is included in profit or loss.

4.3	 Property, plant and equipment

	 All property, plant and equipment except for land and buildings are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, if any. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the 
item will flow to the Group and the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

	 Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and any other 
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use, including the 
cost of replacing component parts of the asset, and the present value of the expected cost for the 
decommissioning of the assets after their use.

	 The cost of self-constructed assets also includes the cost of materials and direct labour. For qualifying 
assets, borrowing costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy on borrowing costs 
set out in Note 4.15 to the financial statements. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised 
in profit or loss as incurred.

	 Land and buildings are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 
if any. Valuations are performed with sufficient regularity, to ensure that the carrying amount does not 
differ materially from the fair value of the land and buildings at the end of the reporting date.

	 As at the date of revaluation, accumulated depreciation, if any, is eliminated against the gross carrying 
amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Any revaluation 
surplus arising upon appraisal of land and buildings is recognised in other comprehensive income and 
credited to the “revaluation reserve” in equity. To the extent that any revaluation decrease or impairment 
loss has previously been recognised in profit or loss, a revaluation increase is credited to profit or loss with 
the remaining part of the increase recognised in other comprehensive income. Downward revaluations 
of land and buildings are recognised upon appraisal or impairment testing, with the decrease being 
charged to other comprehensive income to the extent of any revaluation surplus in equity relating to 
this asset and any remaining decrease recognised in profit or loss. Any revaluation surplus remaining in 
equity on disposal of the asset is transferred to other comprehensive income.
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4.3	 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

	 Property, plant and equipment are written down to recoverable amount if, in the opinion of the Directors, 
it is less than their carrying value. Recoverable amount is the net selling price of the property, plant 
and equipment, that is, the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction 
between knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal.

	 Depreciation is recognised on the straight line method in order to write off the cost of each asset over 
its estimated useful life. Freehold land with an infinite life and work-in-progress are not depreciated. 
Other property, plant and equipment are depreciated based on the estimated useful lives of the assets 
as follows:

Long term leasehold land	 88 - 99 years
Long term leasehold buildings	 2%
Cabins	 10% - 20%  
Plant and machinery	 14% - 50%
Motor vehicles	 20%
Furniture, fittings, office equipment and others	 8% - 25%
Renovations	 10%

	 Restoration cost relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is capitalised only if such 
expenditure is expected to increase the future benefits from the existing asset beyond its previously 
assessed standard of performance.

	 Work-in-progress consists of general infrastructure and buildings under construction. The amount is 
stated at cost and includes the capitalisation of interest incurred on borrowings related to property, 
plant and equipment under construction until the property, plant and equipment are ready for their 
intended use. Work-in-progress is not depreciated until it is completed and ready for intended use.

	 The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at least annually to ensure 
that the amount, method and rates of depreciation are consistent with the previous estimates and the 
expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, 
plant and equipment.

	 Property, plant and equipment are derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gains or losses arising on the disposal of property, plant and 
equipment are determined as the differences between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the assets and are recognised in profit or loss.

4.4	 Investment properties

	 Investment properties are properties which are owned or right-of-use asset held under a lease contract 
or held under a leasehold interest to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not 
for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for 
administrative purposes.

	 Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Cost includes 
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment properties.

	 Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties (leasehold buildings) are measured at fair value 
and are revalued annually and are included in the SOFP at their open market values, except for those 
properties that are not practical to state at fair values will continue to state at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment if any. Any gain or loss resulting from either a change in the fair value or 
the sale of an investment property is immediately recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they 
arise. The fair values are determined by external professional valuers with sufficient experience with 
respect to both the location and the nature of the investment property and are supported by market 
evidence.
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4.4	 Investment properties (cont’d)

	 Depreciation on investment properties stated at cost is computed on the straight line basis in order to 
write off the cost over their estimated useful lives. The principal annual depreciation rates used are as 
follows:

	 Buildings	 2%
	 Long term leasehold land	 over 96 years 

	 Investment properties are written down to recoverable amount if, in the opinion of the Directors, it is less 
than their carrying value. Recoverable amount is the net selling price of the investment properties, that is, 
the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, 
willing parties, less the costs of disposal.

	 Investment properties are derecognised when either they are disposed of or when they are permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss on 
the retirement or disposal of investment properties is recognised in profit or loss in the financial year/
period of retirement or disposal.

	 Transfers are made to or from investment properties only when there is a change in use. For a transfer 
from investment properties to owner-occupied properties, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting 
is the fair value at the date of change. If owner-occupied properties become investment properties, 
the Group or the Company account for such properties in accordance with the policy stated under 
properties, plant and equipment up to the date of change.

4.5	 Biological assets

	 All biological assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any. 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All upkeep and maintenance costs are 
charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they incurred.

	 Depreciation of biological assets is provided for on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of each 
asset to its residual value over the estimated biological life, at annual rates of 10% to 20%.

	 The residual values, biological lives and depreciation method are reviewed at each reporting date to 
ensure that the amount, method and rates of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of biological assets.

	 Biological assets are derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any and the net carrying 
amount is recognised in profit or loss.

4.6	 Goodwill

	 Goodwill represents the excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in a business 
combination, the amount of the non-controlling interests in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value of the 
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of the acquiree’s 
identifiable assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition.

	 Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiary companies is presented separately in the SOFP.

	 Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying values may be impaired.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.6	 Goodwill (cont’d)

	 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or group of cash-generating 
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

	 A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is 
tested for impairment annually and, whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired, by 
comparing the carrying amount of the unit, including goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the unit. 
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) is less 
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

	 An impairment loss recognised for goodwill should not be reversed in a subsequent period. Gains and 
losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

	 Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of 
the operations within that unit is disposed, the goodwill associated with the operations disposed, is 
included in the carrying amount of the operations when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the 
operations. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative fair values of 
the operations disposed and portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

4.7	 Impairment of non-financial of assets

	 At the end of each reporting year/period, the Group and the Company review the carrying amounts of 
its non-financial assets to determine whether there is any indication of impairment by comparing its 
carrying amount with its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value 
less costs to sell and its value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at 
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units).

	 In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset 
is written down to its recoverable amount.

	 Impairment losses recognised in respect of a cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units are 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to those units or group of units 
and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit or groups of units on a pro-rata 
basis.

	 An impairment loss is recognised as an expense in profit or loss immediately except for a property 
previously revalued where the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case, 
the impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous 
revaluation.

	 An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses for an asset other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.

	 A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. 
That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior financial years. Such 
reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in which case 
the reversal is treated as revaluation increase.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.8	 Financial instruments

	 A financial instrument is any contract that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

4.8.1		 Initial recognition and measurement

	 Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition as subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
fair value through other comprehensive income (“OCI”) and fair value through profit or loss.

	 The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s 
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s and the Company’s business model for 
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain significant financing 
component or for which the Group and the Company have applied the practical expedient, the 
Group and the Company initially measure a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a 
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.

	 In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through 
OCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)’ 
on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is 
performed at an instrument level. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified 
and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

	 The Group’s and the Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it 
manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines 
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, 
or both. Financial assets are classified and measured at amortised cost are held within a business 
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows while 
financial assets classified and measured at fair value through OCI are held within a business 
model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. 

	 Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame 
established by regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised 
on the trade date, i.e. the date that the Group or the Company commit to purchase or sell the 
asset.

	 Subsequent measurement

	 For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:

•	 Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 
•	 Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses 

(debt instruments)
•	 Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of 	cumulative gains 

and losses upon derecognition (equity instruments) 
•	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

	 At the reporting date, the Group and the Company carry only financial assets at amortised cost on 
their statements of financial position.

	 Financial assets at amortised cost

	 Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (“EIR”) 
method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when 
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. The Group’s and the Company’s financial assets 
at amortised cost include trade and other receivables, amount due from subsidiary companies, 
fixed deposit from licensed banks and cash and cash equivalents.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.8	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

4.8.1		 Initial recognition and measurement (cont’d)

	 Derecognition 

	 A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is primarily derecognised when: 

•	 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
•	 The Group and the Company have transferred their rights to receive cash flows from the 

asset or have assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material 
delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement and either (a) the Group and the 
Company have transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the 
Group and the Company have neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset but have transferred control of the asset.

	 When the Group and the Company have transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset 
or has entered into a ‘pass-through’ arrangement, they evaluate if, and to what extent, they have 
retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When they have neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the 
Group and the Company continue to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing 
involvement. In that case, the Group and the Company also recognise an associated liability. The 
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and 
obligations that the Group and the Company have retained. 

	 Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured 
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration 
that the Group and the Company could be required to repay.

	 Impairment

	 The Group and the Company recognise an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on 
financial assets measured at amortised cost and contract assets. Expected credit losses are a 
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.   

	 The Group and the Company measure loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected 
credit loss, except for debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting 
date, cash and bank balance and other debt securities for which credit risk has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, which are measured at 12-month expected credit loss. Loss 
allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount equal to 
lifetime expected credit loss. 

	 When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition and when estimating expected credit loss, the Group and the Company 
consider reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue 
cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based 
on the Group’s and the Company’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and 
including forward-looking information, where available. 

	 Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default 
events over the expected life of the asset, while 12-month expected credit losses are the portion 
of expected credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months 
after the reporting date. The maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses 
is the maximum contractual period over which the Group and the Company are exposed to credit 
risk.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.8	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

4.8.1		Initial recognition and measurement (cont’d)

	 Impairment (cont’d)

	 The Group and the Company estimate the expected credit losses on trade receivables and 
contract assets using a provision matrix with reference to historical credit loss experience. 

	 An impairment loss in respect of financial assets measured at amortised cost is recognised in 
profit or loss and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. 

	 At each reporting date, the Group and the Company assess whether the financial assets carried at 
amortised cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit impaired when one or more events 
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have 
occurred. 

	 The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or full) to the extent 
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group or the 
Company determine that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could 
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial 
assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with 
the Group’s or the Company’s procedures for recovery amounts due.

4.8.2	 Financial liabilities 

	 Initial recognition and measurement 

	 All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings 
and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

	 The Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, amount due 
to subsidiary companies and borrowings.

	 Subsequent measurement 

	 For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified in two categories: 

•	 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
•	 Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

	 At the reporting date, the Group and the Company carry only financial liabilities at amortised cost 
on their statements of financial position.

	 Financial liabilities at amortised cost

	 After initial recognition, carrying amounts are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised 
as well as through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into 
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the 
EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statements of profit or loss.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.8	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

4.8.2	 Financial liabilities (cont’d)

	 Derecognition

	 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled 
or expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, 
such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in 
the statements of profit or loss.

4.8.3	 Offsetting of financial instruments

	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statements 
of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and 
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

4.9	 Inventories

	 Inventories comprise of food, beverages and other hotel supplies, land held for development, property 
development costs and completed properties held for sale.

4.9.1	 Leisure and hospitality

	 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. When necessary, allowance is 
made for deteriorated, obsolete and slow-moving inventories.

	 Cost of food and beverages and other hotel supplies are determined using the weighted average 
method. The cost of inventories comprises the original cost of purchase plus the cost of bringing 
the inventories to their present location and condition.

	 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less any 
estimated cost necessary to make the sale.

	 In estimating net realisable values, management takes into account the most reliable evidence 
available at the times the estimates are made.

4.9.2	 Land held for development and property development costs

	 Land held for property development is defined as land on which development is not expected 
to be completed within the normal operating cycle. Usually, no significant development work 
would have been undertaken on these lands. Accordingly, land held for property development is 
classified as non-current assets on the statement of financial position and is stated at cost plus 
incidental expenditure incurred to put the land in a condition ready for development.

	 Land on which development has commenced and is expected to be completed within the normal 
operating cycle is included in property development costs. Property development costs comprise 
all costs that are directly attributable to development activities or that can be allocated on a 
reasonable basis to such activities.

	 Property development costs not recognised as an expense are recognised as an asset measured 
at lower of cost and net realisable value. The asset is subsequently credited over to profit or loss 
and recognised as an expense when the control of the asset is transferred to the customer. 
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.9	 Inventories (cont’d)

4.9.2	 Land held for development and property development costs (cont’d)

	 The Group recognises in profit or loss the property development revenue and costs by reference 
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation at the reporting 
date. It is measured based on direct measurements of the value transferred by the Group to the 
customers and the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the performance obligation. 

4.9.3	 Completed properties held for sale

	 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. When necessary, allowance 
is made for deteriorated, obsolete and slow-moving inventories.

	 The cost of unsold properties consists of the direct costs of construction and proportionate 
land and development costs.

	 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less any 
estimated cost necessary to make the sale.

4.10	 Revenue from contracts with customers

4.10.1	 Revenue recognition

	 Revenue is recognised when or as a performance obligation in the contract with customer is 
satisfied, i.e. when the “control” of the goods or services underlying the particular performance 
obligation is transferred to the customer.

	 A performance obligation is a promise to transfer a distinct goods or service (or a series of 
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and that have the same pattern of 
transfer) to the customer that is explicitly stated in the contract and implied in the Group’s 
customary business practices.

	 Revenue is measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled 
in exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to the customer, excluding amounts 
collected on behalf of third parties such as sales taxes and service taxes. 

	 If the amount of consideration varies due to discounts, rebates, refunds, credits, incentives, 
penalties or other similar items, the Group estimates the amount of consideration to which it 
will be entitled based on the expected value or the most likely outcome. If the contract with 
customer contains more than one performance obligation, the amount of consideration is 
allocated to each performance obligation based on the relative stand-alone selling prices of the 
goods or services promised in the contract.

	 The revenue is recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the 
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainty associated with 
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

	 The control of the promised goods or services may be transferred over time or at a point in time. 
Revenue for performance obligation that is not satisfied over time is recognised at the point in 
time at which the customer obtains control of the promised goods or services. 
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.10	 Revenue from contracts with customers (cont’d)

4.10.1	 Revenue recognition (cont’d)

	 The control over the goods or services is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over 
time if:

•	 the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s 
performance as the Group performs;

•	 the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the 
asset is created or enhanced; or

•	 the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use and the Group has 
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

4.10.2	 Revenue from property development

	 The Group recognises revenue from property development over time if it creates an asset with no 
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance 
completed to date. Revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the 
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. The progress towards 
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation is measured based on the Group’s efforts 
or inputs to the satisfaction of the performance obligation (e.g. by reference to the property 
development costs incurred to date as a percentage of the estimated total development costs 
of the contract, i.e. the stage of completion).

	 Revenue from property development is measured based on the transaction price net of expected 
variable consideration due to discounts, rebates, refunds, credits, incentives, penalties, liquidated 
ascertained damages or other similar items. 

	 Revenue from sales of completed properties is recognised upon delivery of properties where the 
control of the properties has passed to the buyers.

	 Where the outcome of a development cannot be reasonably estimated, revenue is recognised to 
the extent of property development costs incurred that is probable will be recoverable, and the 
property development costs on the development units sold shall be recognised as an expense 
in the period in which they are incurred.

	 When it is probable that total costs will exceed total revenue, the foreseeable loss is immediately 
recognised in the profit or loss irrespective of whether development work has commenced or 
not, or of the stage of completion of development activity, or of the amounts of profits expected 
to arise on other unrelated development projects. 

4.10.3	 Revenue from construction contracts

	 The Group constructs residential and commercial properties under long‑term contracts 
with customers. Such contracts are entered into before construction of the residential and 
commercial properties begins. Under the terms of the contracts, the Group is contractually 
restricted from redirecting the properties to another customer and has an enforceable right to 
payment for work done. Revenue from construction of residential and commercial properties is 
therefore recognised over time on a cost to cost method, i.e. based on the proportion of contract 
costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs. The 
Directors consider that this input method is an appropriate measure of the progress towards 
complete satisfaction of these performance obligations under MFRS 15. 
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.10	 Revenue from contracts with customers (cont’d)

4.10.4	 Revenue from vacation time share activities

	 In respect of the revenue recognition on the sales of vacation time-share memberships, the 
performance obligation is viewed to be satisfied over the tenure of each membership and hence, 
the revenue from the sale of these memberships are recognised on a straight-line basis over 
their respective tenures.

4.10.5	 Leisure and hospitality

	 Revenue is recognised upon sales of goods and/or performance of services.

	 Hotel room voucher is consideration received from the sale of voucher and the voucher 
issued that are expected to be redeemed. The consideration allocated to the voucher issued is 
measured at fair value of the hotel room rate. It is recognised as a liability (contract liability) in 
the statement of financial position and recognised as revenue when the vouchers are redeemed, 
have expired or are no longer expected to be redeemed. The amount of revenue recognised 
is based on the number of vouchers that have been redeemed, relative to the total voucher 
expected to be redeemed.

4.10.6	 Other revenue

	 Finance income is recognised on time proportion basis, by references to the principal outstanding 
and at interest rate applicable.

	 Rental income is recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term.

4.10.7	 Contract assets, contract liabilities and contract costs

	 Contract assets

	 A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to 
the customer. If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the 
customer pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the 
earned consideration that is conditional. In the case of property development and construction 
contracts, contract asset is the excess of cumulative revenue recognised in the profit or loss 
over the billings to date. Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment in accordance 
of MFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

	 Contract liabilities

	 A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the 
Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If 
a customer pays consideration before the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a 
contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is 
earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs its obligation 
under the contract. In the case of property development and construction contracts, contract 
liability is the excess of billings to customers over revenue recognised in the profit or loss.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.10	 Revenue from contracts with customers (cont’d)

4.10.7	 Contract assets, contract liabilities and contract costs (cont’d)

	 Contract costs for property development

	 The Group has recognised an asset in respect of sales commissions and legal fee on loan 
incurred to secure property development contracts. These costs are incremental costs that 
would not have been incurred by the Group if the respective contracts have not been obtained. 
The Group expects to recover these costs in the future through property development revenue 
earned from the customer. Accordingly, the contract costs are charged out to profit or loss when 
the related revenue is being recognised.

	 An impairment is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the 
contract cost recognised exceeds the remaining amount of consideration that the Company 
expects to receive for the specific contract that the costs relate to (after deducting additional 
costs required to be incurred in relation to the contracts).

	 Contract costs for construction contracts

	 The contract costs consist of costs incurred for direct labours, direct materials and other related 
costs in order to fulfil a contract. The contract costs are capitalised when the cost incurred are 
relate directly to contracts or to an anticipated contracts that can specifically identify; the costs 
generate or enhance resources of the Group that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing 
to satisfy) performance obligations in the future; and the costs are expected to be recovered. 
These costs are charged out to profit or loss when the related revenue is being recognised.

4.11	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, bank balances, bank overdrafts and highly liquid 
investments which are readily convertible to known amount of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

	 Bank overdrafts are shown in current liabilities in the SOFP.

	 Cash and cash equivalents restricted to be used to settle a liability of 12 months or more after the 
reporting date are classified as non-current assets.

4.12	 Provisions

	 Provisions are recognised when there is a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated 
reliably, as a result of a past event, when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

	 Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is 
no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the 
provision is reversed. Where the effect of the time of money is material, provisions are discounted using 
a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting 
is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.12	 Provisions (cont’d)

4.12.1	 Onerous contracts

	 If the Group has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation under the contract is recognised 
and measured as a provision. However, before a separate provision for an onerous contract is 
established, the Group recognises any impairment loss that has occurred on assets dedicated 
to that contract.

	 An onerous contract is a contract under which the unavoidable costs (i.e., the costs that the 
Group cannot avoid because it has the contract) of meeting the obligations under the contract 
exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it. The unavoidable costs under a 
contract reflect the least net cost of exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the cost of 
fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it. The cost of fulfilling 
a contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract (i.e., both incremental costs 
and an allocation of costs directly related to contract activities).

4.13	 Leases

4.13.1	 Accounting policies applied from 1 April 2020

	 The Group and the Company assess at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains 
a lease, that is, if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration.

	 As a lessee

	 The Group and the Company apply a single recognition and measurement approach for all 
leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group and the Company 
recognise lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right 
to use the underlying assets.

	 Right-of-use assets

	 The Group and the Company recognise right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the 
lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured 
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease 
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred and lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated 
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the 
assets, as follows:

•	 Long term leasehold land	 88-99 years
•	 Long term leasehold buildings	 2%
•	 Motor vehicles	 20%
•	 Plant and machinery	 33%

	 If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group and the Company at the end of the lease 
term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the 
estimated useful life of the asset. 

	 The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment test as set out in Note 4.7 to the financial 
statements.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.13	 Leases (cont’d)

4.13.1	 Accounting policies applied from 1 April 2020 (cont’d)

	 As a lessee (cont’d)

	 Right-of-use assets (cont’d)

	 On the statements of financial position, right-of-use assets have been included in property, plant 
and equipment. For right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment properties are 
classified under investment properties in accordance with MFRS 140 as stated in Note 4.4 to 
the financial statements.

	 Lease liabilities

	 At the commencement date of the lease, the Group and the Company recognise lease liabilities 
measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease 
payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease 
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts 
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the 
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and the 
Company and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the 
Group and the Company exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not 
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce 
inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

	 In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group and the Company use their 
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit 
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease 
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments 
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, 
a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g. changes to future payments 
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change 
in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

	 Short-term leases

	 The Group and the Company apply the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term 
leases (i.e. those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement 
date and do not contain a purchase option). Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised 
as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

4.13.2	 Accounting policies applied until 31 March 2020

	 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance 
of the arrangement at the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if 
fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset (or assets) or the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an 
arrangement.

	 As a lessee

	 A lease is classified at the inception date as a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease that 
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the Group or the 
Company is classified as a finance lease.
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4.13	 Leases (cont’d)

4.13.2	 Accounting policies applied until 31 March 2020 (cont’d)

	 Finance leases

	 Management applies judgement in considering the substance of a lease agreement and whether 
it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased asset. 
Key factors considered include the length of the lease term in relation to the economic life of the 
asset, the present value of the minimum lease payments in relation to the asset’s fair value, and 
whether the Group or the Company obtain ownership of the asset at the end of the lease term.  

	 Finance leases are capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the inception date fair 
value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability 
so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 
charges are recognised in finance costs in the statements of profit or loss. 

	 A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable 
certainty that the Group or the Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the 
asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term. 

	 Operating leases

	 All other leases are treated as operating leases. Payments on operating lease agreements are 
recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Associated costs, such as 
maintenance and insurance are expensed as incurred.

4.14	 Equity and reserves

	 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Company or 
its subsidiary companies after deducting all of their respective liabilities. Ordinary shares and warrants 
are equity instruments.

	 Proceeds from the issuance of warrants, net of issue costs, are credited to warrants reserve. This 
reserve is non-distributable and will be transferred to share capital upon the exercise of warrants. The 
warrants reserve in relation to unexercised warrants at the expiry of the warrants will be transferred to 
retained earnings.

	 The revaluation reserves within equity comprises gains and losses due to the revaluation of property, 
plant, and equipment.

	 Retained earnings include all current year’s loss and prior periods’ retained profits.

	 All transactions with owners of the Company are recorded separately within equity.

	 When share capital recognised as equity is bought-back, the amount of the consideration paid, including 
directly attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Purchased 
shares that are not subsequently cancelled are classified as treasury shares.

	 When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the difference between the sales consideration 
net of directly attributable costs and the carrying amount of the treasury shares is recognised in equity.
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4.15	 Borrowing costs

	 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 
are capitalised during the period of time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its 
intended use or sale. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the 
asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred. 
Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use or 
sale.

	 Other borrowing costs are expensed in the financial year/period in which they are incurred. Borrowing 
costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group incurred in connection with the borrowing of 
funds.

4.16	 Non-current asset held for sale

	 Non-current asset that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing 
use are classified as held for sale.

	 Classification of the asset as held for sale occurs only when the asset is available for immediate sale 
in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary and the sale must be highly 
probable. Management must be committed to a plan to sell the asset which are expected to qualify 
for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification. Action required to 
complete the plan should indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan will be made or 
the plan will be withdrawn. 

	 Immediately before classification as held for sale, the asset is remeasured in accordance with the 
Group’s accounting policies. Thereafter, the asset is generally measured at the lower of their carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

	 Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains or losses on 
remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss. Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative 
impairment loss.

	 Property, plant and equipment once classified as held for sale are not amortised or depreciated.

4.17	 Employees benefits

4.17.1	 Short-term benefits

	 Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as expenses in 
the financial year/period in which the associated services are rendered by the employees of 
the Group. Short-term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are 
recognised when services are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future 
compensated absences, and short-term non-accumulating compensated absences such as 
sick leave are recognised when the absences occurred.

4.17.2	 Defined contribution plans

	 Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed 
contributions into independent entities of funds and will have no legal or constructive obligation 
to pay further contribution if any of the funds do not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee 
benefits relating to employee services in the current financial year and preceding financial 
periods.

	 Such contributions are recognised as expenses in profit or loss as incurred. As required by 
Malaysian law, the Company and its subsidiary companies, all of which were incorporated in 
Malaysia, make such contributions to the Employees Provident Fund.
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4.18	 Tax expenses

	 Tax expenses comprise current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or 
loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive 
income.

4.18.1	 Current tax

	 Income tax on the profit or loss for the financial period comprises current and deferred tax. 
Current tax expense is the expected amount of income taxes payable in respect of the taxable 
profit for the financial period and are measured using the tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date.

4.18.2	 Deferred tax

	 Deferred tax liabilities and assets are provided for under the liability method at the current tax 
rate that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date in respect of all 
temporary differences at the reporting date between the carrying amount of an asset or liability 
in the SOFP and its tax base including unused tax losses and capital allowances.

	 Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised. The 
carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date. If it is no longer 
probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be available to allow the benefit of part or 
that entire deferred tax assets to be utilised, the carrying amount of the deferred tax assets will 
be reduced accordingly. When it becomes probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be 
available, such reductions will be reversed to the extent of the future taxable profits.

	 The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of 
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, except for land and buildings carried at 
revalued amounts and investment properties carried at fair values. Where land and buildings 
are carried at their revalued amounts and investment properties carried at their fair values in 
accordance with the accounting policies set out in Notes 4.3 and 4.4 to the financial statements 
respectively, the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax rates that would 
apply on sale of those assets at their carrying values at the reporting date unless the properties 
are depreciable and are held with the objective to consume substantially all of the economic 
benefits embodied in the properties over time, rather than through sale.

	 Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it arises from a transaction which is 
recognised directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also charged or credited directly 
in equity.

4.19	 Operating segments

	 An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it 
may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenue and expenses that relate to transactions with 
any of the Group’s other components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly 
by the chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment 
and to assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

4.20	 Contingencies

	 Where it is not probable that an inflow or an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount 
cannot be estimated reliably, the asset or the obligation is not recognised in the SOFPs and is disclosed 
as a contingent asset or contingent liability, unless the probability of inflow or outflow of economic 
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or 
non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent assets or contingent 
liabilities unless the probability of inflow or outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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5.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

Analysis of land and buildings

					     Long term
				    Freehold	 leasehold	
Company 			   land	 buildings	 Total
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Valuation
At 1 October 2018			   41,405	 1,270	 42,675
Transfer to investment properties			   (41,405)	 (1,270)	 (42,675)

At 31 March 2020/31 March 2021			   –	 –	 –

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 October 2018			   –	 58	 58
Charge for the financial period			   –	 16	 16
Transfer to investment properties			   –	 (74)	 (74)

At 31 March 2020/31 March 2021			   –	 –	 –

Net carrying amount
At 31 March 2020/31 March 2021			   –	 –	 –

	 Freehold land, leasehold land and buildings including work-in-progress of the Group with net carrying amount 
of RM305,597,000 (2020: RM296,155,000) have been charged to licensed banks to secure banking facilities 
granted to the Group and the Company. The details of these banking facilities are disclosed in Note 23 to the 
financial statements.

	 Included in the construction work-in-progress of the Group is interest expenses of RM2,378,000 (2020: 
RM8,716,000) capitalised during the financial year/period.

	 The construction work-in progress of the Group has also been slowed down by the COVID-19 pandemic and 
the Group plans to fund and complete the construction work in progress from its internal generated fund. The 
Group will also seek the supports of bankers and business associates for the necessary extra funding.

	 Information on right-of-use assets are as follows:

				    Carrying	 Current
				    amount 	 depreciation 	 Addition
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Group
2021
Long term leasehold land			   100,126	 1,186	 5,600*
Long term leasehold buildings			   254,238	 5,897	 2,233
Motor vehicles			   227	 226	 –
Plant and machinery			   728	 301	 –

Total right-of-use assets			   355,319	 7,610	 7,833

*	 Addition in long term leasehold land is a transfer from property development costs during the financial 
year.

	 The right-of-use assets are included in the same items as where the corresponding underlying asset would be 
presented if they were owned. 
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5.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

	 The net carrying amounts of assets held under finance lease arrangements in prior period were as follows:
							     

					     Group
						      2020
						      RM’000

Motor vehicles					     610
Plant and machinery					     1,029

	 In prior financial period, impairment loss on property, plant and equipment amounted to RM3,891,000 being 
recognised to represent its current state as the management was in the view that the economic performance 
of the property, plant and equipment and the market conditions will be worst than expected which resulted to 
temporary cessation of the Langkawi Nature Park’s operations. 

	 Revaluation of freehold and leasehold land and buildings

	 The Group’s freehold and leasehold land and buildings are stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair 
values at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

	 The Company engages external, independent and qualified valuer to determine the fair value of the freehold 
and leasehold land and buildings of the Group and of the Company in September 2019.

	 The fair value of the Group’s and Company’s freehold and leasehold land and buildings have been arrived 
at on the basis of a valuation carried by a firm of independent professional valuers, who have appropriate 
professional qualification and recent experience in the relevant location and assets being valued. The 
revaluation surplus net of applicable deferred tax was credited to other comprehensive income and is shown 
in “Revaluation Reserve” under the equity.

	 Freehold and leasehold land and buildings as at 31 March 2021 are stated at fair value based on an assessment 
by the Board of Directors (“BOD”) by reference to the full valuations carried out by registered independent 
valuers in September 2019 who having appropriate recognised professional qualification. The fair value 
represents the amount at which the properties could be exchanged on an open market basis between a 
knowledgeable willing buyer and a knowledgeable willing seller on an arm’s length basis at the reporting date.

	 In view of the above and taking into account current market conditions, the BOD assessed that the existing 
book values of the freehold and leasehold land and buildings as at 31 March 2021 (“Book Values”) were not 
materiality different from the valuation performed and are fair. Hence, Book Values were not adjusted and 
were taken to represent the fair values of the freehold and leasehold land and buildings at the same date.

	 Level 2 fair value

	 Fair values of freehold and leasehold land were derived by using the Comparison and Cost Method of 
Valuation.

	 Fair values of freehold and leasehold buildings were derived by using the Comparison and Cost Method of 
Valuation.

	 Comparison Method of Valuation entails comparing the sales price of the properties in close proximity. Sales 
price of the properties are adjusted for differences in key attributes such as property size. The most significant 
input into this valuation approach is price per square foot of comparable properties. 
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5.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

	 Revaluation of freehold and leasehold land and buildings (cont’d)

	 Level 3 fair value

	 Fair value of certain leasehold buildings was derived by using the estimated replacement cost method. 

	 Under the estimated replacement cost method, the replacement cost of the building is derived from estimation 
of reproduction cost of similar new buildings based on current market prices for materials, labour and present 
construction techniques and deducting therefrom the accrued depreciation due to use and disrepair, age and 
obsolescence through technology and market changes. 

	 There have been no change in valuation methods during the financial year/period.

	 Fair value measurement of the freehold land, leasehold land and buildings are categorised as follows:

Group	 Level 2
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Recurring fair value measurements
Freehold land				    17,000	 17,000
Freehold land and buildings				    15,836	 18,706
Long term leasehold land				    100,126	 96,285
Long term leasehold buildings				    94,965	 105,963

		  Level 3
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Recurring fair value measurements
Long term leasehold buildings				    159,273	 163,260

	 Details of fair value measurements of level 3 are as follows:

Fair
value hierarchy

Valuation method and key 
inputs

Significant unobservable 
inputs

Relationship of unobservable 
inputs and fair value

3 Cost method which 
estimates the amount 
of reconstruction cost 
of the building based on 
current market prices net 
of depreciation.

Estimated replacement 
costs

The higher the estimated 
replacement costs, the higher 
the fair value.

	 There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the financial year/period.
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5.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

	 If freehold and leasehold land and buildings were measured using the historical cost model, the carrying 
amount would be as follows:

		  Group
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Freehold land				    3,464	 3,464

Freehold land and buildings				    15,836	 18,706

Long term leasehold land				    38,249	 32,281
Accumulated depreciation				    (2,114)	 (1,739)

Carrying amount				    36,135	 30,542

Long term leasehold buildings				    250,711	 258,942
Accumulated depreciation				    (40,372)	 (31,867)

Carrying amount				    210,339	 227,075

6.	 BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

		  Group
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Cost
At beginning of financial year/period				    3,989	 6,321
Additions				    35	 429
Disposals				    (1,013)	 –
Written off				    (400)	 (2,761)

At end of financial year/period				    2,611	 3,989

Accumulated depreciation
At beginning of financial year/period				    2,046	 2,610
Charge for the financial year/period				    315	 617
Disposals				    (520)	 –
Written off				    (268)	 (1,181)

At end of financial year/period				    1,573	 2,046

Accumulated impairment
At beginning of financial year/period				    366	 –
Charge for the financial year/period				    –	 366
Disposals				    (257)	 –

At end of financial year/period				    109	 366

Net carrying amount				    929	 1,577
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6.	 BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (CONT’D)

	 Biological assets represent living animal exhibits at the Group’s safari park at Bukit Gambang Resort City and 
at Langkawi Nature Park.

	 In prior financial period, impairment loss on biological assets amounted to RM366,000 being recognised to 
represent its current state as the management was in the view that the economic performance of the biological 
assets and the market conditions will be worse than expected which resulted to temporary cessation of the 
Langkawi Nature Park’s operations. 

7.	 INVENTORIES

		  Group
					     2021	 2020
				    Note	 RM’000	 RM’000

Non-current
Land held for property development             		  7.1	 150,066	 156,714

Current					   
Food, beverages and other hotel supplies				   440	 808
Property development costs                          		  7.2	 107,180	 170,823
Completed properties held for sale              		  7.3	 7,896	 11,518

					     115,516	 183,149

					     265,582	 339,863

7.1	 Land held for property development

		  Group
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

At beginning of financial year/period:
- freehold land, at cost				    19,200	 –
- leasehold land, at cost				    80,268	 33,547
- development costs				    57,246	 21,686

					     156,714	 55,233

Costs incurred during the financial year/period:
- freehold land, at cost				    –	 19,200
- leasehold land, at cost				    1,029	 457
- development costs				    8,425	 17,174
- transfer from investment properties			   –	 5,600
- transfer from property development costs			   –	 59,050
- transfer to property, plant and equipment			   (5,600)	 –
- cost recognised as expense during the financial year/period		  (4,856)	 –
- loss on remeasurement of land held for property development		  (5,646)	 –

At end of financial year/period				    150,066	 156,714
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7.2	 Property development costs

		  Group
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

At beginning of financial year/period:			 
- freehold land, at cost				    40,645	 36,808
- leasehold land, at cost				    120,426	 106,876
- development costs				    677,710	 632,985
- cost recognised as expenses in prior years			   (656,303)	 (572,992)
- transfer to completed properties in prior period			   (11,655)	 –

					     170,823	 203,677

Costs incurred during the financial year/period:
- freehold land, at cost				    2,430	 3,837
- leasehold land, at cost				    (36,767)	 42,862
- development costs				    22,762	 60,312
- cost recognised as expenses during the financial year/period		  (34,205)	 (83,311)
- transfer to completed properties				    (143)	 (11,655)
- transfer from property, plant and equipment			   –	 13,149
- transfer to land held for property development			   –	 (59,050)
- transfer from investment properties			   –	 1,002
- loss on remeasurement of property development costs		  (17,720)	 –

At end of financial year/period				    107,180	 170,823

	 Included in the land held for property development and property development costs is interest expenses 
of RM3,708,000 (2020: RM15,143,000) capitalised during the financial year/period.

	 The title deeds to the freehold land and leasehold land under land held for development and property 
development cost amounting to RM24,729,000 (2020: RM31,345,000) and RM35,000 (2020: RM764,000) 
respectively are registered in the name of third parties.

	 The freehold land and leasehold land under land held for development and property development 
cost amounting to RM76,830,000 (2020: RM92,442,000) and RM83,693,000 (2020: RM84,247,000) 
respectively are charged to licensed banks to secure the bank borrowings referred to in Note 23 to the 
financial statements.

7.3	 Completed properties held for sales

	 The title deeds for the completed properties held for sales totalling to RM363,000 (2020: RM603,000) 
are registered in the name of a third party.

	 The completed properties held for sales amounting to RM5,427,000 (2020: RM5,427,000) are charged to 
licensed banks to secure the bank borrowings referred to in Note 23 to the financial statements whereas 
Nil (2020: RM3,093,000) are charged to a third party to secure the allotment of redeemable preference 
shares of a subsidiary company.
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				    Freehold
			   Freehold	 land and	 Leasehold
Company		  land	 buildings	 buildings	 Total
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Fair value
At 1 October 2018		  –	 12,120	 –	 12,120
Fair value adjustments on investment
 properties		  5,699	 (120)	 800	 6,379
Transfer from property, plant and equipment	 41,405	 –	 1,196	 42,601

At 31 March 2020		  47,104	 12,000	 1,996	 61,100
Fair value adjustments on investment
 properties		  (7,774)	 –	 (996)	 (8,770)
Transfer to non-current assets held for sale	 –	 –	 (1,000)	 (1,000)

At 31 March 2021		  39,330	 12,000	 –	 51,330

	 The investment properties of the Group and of the Company with net carrying amounts of RM52,350,000 
(2020: RM62,120,000) and RM51,330,000 (2020: RM61,100,000) respectively are pledged to licensed banks 
to secure banking facilities granted to subsidiary companies. The details of these banking facilities are 
disclosed in Note 23 to the financial statements.

	 Included in the above are:

	 Group	 Company
			   2021	 2020	 2021	 2020
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

At fair value
Freehold land		  40,350	 48,120	 39,330	 47,104
Freehold land and buildings		  12,000	 12,000	 12,000	 12,000
Leasehold buildings		  –	 2,000	 –	 1,996

			   52,350	 62,120	 51,330	 61,100

At cost
Leasehold buildings		  558	 896	 –	 –
Long term leasehold land		  498	 806	 –	 –

			   53,406	 63,822	 51,330	 61,100

	 Fair value basis of investment properties

	 The fair value represents the amount at which the properties could be exchanged on an open market basis 
between a knowledgeable willing buyer and a knowledgeable willing seller on an arm’s length basis at the 
reporting date.

	 The fair values of the Group’s and the Company’s investment properties have been arrived at on the basis of 
valuations carried out by a firm of independent professional valuers on 31 March 2021 who have appropriate 
professional qualification and recent experience in the relevant location and assets being valued. The fair 
values of the investment properties were determined using the Comparison Method.
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8.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONT’D)

	 Fair value basis of investment properties (cont’d)

	 The Comparison Method entails comparing the property with comparable properties which have been sold 
or are being offered for sale and making adjustments for factors which affect value such as location and 
accessibility, size, building construction and finishes, building services, management and maintenance, age 
and state of repair, market condition and other relevant characteristics.

	 Fair value measurement of the investment properties are categorised as follows:

Group		  Level 2
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Recurring fair value measurement
Freehold land				    40,350	 48,120
Freehold land and buildings				    12,000	 12,000
Leasehold buildings				    –	 2,000

Company		  Level 2
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Recurring fair value measurement
Freehold land				    39,330	 47,104
Freehold land and buildings				    12,000	 12,000
Leasehold buildings				    –	 1,996

	 There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the financial year/period.

	 Investment properties at cost

	 Leasehold buildings and long term leasehold land are stated at cost due to an agreement signed with a local 
authority which obliged the Group to state the properties at cost.

	 Income and expenses recognised in profit or loss

	 Group	 Company
			   1.4.2020	 1.10.2018	 1.4.2020	 1.10.2018
			   to	 to	 to	 to
			   31.3.2021	 31.3.2020	 31.3.2021	 31.3.2020
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Rental income		  124	 122	 –	 –

Direct operating expenses:
- quit rent and assessment		  8	 19	 6	 14
- sinking fund		  –	 21	 –	 21

	 The leases of investment properties contain an initial non-cancellable period of 2 (2020: 3) years. Subsequent 
renewals are negotiated with the lessee and are renewed for further 1 to 2 (2020: 2 to 3) years. No contingent 
rents are charged.
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9.	 SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

(a)	 Investment in subsidiary companies

		  Company
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Unquoted shares - at cost
At beginning of financial year/period			   272,975	 270,475
Additions during the financial year/period			   –	 2,500

Accumulated impairment:
At beginning of financial year/period			   (850)	 –
Impairment loss during the financial year/period			   (6,100)	 (850)
			 
At end of the financial year/period				    (6,950)	 (850)

At end of financial year/period				    266,025	 272,125

	 Details of the subsidiary companies which principal place of business are in Malaysia, are as follows:

		  Effective equity	
Name of subsidiary company	 interest		  Principal activities
		  2021	 2020	
		  %	 %

Sentoria Property Service Sdn. Bhd. 	 100	 100	 Property development
Sentoria Bina Sdn. Bhd.	 100	 100	 General contractor
Sentoria Harta Sdn. Bhd.	 100	 100	 Property development
Sentoria Alam Sdn. Bhd.	 100	 100	 Property development
Sentoria Leisure Langkawi Sdn. Bhd.	 100	 100	 Nature park operator
Sentoria Alfa Sdn. Bhd.	 100	 100	 Property development and project 

			    management services
Sentoria Vacation Club Berhad	 100	 100	 Vacation club operator
Sentoria Morib Bay Sdn. Bhd.	 100	 100	 Yet to commence active operations
Sentoria Land Sdn. Bhd.	 100	 100	 Investment holding company
Sentoria Borneo Samariang Sdn. Bhd.	 100	 100	 Water park operator
Sentoria Borneo Land Sdn. Bhd.	 100	 100	 Property development
Sentoria Themeparks and Resorts.	 100	 100	 Hotel, water park, safari park 

Sdn. Bhd			    operator and investment holding
Sentoria Projects Sdn. Bhd.	 100	 100	 General contractor
Ataria Asia Sdn. Bhd. 	 100	 100	 Hospitality operator
Sentoria Langkawi Sdn. Bhd.	 75	 75	 Theme park operator and property 

			    development
Sentoria Utara Sdn. Bhd.	 75	 75	 Property development
Sentoria IBS Sdn. Bhd.	 100	 100	 General contractor
Active Academy Sdn. Bhd.	 100	 100	 Yet to commence active operations
			 
Subsidiary companies of Sentoria Themeparks and Resorts Sdn. Bhd.
Blue Sky Leisure Sdn. Bhd.	 100	 100	 Travel agent
Star Wholesale Sdn. Bhd.	 100	 100	 Wholesaler and general merchant



  Annual Report 2021        |        99      >

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

– 31 MARCH 2021

9.	 SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D)

(b)	 Amounts due from/to subsidiary companies

		  Company
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Amount due from subsidiary companies
Non-trade				    184,231	 178,274
			 
Accumulated impairment:
At beginning of financial year/period			   –	 –
Impairment loss during the financial year/period			   (45,426)	 –
			 
At end of the financial year/period				    (45,426)	 –

At end of financial year/period				    138,805	 178,274

Amount due to subsidiary companies
Non-trade				    103,593	 96,026

The amounts due from/to subsidiary companies are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. 

(c)	 Non-controlling interests (“NCI”) in subsidiary companies

Group

The Group’s subsidiary companies that have material non-controlling interests are as follows:

				    Sentoria	 Sentoria	
				    Utara	 Langkawi	
2021				   Sdn. Bhd.	 Sdn. Bhd.	 Total
Percentage of ownership interest and
 voting interest held by NCI as at end
 of financial year			   25%	 25%	
			 
Carrying amount of NCI (RM’000)			   (7,841)	 (1,768)	 (9,609)

Loss allocated to NCI (RM’000)			   (8,297)	 (1,244)	 (9,541)

2020
Percentage of ownership interest and
 voting interest held by NCI as at end
 of financial period			   25%	 25%	
			 
Carrying amount of NCI (RM’000)			   456	 (524)	 (68)

Loss allocated to NCI (RM’000)			   (28)	 (991)	 (1,019)
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9.	 SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D)

(c)	 Non-controlling interests (“NCI”) in subsidiary companies (cont’d)

	 The summary of financial information before intra-group elimination of the Group’s subsidiary companies 
that have non-controlling interests are as below:

(i)	 Sentoria Utara Sdn. Bhd.

					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Financial position as at reporting date
Current assets				    43,669	 73,072
Current liabilities				    (75,035)	 (71,251)

Net (liabilities)/assets				    (31,366)	 1,821

Summary of financial performance for the
 financial year/period ended 31 March			 
Net loss/total comprehensive loss for the
 financial year/period				    (33,187)	 (112)

Summary of cash flows for the financial
 year/period ended 31 March			 
Net cash used in operating activities 			   (100)	 (5,901)
Net cash from financing activities 			   101	 5,884

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		  1	 (17)

(ii)	 Sentoria Langkawi Sdn. Bhd.

					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Financial position as at reporting date 			 
Non-current assets				    77,915	 79,859
Current assets				    57	 55
Current liabilities				    (85,041)	 (82,007)

Net liabilities				    (7,069)	 (2,093)

Summary of financial performance for the
 financial year/period ended 31 March	 		
Net loss/total comprehensive loss for the
 financial year/period				    (4,976)	 (3,962)

Summary of cash flows for the financial
 year/period ended 31 March
Net cash used in operating activities 			   (38)	 (7,512)
Net cash from investing activities 			   42	 5,016
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities 			   (4)	 2,289

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents			   –	 (207)
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10.	 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

Deferred tax assets

		  Group
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000
Cost
At beginning of financial year/period				    43,980	 60,667
Transferred to profit or loss 				    (23,143)	 (16,809)
Transferred from other comprehensive income			   –	 122

At end of financial year/period				    20,837	 43,980

The deferred tax assets are made up of tax impact on temporary differences arising from:

		  Group
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Carrying amount of qualifying property, plant and
 equipment in excess of their tax base				    (21,130)	 (20,820)
Unabsorbed business losses				    –	 1,607
Unutilised capital allowances				    20,096	 19,485
Unutilised investment tax allowances				    26,448	 51,498
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment			   (4,577)	 (7,790)

					     20,837	 43,980

Deferred tax liabilities

	 Group	 Company
			   2021	 2020	 2021	 2020
			   RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

At beginning of financial year/period		  3,433	 4,517	 4,402	 1,970
Transferred to/(from) profit or loss 		  13	 (3,506)	 (610)	 650
Recognised in other comprehensive income	 –	 2,422	 –	 1,782

At end of financial year/period		  3,446	 3,433	 3,792	 4,402
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10.	 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

	 Deferred tax liabilities (cont’d)

	 The deferred tax liabilities are made up of tax impact on temporary differences arising from:

	 Group	 Company
			   2021	 2020	 2021	 2020
			   RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

Carrying amount of qualifying property, plant
 and equipment in excess of their tax base	 185	 186	 –	 –
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment	 1,361	 1,866	 –	 –
Revaluation of investment properties		  3,808	 4,418	 3,792	 4,402
Other temporary differences		  (1,908)	 (3,037)	 –	 –

			   3,446	 3,433	 3,792	 4,402

11.	 GOODWILL ON CONSOLIDATION

		  Group
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000
					   

At beginning/end of financial year/period				   3	 3

12.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES

	 Group	 Company
			   2021	 2020	 2021	 2020
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Non-current
Trade debtors		  –	 293	 –	 –

Current
Trade debtors		  43,796	 34,870	 84	 84
Retention sums		  8,370	 11,543	 –	 –

			   52,166	 46,413	 84	 84

Accumulated Impairment
At beginning of financial year/period 		  (365)	 (117)	 (84)	 (84)
Recognised during the financial year/period	 –	 (248)	 –	 –

At end of the financial year/period		  (365)	 (365)	 (84)	 (84)

			   51,801	 46,048	 –	 –

Total			  51,801	 46,341	 –	 –

	 The normal trade credit terms granted by the Group range from 1 day to 2 years (2020: 1 day to 5 years).
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13.	 OTHER RECEIVABLES

	 Group	 Company
			   2021	 2020	 2021	 2020
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Non-current
Non-trade receivables		  –	 6,096	 –	 –

Current
Non-trade receivables		  55,239	 48,739	 161	 154
Deposits		  11,650	 16,064	 31	 51
Prepayments		  13,606	 4,926	 3	 3
GST recoverable		  360	 598	 –	 –

			   80,855	 70,327	 195	 208

Accumulated Impairment
At beginning of financial year/period		  (2,070)	 –	 –	 –
Recognised during the financial year/period	 (11,878)	 (2,070)	 –	 –
Bad debt written off		  1,489	 –	 –	 –
Reversal of impairment loss no longer
 required		  581	 –	 –	 –

At end of the financial year/period		  (11,878)	 (2,070)	 –	 –

			   68,977	 68,257	 195	  208

Total			  68,977	 74,353	 195	 208

	 The reversal of impairment loss no longer required represent the amount recovered from debtors previously 
impaired.

	 Included in the other receivables is an amount of RM17,278,000 (2020: RM21,096,000) due from a customer 
of which the Group has utilised the Company’s banking facility granted by a licensed bank to finance on the 
customer’s projects which have been awarded to the Group, as part of the project arrangement.  This banking 
facility is also secured against the legal charges over assets of the customer and debenture on the customer 
as disclosed in Note 23 to the financial statements.

	 Included in the deposits is the security deposits paid to the customer in relation to secure the construction 
contracts granted to the Group amounting to RM7,668,000 (2020: RM12,754,000).

	 Included in prepayments is an amount of RM9,241,000 (2020: Nil) paid to certain suppliers as an advance 
deposit to the suppliers.
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14.	 CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

		  Group
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

	 Contract assets/(liabilities) arising from:

(i)	 Construction contracts
	 At beginning of financial year/period			   (42,291)	 38,474
	 Revenue recognised during the financial year/period		  12,997	 59,962
	 Progress billings issued during the financial year/period		  (17,736)	 (140,727)

	 At end of financial year/period				    (47,030)	 (42,291)

 (ii)	 Property development
	 At beginning of financial year/period			   37,221	 39,811
	 Revenue recognised during the financial year/period		  17,168	 86,836
	 Progress billings issued during the financial year/period		  (57,847)	 (89,426)
	 Impairment loss on contract assets				   (3,279)	 –

	 At end of financial year/period				    (6,737)	 37,221

(iii)	 Rental guarantee scheme
	 At beginning of financial year/period			   (1,259)	 –
	 Progress billings issued during the financial year/period		  –	 (1,259)
	 Reversal during the financial year/period			   1,259	 –

	 At end of financial year/period				    –	 (1,259)

(iv)	 Unutilised hotel room vouchers
	 At beginning of financial year/period			   (1,546)	 –
	 Additional during the financial year/period			   –	 (1,546)

	 At end of financial year/period				    (1,546)	 (1,546)

(v)	 Vacation club membership
	 At beginning of financial year/period			   (864)	 –
	 Additional during the financial year/period			   (23)	 (943)
	 Revenue recognised during the financial year/period		  223	 79

	 At end of financial year/period				    (664)	 (864)

	 Total				    (55,977)	 (8,739)

Presented as:
Contract assets 				    9,484	 17,399
Less: Impairment loss				    (3,279)	 –

					     6,205	 17,399
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14.	 CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (CONT’D)

		  Group
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000
			 

Presented as (cont’d):
Contract liabilities 			 
-  non current				    (525)	 (695)
-  current				    (61,657)	 (25,443)

					     (62,182)	 (26,138)

					     (55,977)	 (8,739)

	 Included in the above are interest expenses of RM68,000 (2020: RM3,357,000) capitalised during the financial 
year/period.

	 The significant decreased in contract assets is the result of more billings were issued to customers in respect 
of work already performed. The significant increase in contract liabilities is the result of milestone billings to 
customer where higher than revenue recognised for property development.

	 In prior financial period, contract liabilities arising from rental guarantee scheme increased as a result of 
combination of contracts due to the rental guarantee scheme are negotiated as a package with a single 
commercial objective which formed part of the contract arising from property development activities. The 
rental guarantee scheme has been terminated during the financial year.

	 Contract liabilities arising from unutilised hotel room vouchers are recognised as revenue when the vouchers 
are utilised by customers, which is expected to occur over next one year.

	 Contract liabilities arising from vacation club membership refer to advance payment from customers for the 
membership and the revenue are expected to be recognised within 19 (2020: 19) years when the performance 
obligations are fulfilled subsequently.

15.	 CONTRACT COSTS

		  Group
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000
					   

Contract costs for property development				   887	 669
Contract costs for construction contracts			   7,550	 4,749

					     8,437	 5,418

	 Contract costs for property development comprises the following costs which were resulted from obtaining 
contracts:

-	 sales commission paid to intermediaries; and
-	 expenses borne on behalf of customers (i.e. legal fees and other expenses).

	 Sales commission paid to intermediaries are amortised to cost of sales when the related revenues are 
recognised.

	 Expenses borne on behalf of customers are considered as consideration payable to customers and are 
amortised against revenue when the related revenues are recognised.
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15.	 CONTRACT COSTS (CONT’D)

	 Contract costs for construction consist of costs incurred for direct labours, direct materials and other related 
costs in order to fulfil a contract. These costs are charged out to profit or loss when the related revenue is 
being recognised.

	 During the financial year/period, RM44,000 (2020: RM67,000) was amortised to cost of sales and RM837,000 
(2020: RM1,439,000) was amortised against revenue.

16.	 FIXED DEPOSITS WITH LICENSED BANKS

	 Group

	 The fixed deposits with licensed banks are pledged to licensed banks for banking facilities granted to a 
subsidiary company and bore interest at rates ranging from 1.05% to 2.50% (2020: 3.00% to 3.45%) per annum.

17.	 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

	 Included in cash and bank balances of the Group are monies held under Housing Development Accounts 
pursuant to Section 7A of the Housing Development (Control and Licensing) Act, 1966 amounting to 
RM4,096,000 (2020: RM1,515,000).

	 Included in the cash and bank balances of the Group and of the Company is an amount of RM1,782,000 (2020: 
RM1,782,000) being minimum balance required in the Deposit Service Reserve Account (“DSRA”) for loans 
purposes.

18.	 NON-CURRENT ASSET HELD FOR SALE

		  Group and Company
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000
					   

Leasehold building				    1,000	 –

	 On 31 March 2021, the Group and the Company entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement with a third party 
for the disposal of leasehold building for a total cash consideration of RM1,000,000. The transaction has yet 
to be completed as at reporting date.

 

19.	 SHARE CAPITAL

		  Group and Company
	 Number of shares	 Amount

			   2021	 2020	 2021	 2020
			   Unit’000	 Unit’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Issued and paid-up ordinary shares with
 no par value:
At beginning of financial year/period		  567,278	 567,266	 161,778	 161,771
Issued pursuant to the exercise of Warrants-A 	 –	 12	 –	 7

At end of financial year/period		  567,278	 567,278	 161,778	 161,778
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19.	 SHARE CAPITAL (CONT’D)

	 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All 
ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restrictions at the Company’s shareholders’ meetings and 
rank pari passu with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

	 In prior financial period, the Company increased its issued and paid-up ordinary share from RM161,771,482 
to RM161,778,379 by issuance of 12,100 new ordinary shares via exercise of Warrants-A pursuant to the 
Warrants-A Deed Poll of 27 March 2014 at an exercise price of 57 sen per share.

	 The new ordinary shares issued in prior financial period rank pari passu in all respects with the existing 
ordinary shares of the Company.

	 Warrants-A

	 The main features of Warrants-A which were issued as bonus warrants on 16 April 2014 and admitted to 
the Official List and quoted on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on 21 April 2014, are as 
follows:

(a)	 each warrant entitles the registered holder at any time during the exercise period to subscribe for one 
new ordinary share in the Company at an exercise price of 60 sen. The exercise price of Warrants-A had 
been adjusted to 57 sen due to issuance of Warrants-B in prior year;

(b)	 the warrants shall be exercisable at any time within 5 years commencing on and including the date of 
the issuance of the warrants. Any warrants which are not exercised during the exercise period shall 
thereafter lapse and cease to be valid;

(c)	 the exercise price and the number of warrants is subject to adjustment in the event of alteration to the 
share capital of the Company in accordance with the provisions set out in the deed poll of 27 March 
2014; and

(d)	 all new ordinary shares to be issued arising from the exercise of the warrants shall rank pari passu in 
all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company except that such new ordinary shares 
shall not be entitled to any dividends, rights, allotments and other distributions on or prior to the date of 
allotment of the new ordinary shares arising from the exercise of the warrants.

	 All the unexercised Warrants-A had been lapsed and ceased to be valid after 15 April 2019. 

	 Warrants-B

	 The main features of Warrants-B which were issued on 9 January 2018 and admitted to the Official List and 
quoted on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on 12 January 2018, are as follows:

(a)	 each warrant entitles the registered holder at any time during the exercise period to subscribe for one 
new ordinary share in the Company at an exercise price of 60 sen;

(b)	 the warrants shall be exercisable at any time within 7 years commencing on and including the date of 
the issuance of the warrants. Any warrants which are not exercised during the exercise period shall 
thereafter lapse and cease to be valid;

(c)	 the exercise price and the number of warrants is subject to adjustment in the event of alteration to the 
share capital of the Company in accordance with the provisions set out in the deed poll of 15 November 
2018; and

(d)	 all new ordinary shares to be issued arising from the exercise of the warrants shall rank pari passu in 
all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company except that such new ordinary shares 
shall not be entitled to any dividends, rights, allotments and other distributions on or prior to the date of 
allotment of the new ordinary shares arising from the exercise of the warrants.

	 All 205,867,236 (2020: 205,867,236) Warrants-B remained outstanding as of the end of financial year/period.
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20.	 TREASURY SHARES

		  Group and Company
	 Number of shares	 Amount

			   2021	 2020	 2021	 2020
			   Unit’000	 Unit’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

At beginning of financial year/period		  9,597	 9,412	 5,962	 5,883
Bought		  –	 185	 –	 79

At end of financial year/period		  9,597	 9,597	 5,962	 5,962

	 In prior financial period, the average price per share paid by the Company for the purchase of its own ordinary 
shares from the open market was 62.1 sen. The total consideration paid for the purchased shares including 
transaction costs was financed by internally generated funds. There was no purchase of its own ordinary 
shares during the financial year.

	 All purchased shares were dealt with as treasury shares in accordance with Section 127 of the Companies Act 
2016. There was no cancellation or reissuance of treasury shares during the financial year/period.

	 As at the end of the financial year/period:

(a)	 out of the Company’s total 567,277,991 (2020: 567,277,991) issued ordinary shares, 9,596,900 (2020: 
9,596,900) are held as treasury shares by the Company; and

(b)	 the number of outstanding ordinary shares in issue after deducting those held as treasury shares is 
557,681,091 (2020: 557,681,091) ordinary shares.

	 The details of shares purchased and treasury shares sold by the Company in prior financial period were as 
follows:

		  2020
		  Number of		  Highest	 Lowest	 Average
		  shares	 Amount	 Price	 Price	 Price*
		  Unit’000	 RM’000	 RM	 RM	 RM

At beginning of financial period	 9,412	 5,883			   0.625
 Own shares bought:
  October 2018	 130	 56	 0.433	 0.428	 0.430
  November 2018	 55	 23	 0.418	 0.418	 0.418

At end of financial period	 9,597	 5,962			   0.621

*	 Includes stamp duty, brokerage, clearing fees and service tax, where applicable
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21.	 REVALUATION RESERVE

	 Group	 Company
			   2021	 2020	 2021	 2020
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Non-distributable:
At beginning of financial year/period		  80,097	 70,614	 33,767	 35,549
Surplus on revaluation of land and buildings	 –	 11,294	 –	 –
Crystallisation of revaluation reserve		  –	  (742)	 –	 –
Effect due to changes in tax rate		  –	 (1,069)	 –	 (1,782)
Disposal of property, plant and equipment	 (4,359)	 –	 –	 –

At end of financial year/period		  75,738	 80,097	 33,767	 33,767

22.	 WARRANT RESERVE

		  Group and Company
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Arising from Issuance of Warrants-B
At beginning/end of financial year/period				   51,467	 51,467

	 The details of Warrants-B are disclosed in Note 19 to the financial statements.

23.	 BORROWINGS (SECURED)

	 Group	 Company
			   2021	 2020	 2021	 2020
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Current
Lease liabilities		  1,813	 1,604	 –	 –
Bank overdrafts		  60,329	 55,099	 21,987	 20,518
Bankers’ acceptance		  27,496	 26,141	 –	 –
Revolving credit		  60,447	 57,136	 25,676	 24,000
Bridging loans		  11,610	 26,378	 –	 6,000
Term loans		  294,663	 226,650	 49,552	 45,141

			   456,358	 393,008	 97,215	 95,659

Non-current
Lease liabilities		  215	 891	 –	 –
Bridging loans		  6,098	 6,097	 6,098	 6,097
Term loans 		  –	 41,299	 –	 534

			   6,313	 48,287	 6,098	 6,631

			   462,671	 441,295	 103,313	 102,290
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23.	 BORROWINGS (SECURED) (CONT’D)

The above borrowings are secured by way of:

(i)	 pledge of fixed deposits with licensed banks (Note 16);
(ii)	 joint and several guarantees by certain Directors;
(iii)	 corporate guarantees by the Company for banking facilities granted to certain subsidiary companies;
(iv)	 corporate guarantees by certain subsidiary companies for banking facilities granted to the Company;
(v)	 legal charges over freehold land, long term leasehold land and buildings of the Company, subsidiary 

companies (Notes 5 and 8) and a customer;
(vi)	 assignment of contract proceeds from certain customers;
(vii)	 charges over the project bank accounts of a customer; and
(viii)	 debentures on certain projects undertaken by certain subsidiary companies and a customer.   

	 The bridging loans and term loans, and bank overdrafts bore interest at rates ranging from 0.50% to 2.50% 
(2020: 0.50% to 2.00%) per annum above the respective banks’ base lending rates or cost of funds.

	 Bankers’ acceptance bore interest rates ranging from 5.13% to 5.85% (2020: 5.13% to 5.85%) per annum.

	 Revolving credit bore interest at rates ranging from 1.50% to 2.50% (2020: 1.50% to 2.50%) per annum above 
the respective banks’ cost of funds.

	 The bridging loans and term loans of the Company are utilised by certain subsidiary companies.

	 The repayment terms of the term loans vary from monthly instalment or quarterly instalment.

	 The repayment terms of the bridging loans are by way of redemption from the proceeds of property units sold.

	 As disclosed in Notes 2 and 40.2 to the financial statements, during the financial year, the Group and the 
Company have been engaging with its existing lenders to restructure and reschedule its financing facilities to 
strengthen the financial position and ensure that the debts post restructuring are at a sustainable level.

	 On 27 August 2020, Corporate Debt Restructuring Committee (“CDRC”) under the purview of Bank Negara 
Malaysia had accepted the Group’s application for assistance to mediate with the lenders to restructure or 
renegotiate the respective financial facilities held by the Group and certain of its subsidiary companies in the 
aggregate sum of approximately RM461,000,000 as at 31 March 2021.

	 In term of this advisory, existing lenders are required to observe an informal standstill with immediate effect 
and withhold litigation proceedings against the Group. The Group are still negotiating with existing lenders to 
reschedule payment for the remaining outstanding borrowings.
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23.	 BORROWINGS (SECURED) (CONT’D)

	 Set out below are the movements of lease liabilities during the financial year:
	

						      Group
						      2021
						      RM’000
				  
At beginning of financial period					     2,495
Lease payments/cash outflow					     (467)
Lease interest					     146
Payment for lease interest					     (146)

At end of financial year					     2,028

Presented as:
- Current					     1,813
- Non-Current 					     215

						      2,028

	 The payment schedule of finance lease liabilities in prior period are as follows:

						      Group
						      2020
						      RM’000

Minimum lease payments
- within 1 year					     1,745
- after 1 year but not later than 5 years					     913

						      2,658
Interest in suspense					     (163)

Present value of finance lease liabilities	 				    2,495

Present value of finance lease liabilities
- within 1 year					     1,604
- after 1 year but not later than 5 years					     891

						      2,495

	 The lease liabilities are secured by the related underlying assets.

	 The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 35 to the financial statements.

	 With the exception of short-term leases, the Group has leases for equipment, machinery, motor vehicle, 
premises, staff quarters and hotel suites as disclosed in Note 29 to the financial statements.



<      112        |        Sentoria GROUP BERHAD [Registration No. : 199801007217 (463344-K)]

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
– 31 MARCH 2021

23.	 BORROWINGS (SECURED) (CONT’D)

	 Each lease generally imposes a restriction that, unless there is a contractual right for the Group to sublet 
the asset to another party, the right-of-use assets can only be used by the Group. Leases are either non-
cancellable or may only be cancelled by incurring a substantive termination fee. The Group is prohibited from 
selling or pledging the underlying leased assets as securities. 

	 The Group’s leasing activities by type of right-of-use assets are recognised in property, plant and equipment 
on the statements of financial position as disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements.

	 The effective interest rates of the lease liabilities are ranged from 2.28% to 3.57% (2020: 2.28% to 4.00%) per 
annum. 

24.	 OTHER PAYABLES

	 Group	 Company
		  Note	 2021	 2020	 2021	 2020
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Non-current
Provision of onerous contracts	 24.1	 1,789	 –	 –	 –

Current
Non-trade payables		  33,049	 33,720	 1,049	 1,102
Accruals		  31,595	 70,256	 2,123	 2,037
Advances received		  1,189	 1,255	 –	 –
SST payable		  –	 36	 –	 –
Provision of onerous contracts	 24.1	 7,542	 –	 –	 –

			   73,375	 105,267	 3,172	 3,139

			   75,164	 105,267	 3,172	 3,139

	 Included above are amounts of:

•	 Nil (2020: RM11,000,000) consists of Nil (2020: 11,000,000) redeemable preference shares issued to 
third party by a subsidiary company.

•	 Nil (2020: RM1,080,000) owing by a subsidiary company to a NCI.
•	 Nil (2020: RM37,500,000) is an owner’s entitlement fees payable to a joint venture party for joint venture 

development on the long term leasehold land as disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements.

	 All of the above amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

	 Included in the above, is an amount of approximately RM1,000,000, being the non-trade creditors of Sentoria 
Themeparks and Resorts Sdn. Bhd. (“STAR”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company who has applied to 
the High Court of Malaya at Kuala Lumpur pursuant to Sections 366 and Section 368 of the Companies Act 
2016 in order to formulate and finalise a proposed Scheme of Arrangement between STAR with its Creditors 
pursuant to Section 366 of the Act to settle the claims of Creditors while at the same time maintaining STAR 
as a going concern and the Order allows STAR to negotiate terms with its lenders and creditors without 
having the threat of any proceedings and actions being brought against STAR as disclosed in Note 40.4 to the 
financial statements.
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24.	 OTHER PAYABLES (CONT’D)

24.1	 Provisions of onerous contracts

	 Provision of onerous contracts represents the estimated loss that will be incurred on the unavoidable 
operating lease of the leaseback premises in which the Group had entered into agreement with owners 
act as the Operator of the premises and to provide fixed guaranteed rental return to the owners.

	 The movement in the provision is as follows:

		  Group
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

At beginning of financial year/period			   –	 –
Arose during the financial year/period			   9,331	 –

At end of financial year/period				    9,331	 –

Presented as:
- current 				    7,542	 –
- non-current				    1,789	 –

					     9,331	 –

25.	 TRADE PAYABLES

		  Group
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Trade creditors				    103,844	 85,485
Retention sums				    15,783	 14,884

					     119,627	 100,369

	 The normal trade credit terms granted to the Group range from 14 to 90 days (2020: 30 to 90 days).

	 Included in the above, are amounts of approximately RM104,000,000 and RM3,000,000, being the trade 
creditors of Sentoria Bina Sdn. Bhd. (“SBSB”) and Sentoria Themeparks and Resorts Sdn Bhd (“STAR”) 
respectively, wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company who have applied to the High Court of Malaya at 
Kuala Lumpur pursuant to Sections 366 and Section 368 of the Companies Act 2016  in order to formulate and 
finalise a proposed Scheme of Arrangement between SBSB and STAR with its Creditors, respectively, pursuant 
to Section 366 of the Act to settle the claims of Creditors while at the same time maintaining SBSB and STAR 
as a going concern and the Order allows SBSB and STAR to negotiate terms with its lenders and creditors 
without having the threat of any proceedings and actions being brought against SBSB and STAR as disclosed 
in Notes 40.3 and 40.4 to the financial statements.
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26.	 REVENUE

26.1	 Disaggregated revenue information

		  Group
					     1.4.2020	 1.10.2018
					     to	 to
					     31.3.2021	 31.3.2020

					     RM’000	 RM’000

Types of revenue
Property development revenue				    17,032	 86,095
Construction contract revenue				    12,997	 59,962
Rendering of services				    5,121	 56,904

					     35,150	 202,961

Timing of recognition
Performance obligations:
- satisfied over time				    14,911	 139,823
- satisfied at a point in time				    20,239	 63,138

					     35,150	 202,961

		 All of the Group’s revenue are generated from Malaysia.	

26.2	 Property development and construction contract revenue

	 For sale of development properties under construction and construction contracts, the performance 
obligations are satisfied over time as the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an 
alternative use and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

	 For the sale of completed properties, the performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time upon 
delivery of the properties.

	 The payment terms for progress billings made to purchasers are disclosed in Note 12 to the financial 
statements.

	 The nature of the properties and services that the Group have promised to transfer to purchasers are 
residential houses, commercial units/buildings, civil construction works for residential houses and 
commercial units/buildings.

	 The Group’s properties and projects are subject to Defects Liability Period of generally twenty-four (24) 
months from the sale and completion of the project. These require the Group to make good on any 
defects which may appear and which are due to design, materials, goods, workmanship or equipment 
not in accordance with the sale and purchase agreements and contracts. 
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26.	 REVENUE (CONT’D)

26.2	 Property development and construction contract revenue (cont’d)

	 The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially 
unsatisfied) as at the reporting date is as follows:

		  Group
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Construction contract revenue 				    244,315	 254,404
Property development revenue				    109,193	 112,541

	 In accordance with the agreed time frame stated in the sales and purchase agreements signed with 
customers, normally the housing development projects will be completed within 1 to 3 years. However, 
as a result of Coronavirus (“COVID-19”) outbreak as detailed in Note 40.1 to the financial statements 
has caused significant delay on the housing development projects. While the Covid-19 outbreak still 
uncertain at the moment, the management expected the remaining performance obligation to be 
recognised within 1 to 3 years. 

27.	 COST OF SALES

		  Group
					     1.4.2020	 1.10.2018
					     to	 to
					     31.3.2021	 31.3.2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Property development costs				    43,321	 85,878
Constructions contract costs				    22,656	 44,588
Rendering of services				    10,918	 50,619

					     76,895	 181,085
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28.	 OTHER EXPENSES AND FINANCE COSTS

28.1	 Other expenses

	 Group	 Company
			   1.4.2020	 1.10.2018	 1.4.2020	 1.10.2018
			   to	 to	 to	 to
			   31.3.2021	 31.3.2020	 31.3.2021	 31.3.2020
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Biological assets written off		  132	 1,580	 –	 –
Impairment loss on biological assets	 –	 366	 –	 –
Impairment loss on investment in
 subsidiary companies		  –	 –	 6,100	 850
Impairment loss on property, plant
 and equipment		  –	 3,891	 -	 –
Impairment loss on amount due from
 subsidiary companies		  –	 –	 45,426	 –
Inventory written off		  –	 1	 –	 –
Loss on remeasurement of inventories	 23,366	 –	 –	 –
Loss on disposal of property, plant
 and equipment		  747	 1,790	 –	 –
Property, plant and equipment written off	 –	 112	 –	 –
Provision made for onerous contracts	 9,331	 –	 –	 –
Receivables written off		  184	 243	 –	 –

			   33,760	 7,983	 51,526	 850

28.2	 Finance costs

	 Group	 Company
			   1.4.2020	 1.10.2018	 1.4.2020	 1.10.2018
			   to	 to	 to	 to
			   31.3.2021	 31.3.2020	 31.3.2021	 31.3.2020
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Interest expense on:
- bank overdraft		  3,146	 2,183	 –	 –
- lease liabilities		  111	 233	 –	 –
- bankers’ acceptance		  2,261	 325	 –	 –
- bridging loan		  1,052	 220	 –	 –
- revolving credit		  2,400	 2,565	 584	 736
- term loans		  14,957	 13,245	 159	 281
- redeemable preference shares		  –	 3,000	 –	 –
- others		  1	 182	 –	 –

			   23,928	 21,953	 743	 1,017
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29.	 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

	 (Loss)/profit before tax has been determined after charging/crediting amongst others, the following items:

	 Group	 Company
			   1.4.2020	 1.10.2018	 1.4.2020	 1.10.2018
			   to	 to	 to	 to
			   31.3.2021	 31.3.2020	 31.3.2021	 31.3.2020
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

After charging:
Auditors’ remuneration
- statutory audit		  202	 548	 35	 81
- non-statutory audit		  3	 4	 –	 –
- overprovision in prior year		  (115)	 –	 (26)	 –
Short-term leases
- rental of equipment		  33	 159	 –	 –
- rental of machinery		  2,103	 11,246	 –	 –
- rental of motor vehicle		  –	 27	 –	 –
- rental of premises		  33	 4,573	 –	 24
- rental of staff quarters		  5	 178	 –	 –
- rental of hotel suites		  5,266	 22,108	 –	 –

And crediting:
Rental income – premises		  58	 270	 42	 81

30.	 TAX (EXPENSE)/INCOME

	 Group	 Company
			   1.4.2020	 1.10.2018	 1.4.2020	 1.10.2018
			   to	 to	 to	 to
			   31.3.2021	 31.3.2020	 31.3.2021	 31.3.2020
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Current tax:
- Current year tax expense		  (4)	 (10)	 –	 –
- Under provision in prior financial period/year	 (8)	 (65)	 (19)	 –

Deferred tax:
- Origination and reversal of temporary
 differences 		  (23,156)	 (13,303)	 610	 (650)

			   (23,168) 	 (13,378)	 591	 (650)

	 Malaysian income tax is calculated at the statutory rate of 24% (31.3.2020: 24%) of the estimated assessable 
profit for the financial year/period.



<      118        |        Sentoria GROUP BERHAD [Registration No. : 199801007217 (463344-K)]

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
– 31 MARCH 2021

30.	 TAX (EXPENSE)/INCOME (CONT’D)

	 A reconciliation of the tax (expense)/income on (loss)/profit before tax with the applicable statutory income 
tax rate is as follows:

	 Group	 Company
			   1.4.2020	 1.10.2018	 1.4.2020	 1.10.2018
			   to	 to	 to	 to
			   31.3.2021	 31.3.2020	 31.3.2021	 31.3.2020

			   %	 %	 %	 %

Applicable statutory income tax rate		  (24.0)	 (24.0) 	 (24.0) 	 24.0

Tax effects in respect of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes	 20.1	 12.5	 24.0	 495.9
Income not subject to tax		  (0.4)	 (2.1) 	 –	 (368.0)
Reversal of deferred tax assets recognised
 in prior financial period/year		  15.6	 22.3	 –	 –
Deferred tax assets not recognised		  4.4	 8.9	 –	 –
Under provision of taxation in prior
 financial period/year		  –	 0.1 	 –	 –

Average effective tax rate		  15.7	 17.7	 –	 151.9

	 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

		  Group
					     1.4.2020	 1.10.2018
					     to	 to
					     31.3.2021	 31.3.2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Unabsorbed business losses				    111,770	 57,977
Unutilised capital allowances				    3,597	 2,863
Unutilised investment tax allowances				    83,315	 119,044
Other temporary differences				    8,218	 –

					     206,900	 179,884

	 Deferred tax assets in respect of these items have not been recognised as they are not probable that whether 
sufficient future taxable profits will be available against which the Group can utilise the benefits. The above 
deferred tax assets can be carried forward to offset against their respective future taxable profits. However, 
these amounts are subject to agreement by the Inland Revenue Board of Malaysia.

	 The unabsorbed business losses of the Group is available for offsetting against future taxable profits of 
the Group, subject to no substantial changes in shareholdings of those entities under the Income Tax Act 
1967 and subject to the relevant provision of Income Tax Act 1967. Effective Year of Assessment 2019 as 
announced in the Annual Budget 2019, the unabsorbed business losses of the Company as of 31 December 
2018 for the year of assessment 2018 and thereafter will only be available to be carried forward for a period of 
seven (7) consecutive years. Upon expiry of the 7 years, the unabsorbed business losses will be disregarded.
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30.	 TAX (EXPENSE)/INCOME (CONT’D)

	 The expiry of the unrecognised unabsorbed business losses are as follows:

		  Group
					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Year of assessment 2025				    34,699	 34,947
Year of assessment 2026				    12,924	 12,931
Year of assessment 2027				    13,368	 10,099
Year of assessment 2028				    50,779	 –

					     111,770	 57,977

31.	 LOSS PER SHARE

	 Basic loss per ordinary share

	 The basic loss per ordinary share for the financial year/period has been calculated based on the loss 
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company divided by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares in issue during the financial year/period:

		  Group
					     1.4.2020	 1.10.2018
					     to	 to
					     31.3.2021	 31.3.2020

Net loss attributable to equity holders of the Company (RM’000)		  (161,638)	 (87,607)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (unit’000)		  557,681	 557,681

Basic loss per share (sen)				    (28.98)	 (15.71)

	 Diluted loss per ordinary share 

	 For the purpose of calculating diluted loss per ordinary share, the net loss for the financial year/period 
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
in issue during the financial year/period have been adjusted for the dilutive effects of all potential ordinary 
shares arising consequent to the exercise of warrants.

		  Group
					     1.4.2020	 1.10.2018
					     to	 to
					     31.3.2021	 31.3.2020

Net loss attributable to equity holders of the Company (RM’000)		  (161,638) 	 (87,607)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (unit’000)		  557,681	 557,681

Diluted loss per share (sen)				    (28.98)* 	 (15.71)*
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31.	 LOSS PER SHARE (CONT’D)

	 Diluted loss per ordinary share (cont’d)

*	 The diluted loss per share are anti-dilutive as the fair value of the ordinary shares of the Company during 
the reporting year is lower than the exercise price of the outstanding warrants. These potential ordinary 
shares have a dilutive effect only if the fair values of the ordinary shares during the reporting year 
exceeds the exercise price of these potential ordinary shares.

32.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES

	 Group	 Company
			   1.4.2020	 1.10.2018	 1.4.2020	 1.10.2018
			   to	 to	 to	 to
			   31.3.2021	 31.3.2020	 31.3.2021	 31.3.2020
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Directors’ remuneration		  6,150	 11,814	 798	 1,019
Salaries, wages and other emoluments		  9,466	 51,079	 –	 –
Defined contribution plan		  848	 4,373	 –	 –
Social security contributions		  272	 502	 –	 –
Other staff related expenses		  246	 1,696	 90	 99

			   16,982	 69,464	 888	 1,118

	 The details of Directors’ remuneration are as follows:

	 Group	 Company
			   1.4.2020	 1.10.2018	 1.4.2020	 1.10.2018
			   to	 to	 to	 to
			   31.3.2021	 31.3.2020	 31.3.2021	 31.3.2020
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Executive Directors:
- Salaries		  4,800	 9,360	 302	 288
- Defined contribution plan		  912	 1,778	 58	 55

			   5,712	 11,138	 360	 343

Non-Executive Directors:
- Fees		  252	 596	 252	 596
- Attendance allowances		  60	 80	 60	 80

			   312	 676	 312	 676

Former Non-Executive Directors:
- Fees		  96	 –	 96	 –
- Attendance allowances		  30	 –	 30	 –

			   126	 –	 126	 –

Total			  6,150	 11,814	 798	 1,019

	 The estimated monetary value of benefits-in-kind received and receivable by the Executive Directors otherwise 
than in cash from the Group and the Company amounted to RM20,000 (31.3.2020: RM38,000).
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32.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (CONT’D)

	 Included in the above are the following key management personnel’s remuneration (other than Directors):

		  Group
					     1.4.2020	 1.10.2018
					     to	 to
					     31.3.2021	 31.3.2020

					     RM’000	 RM’000

Salaries, wages and other emoluments				    722 	 2,418
Defined contribution plan				    86	 257 
Social security contributions				    4	 10 

					     812	 2,685 

33.	 COMMITMENTS

		  Group
					     1.4.2020	 1.10.2018
					     to	 to
					     31.3.2021	 31.3.2020

					     RM’000	 RM’000
Capital commitments
Authorised and contracted for:
- property, plant and equipment				    15,529	 16,053

Authorised but not contracted for:			 
- property, plant and equipment				    35,996	 38,530

Operating lease commitment
Not later than 1 year				    –	 8,915
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years			   –	 12,826

					     –	 21,741
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34.	 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a)	 Significant related party transactions during the financial year/period are as follows:

	 Group	 Company
			   1.4.2020	 1.10.2018	 1.4.2020	 1.10.2018
			   to	 to	 to	 to
			   31.3.2021	 31.3.2020	 31.3.2021	 31.3.2020
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Transaction with holding company:
 Rental expenses paid		  –	 72	 –	 –

Transactions with companies in
 which Dato’ Chan Kong San and
 Dato’ Gan Kim Leong have interests:
 - Rental expenses paid/payable 		  35	 113	 –	 –
 - Rental expenses paid/payable		  –	 483	 –	 –

Transactions with persons/entities
 connected with Dato’ Gan Kim Leong:
 - Rental expenses paid/payable		  12	 75	 –	 –
 - Tax consulting fees paid/payable	 97	 104	 3	 1
 - Consultancy fees/ Staff secondment
  paid/payable		  1,192	 266	 353	 –
 - Commission paid/payable		  5	 112	 –	 –

	 The related party transactions have been entered into in the normal course of business under normal 
trade terms.

(b)	 During the financial year/period:

(i)	 the holding company’s shares in the Company were pledged as security for the construction and 
completion of a joint venture development project of the Group. The market value of these shares as 
at the end of the financial year/period was approximately RM3,850,000 (31.3.2020: RM3,025,000). 
The holding company also provided a corporate guarantee and indemnity to guarantee the 
payment by the Group of certain sums of up to RM30,000,000 (31.3.2020: RM30,000,000) due to 
the land owner for the project concerned.

(ii)	 Dato’ Chan Kong San and Dato’ Gan Kim Leong jointly and severally guaranteed banking facilities 
granted to a subsidiary company. The amount of these facilities as at the end of the financial year/
period amounted to RM11,695,885 (31.3.2020: RM10,709,214).

 
(c)	 Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 

directing and controlling the activities of the Group, either directly or indirectly, and includes any Director 
(whether executive or otherwise). The detailed information on the Directors’ and other key management 
personnel’s remuneration are disclosed in Note 32 respectively to the financial statements.
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35.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

35.1	 Categories of financial instruments

	 The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments categorised as follows:

					     Carrying	 Amortised
					     amount	 cost
					     RM’000	 RM’000
Group
2021
Financial assets
Trade and non-trade receivables				    106,812	 106,812
Fixed deposits with licensed banks				   4,246	 4,246
Cash and bank balances				    12,293	 12,293

					     123,351	 123,351

Financial liabilities
Borrowings				    462,671	 462,671
Trade and other payables				    184,271	 184,271

					     646,942	 646,942

2020
Financial assets
Trade and non-trade receivables				    115,170	 115,170
Fixed deposits with licensed banks				   4,136	 4,136
Cash and bank balances				    11,371	 11,371

					     130,677	 130,677

Financial liabilities
Borrowings				    441,295	 441,295
Trade and other payables				    204,345	 204,345

					     645,640	 645,640

Company
2021
Financial assets
Non-trade receivables 				    192	 192
Amount due from subsidiary companies			   138,805	 138,805
Cash and bank balances 				    1,794	 1,794

					     140,791	 140,791

Financial liabilities
Borrowings				    103,313	 103,313
Other payables				    3,172	 3,172
Amount due to subsidiary companies			   103,593	 103,593

					     210,078	 210,078
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35.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

35.1	 Categories of financial instruments (cont’d)

	 The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments categorised as follows (cont’d):

					     Carrying	 Amortised
					     amount	 cost
					     RM’000	 RM’000
Company
2020
Financial assets
Non-trade receivables 				    205	 205
Amount due from subsidiary companies			   178,274	 178,274
Cash and bank balances 				    1,799	 1,799

					     180,278	 180,278

Financial liabilities
Borrowings				    102,290	 102,290
Other payables				    3,139	 3,139
Amount due to subsidiary companies			   96,026	 96,026

					     201,455	 201,455

35.2	 Financial risk management

	 The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from their operations and the use of 
financial instruments. The Group’s and the Company’s financial risk management policies seek to ensure 
that adequate financial resources are available for the development of the Group’s and the Company’s 
businesses whilst managing their risks. The Group and the Company operate within policies that are 
approved by the Directors and the Group’s and the Company’s policies are not to engage in speculative 
transactions.

	 The main areas of financial risks faced by the Group and the Company and the policies in respect of the 
major areas of treasury activity are set out as follows:

(a)	 Credit risk

	 Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the Group and the Company if a customer or counterparty 
to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. 

	 The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other 
receivables. It is the Group’s policy to enter into financial instruments with a diversity of creditworthy 
counterparties. The Group and the Company do not expect to incur material credit losses of its 
financial assets or other financial instruments.

	 Concentration of credit risk exists when changes in economic, industry and geographical factors 
similarly affect the group of counterparties whose aggregate credit exposure is significant in 
relation to the Group’s and the Company’s total credit exposure. The Group’s and the Company’s 
transactions are entered into with diverse creditworthy counterparties, thereby mitigating any 
significant concentration of credit risk.

	 It is the Group’s and the Company’s policies that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms 
are subject to credit verification procedures.
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35.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

35.2	 Financial risk management (cont’d)

	 The main areas of financial risks faced by the Group and the Company and the policies in respect of the 
major areas of treasury activity are set out as follows (cont’d):

(a)	 Credit risk (cont’d)

	 Following are the areas where the Group and the Company are exposed to credit risk:

i.	 Receivables

	 At the reporting date, the maximum exposure to credit risk arising from receivables is limited 
to the carrying amounts in the statements of financial position.

	 With a credit policy in place to ensure the credit risk is monitored on an on-going basis, 
management has taken reasonable steps to ensure that receivables that are neither past 
due nor impaired are stated at their realisable values. The Group and the Company use aging 
analysis to monitor the credit quality of the receivables. Any receivables having significant 
balances past due more than credit terms granted are deemed to have higher credit risk, and 
are monitored individually.

	 An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix 
to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for 
groupings of various customer segments with similar pattern (i.e., by geographical region, 
product type, customer type and rating and coverage by letters of credit or collateral). 
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and 
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the reporting date about the 
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. 

	 The maximum exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are limited to the 
carrying amounts as stated in the statements of financial position. As the management are 
of the opinion that the debts arising from property development activities should be realised 
in full without material losses in the ordinary course of business as the legal title to the 
properties sold remain with the Group and the Company until the purchase consideration is 
fully settled. As such, expected credit losses is minimum as at the reporting date. Generally, 
the receivables are written off if the Directors deemed them uncollectable.

	 Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s and the 
Company’s trade receivables and contract assets using a provision matrix:

		  Expected	 Total gross	
		  credit loss	 carrying	 Expected
		  rate	 amount	 credit loss
		  %	 RM’000	 RM’000
Group
2021
Not past due	 –	 10,217	 –
Past due 1 to 30 days	 –	 19,567	 –
Past due 31 to 60 days	 –	 3,419	 –
Past due more than 60 days	 –	 18,598	 –

			   51,801	 –
Credit impaired	 100	 365	 (365)

			   52,166	 (365)

Contract assets		  9,484	 3,279
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35.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

35.2	 Financial risk management (cont’d)

	 The main areas of financial risks faced by the Group and the Company and the policies in respect of the 
major areas of treasury activity are set out as follows (cont’d):

(a)	 Credit risk (cont’d)

	 Following are the areas where the Group and the Company are exposed to credit risk (cont’d):

i.	 Receivables (cont’d)

	 Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s and the 
Company’s trade receivables and contract assets using a provision matrix (cont’d):

		  Expected	 Total gross	
		  credit loss	 carrying	 Expected
		  rate	 amount	 credit loss
		  %	 RM’000	 RM’000
Group
2020		
Not past due	 –	 5,010	 –
Past due 1 to 30 days	 –	 15,810	 –
Past due 31 to 60 days	 –	 74	 –
Past due more than 60 days	 –	 25,447	 –

			   46,341	 –
Credit impaired	 100	 365	 (365)

			   46,706	 (365)

Contract assets		  17,399	 –

Company			 
2021		
Past due more than 1 year	 100	  84	                  (84)

2020
Past due more than 1 year	 100	  84	                  (84)

	 The net carrying amount of trade receivables is considered a reasonable approximate of 
their fair value. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying value of each class 
of receivables mentioned above. Trade receivables with credit impaired at the reporting 
date relate to receivables that are in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on 
payments. These receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements.

	 In respect of trade receivables, the Group has significant concentration of credit risk of 
which RM29,031,000 (2020: RM27,478,000) were due from 3 (2020: 3) customers. As at the 
reporting date, there was no indication that this receivables are not recoverable.

	 In respect of other receivables, the Group has significant concentration of credit risk of 
which RM32,235,000 (2020: RM38,623,000) were due from 2 (2020: 2) counterparties. As at 
the reporting date, there was no indication that this receivables are not recoverable.
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35.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

35.2	 Financial risk management (cont’d)

	 The main areas of financial risks faced by the Group and the Company and the policies in respect of the 
major areas of treasury activity are set out as follows (cont’d):

(a)	 Credit risk (cont’d)

	 Following are the areas where the Group and the Company are exposed to credit risk (cont’d):

ii.	 Intercompany receivables

	 The maximum exposure to credit risk for intercompany receivables is represented by their 
carrying amounts in the statements of financial position.

	 The Company provides unsecured advances to subsidiary companies and monitors the 
results of the subsidiary companies regularly.

	 As at the reporting date, there was no indication that the advances to the subsidiary companies 
are not recoverable other than those disclosed in Note 9 to the financial statements.

iii.	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents is considered negligible, since the counterparties 
are reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings.

iv.	 Financial guarantees

	 The maximum exposure to credit risk for financial guarantees is RM248,858,000 (2020: 
RM241,149,000) which is in respect of corporate guarantees given to financial institutions for 
banking facilities and the suppliers for credit facilities granted to and utilised by subsidiary 
companies as at the end of the reporting year/period.

	 The Company monitors on an on-going basis the results of the said subsidiary companies 
and the utilisation of the banking facilities concerned. As of the date of this report, the Group 
and the Company are negotiating with the financial institutions to reschedule on the payment 
for the outstanding borrowings. 

(b)	 Interest rate risk

	 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s 
financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

	 The Group’s fixed rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change in their fair value due to changes 
in interest rates. The Group’s and the Company’s variable rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of 
change in cash flows due to changes in interest rates.

	 The Group’s and the Company’s interest rate management objective is to manage interest 
expenses consistent with maintaining an acceptable level of exposure to interest rate fluctuation.

	 In order to achieve this objective, the Group and the Company target a mix of fixed and floating 
debts based on assessment of their existing exposure and desired interest rate profile.
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35.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

35.2	 Financial risk management (cont’d)

	 The main areas of financial risks faced by the Group and the Company and the policies in respect of the 
major areas of treasury activity are set out as follows (cont’d):

(b)	 Interest rate risk (cont’d)

	 The interest rate profile of the Group’s and the Company’s significant interest-bearing financial 
instruments, based on carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting year/period are as follows:

					     Group	 Company
					     RM’000	 RM’000
2021
Fixed rate instruments
Fixed deposits with licensed banks			   4,246	 –
Lease liabilities				    2,028	 –

Floating rate instrument
Borrowings				    460,643	 103,313

2020		
Fixed rate instruments			 
Fixed deposits with licensed banks			   4,136	 –
Lease liabilities				    2,495	 –

Floating rate instrument			 
Borrowings				    438,800	 102,290

	 The Group and the Company do not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the end of the financial year 
would not affect profit or loss.

	 The following table illustrates the sensitivity of loss to a reasonably possible change in interest 
rates of +/- 0.5%. These changes are considered to be reasonably possible based on observation 
of current market conditions.

	 The calculations are based on a change in the average market interest rate for each period, and 
the financial instruments held at each reporting date that are sensitive to changes in interest rates 
with all other variables held constant:

		  Increase/(decrease) in net loss for the financial year/period
	 Group	 Company

			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
			   +0.5%	 -0.5%	 +0.5%	 -0.5%

Floating rate instrument
2021			  2,303	 (2,303)	 517	 (517)

2020			  2,194	 (2,194)	 511	 (511)

	 The changes of above interest rate will have opposite effect in equity as compare to net loss of the 
Group and of the Company.
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35.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

35.2	 Financial risk management (cont’d)

	 The main areas of financial risks faced by the Group and the Company and the policies in respect of the 
major areas of treasury activity are set out as follows (cont’d):

(c)	 Liquidity risk

	 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Company will not be able to meet their financial 
obligations as and when they fall due, due to shortage of funds.

	 In managing their exposures to liquidity risk arises principally from their various payables, loans 
and borrowings, the Group and the Company maintain a level of cash and cash equivalents and 
bank facilities deemed adequate by the management to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due.

	 As disclosed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Group and the Company have taken 
restructuring measures and are confident to achieve the finalisation of the proposed debt 
restructuring scheme (“PDRS”) with its lenders.

	
	 Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the cash flow forecast for the next twelve months in 

accordance with the terms of the PDRS and forecast of future operating cash flows of the Group 
and the Company based on past performance and estimated growth rate. Based on the cash 
flow forecast, the Directors are of the view that the Group and the Company are able to generate 
sufficient cash flows for the next twelve months from the reporting date to meet their cash flows 
requirements, to realise their assets and discharge their liabilities in the normal course of business. 

	 At the end of the reporting year/period, the Group’s and the Company’s non-derivative financial 
liabilities which have contractual maturities (including interest payments) are summarised below:

				    Current	 Non-current
		  Carrying	 Contractual	 Less than	 Between	 More than
		  amount	 cash flows	 1 year	 1 to 5 years	 5 years
Group	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
2021				 
Secured:
Borrowings	 462,671	 503,863	 496,568	 7,295	 –

Unsecured:
Trade payables	 119,627	 119,627	 119,627	 –	 –
Other payables	 64,644	 64,644	 64,644	 –	 –

		  184,271	 184,271	 184,271	 –	 –

Total		 646,942	 688,134	 680,839	 7,295	 –

2020
Secured:
Borrowings	 441,295	 503,958	 449,158	 47,756	 7,044

Unsecured:
Trade payables	 100,369	 100,369	 100,369	 –	 –
Other payables	 103,976	 103,976	 103,976	 –	 –

		  204,345	 204,345	 204,345	 –	 –

Total		 645,640	 708,303	 653,503	 47,756	 7,044
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35.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

35.2	 Financial risk management (cont’d)

	 The main areas of financial risks faced by the Group and the Company and the policies in respect of the 
major areas of treasury activity are set out as follows (cont’d):

(c)	 Liquidity risk (cont’d)

	 At the end of the reporting year/period, the Group’s and the Company’s non-derivative financial 
liabilities which have contractual maturities (including interest payments) are summarised below 
(cont’d):

					     Current	 Non-current
			   Carrying	 Contractual	 Less than	 Between
			   amount	 cash flows	 1 year	 1 to 5 years
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Company
2021
Secured:
Borrowings		  103,313	 105,095	 98,018	 7,077

Unsecured:				  
Other payables		  3,172	 3,172	 3,172	 –
Amount due to subsidiary
 companies		  103,593	 103,593	 103,593	 –

			   106,765	 106,765	 106,765	 –

Total			  210,078	 211,860	 204,783	 7,077

Financial guarantees		  –	 248,858	 248,858	 –

2020
Secured:
Borrowings		  102,290	 103,456	 90,832	 12,624

Unsecured:
Other payables		  3,139	 3,139	 3,139	 –
Amount due to subsidiary
 companies		  96,026	 96,026	 96,026	 –

			   99,165	 99,165	 99,165	 –

Total			  201,455	 202,621	 189,997	 12,624

Financial guarantees		  –	 241,149	 241,149	 –
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35.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

35.3	 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

		  At		  Interest			   At
		  1.4.2020	 Acquisition*	 payable	 Drawdown	 Repayment	  31.3.2021
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Group
Lease liabilities	 2,495	 –	 –	 –	 (467)	 2,028
Borrowings (excluding
 bank overdrafts)	 383,701	 –	 23,643	 2,609	 (9,639)	 400,314

		  386,196	 –	 23,643	 2,609	 (10,106)	 402,342

Company
Borrowings (excluding
 bank overdrafts)	 81,772	 –	 2,702	 –	 (3,148)	 81,326

		  At		  Interest			   At
		  1.10.2018	 Acquisition*	 payable	 Drawdown	 Repayment	  31.3.2020
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Group
Lease liabilities	 2,734	 333	 –	 –	 (572)	 2,495
Borrowings (excluding
 bank overdrafts)	 399,566	 –	 5,582	 311,836	 (333,283)	 383,701

		  402,300	 333	 5,582	 311,836	 (333,855)	 386,196

Company
Borrowings (excluding
 bank overdrafts)	 94,376	 –	 1,245	 58,755	 (72,604)	 81,772

*	 Arising from acquisition of property, plant and equipment under finance lease arrangements.

36.	 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

	 The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group and of the Company at the 
reporting date approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature or that they are floating rate 
instruments that are re-priced to market interest rates on or near the reporting date or have immaterial 
discounting impact.
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37.	 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

	 The Group’s objective when managing capital is to maintain a strong capital base and safeguard the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to 
sustain future development of its business. The Directors monitor and determine to maintain an optimal debt-
to-equity ratio that complies with debt covenants and regulatory requirements.

	 The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to its overall financing structure, that is, equity and financial 
liabilities. The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust 
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts.

	 There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the financial year/period. 

	 Group	 Company
			   2021	 2020	 2021	 2020
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Total borrowings		  462,671	 441,295	 103,313	 102,290
Cash and bank balances		  (12,293)	 (11,371)	 (1,794)	 (1,799)
Fixed deposits with licensed banks		  (4,246)	 (4,136)	 –	 –

			   446,132	 425,788	 101,519	 100,491

Total equity		  270,585	 446,123	 245,334	 307,722

Debt-to-equity ratio		  1.65	 0.95	 0.41	 0.33

38.	 OPERATING SEGMENTS

	 Business segments

	 Management currently identifies the Group’s property development, leisure and hospitality and others as 
operating segments. These operating segments are monitored and strategic decisions are made on the 
basis of adjusted segment operating results. The following summary describes the operations in each of the 
Group’s reportable segments:

Property development 	 :	 Development and construction of residential, commercial and leisure 
properties and its related activities

		
Leisure and hospitality	 :	 Hotel, water, nature and safari parks operator
		
Others	 :	 Investment holding 
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38.	 OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONT’D)

	 Business segments (cont’d)

	 Transfer pricing between operating segments are on a negotiated basis and all other transactions with third 
parties are on an arm’s length basis.

			   Property	 Leisure and		  Eliminations/
		  Note	 development	 hospitality	 Others	 adjustments	 Consolidated
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

2021
Revenue
External revenue		  30,028	 5,122	 –	 –	 35,150
Inter-segment	 A	 873	 –	 –	 (873)	 –

			   30,901	 5,122	 –	 (873)	 35,150

Results
Gross loss		  (35,186)	 (6,559)	 –	 –	 (41,745)
Segment loss	 B	 (95,448)	 (17,416)	 (10,713)	 (726)	 (124,303)
Finance income		  220	 –	 –	 –	 220
Finance costs		  (15,640)	 (7,545)	 (743)	 –	 (23,928)
Depreciation 		  (2,234)	 (7,765)	 (19)	 88	 (9,930)
Tax (expense)/ income		  (623)	 (23,136)	 591	 –	 (23,168)
Other non-cash (expense)/
 income	 C	 (48,883)	 (235)	 (8,770)	 1,061	 (56,827)

Assets
Segment assets	 D	 694,001	 546,771	 459,173	 (734,154)	 965,791
Additions to non-current
 assets	 E	 390	 5,425	 –	 (2,803)	 3,012

Liabilities
Segment liabilities	 F	 476,808	 181,056	 106,765	 (507,656)	 256,973
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38.	 OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONT’D)

	 Business segments (cont’d)

			   Property	 Leisure and		  Eliminations/
		  Note	 development	 hospitality	 Others	 adjustments	 Consolidated
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

2020
Revenue
External revenue		  146,057	 56,904	 –	 –	 202,961
Inter-segment	 A	 15,431	 5,274	 –	 (20,705)	 –

			   161,488	 62,178	 –	 (20,705)	 202,961

Results
Gross profit		  15,591	 6,285	 –	 –	 21,876
Segment (loss)/profit	 B	 (27,650) 	 (27,851)	 2,272	 (684)	 (53,913)
Finance income		  593	 2	 23	 –	 618
Finance costs		  (10,230)	 (10,706)	 (1,017)	 –	 (21,953)
Depreciation 		  (3,212)	 (12,330)	 (53)	 204	 (15,391)
Tax (expense)/ income		  3,934	 (16,662)	 (650)	 –	 (13,378)
Other non-cash (expense)/
 income	 C	 (1,992)	 (10,435)	 6,606	 338	 (5,483)

Assets
Segment assets	 D	 786,729 	 502,637	 514,400	 (730,705)	 1,073,061
Additions to non-current
 assets	 E	 1,340 	 48,845	 –	 (15,942)	 34,243

Liabilities						    
Segment liabilities	 F	 448,190	 170,650	 99,163	 (486,229)	 231,774

	 Notes to the nature of adjustments and eliminations to arrive at amounts reported in the consolidated financial 
statements:

A	 Inter-segment revenues were eliminated on consolidation.

B	 The following items were (added to)/deducted from segment loss to arrive at “loss before tax” presented 
in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income:

					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Segment loss				    (124,303)	 (53,913)
Finance income				    220	 618
Finance costs				    (23,928)	 (21,953)

Loss before tax				    (148,011)	 (75,248)
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38.	 OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONT’D)

	 Business segments (cont’d)

	 Notes to the nature of adjustments and eliminations to arrive at amounts reported in the consolidated financial 
statements (cont’d):

C	 Other non-cash (expenses)/income consist of the following items as presented in the respective notes 
to the financial statements:

					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Biological assets written off				    (132)	 (1,580)
Fair value adjustments on investment properties			   (8,770)	 4,658
Gain on disposal of investment properties			   114	 160
Gain on disposal of biological assets			   165	 –
Impairment loss on biological assets			   –	 (366)
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables			   (11,878)	 (2,318)
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 			   –	 (3,891)
Impairment loss on contract assets				   (3,279)	 –
Inventory written off				    –	 (1)
Loss on remeasurement of inventories			   (23,366)	 –
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment			   (747)	 (1,790)
Property, plant and equipment written off			   –	 (112)
Provision for onerous contract				    (9,331)	 –
Receivables written off				    (184)	 (243)
Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables no longer required		  581	 –

					     (56,827)	 (5,483)

D	 The following items were added to segments assets to arrive at total assets reported in the consolidated 
statements of financial position:

					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Segment assets				    965,791	 1,073,061
Deferred tax assets				    20,837	 43,980
Tax recoverable				    7,051	 5,588

Total assets				    993,679	 1,122,629

E	 Additions to non-current assets other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets consist of:

					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Property, plant and equipment				    2,977	 33,814
Biological assets				    35	 429

					     3,012	 34,243
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38.	 OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONT’D)

	 Business segments (cont’d)

	 Notes to the nature of adjustments and eliminations to arrive at amounts reported in the consolidated financial 
statements (cont’d):

F	 The following items were added to segment liabilities to arrive at total liabilities reported in the 
consolidated statement of financial position:

					     2021	 2020
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Segment liabilities				    256,973	 231,774
Borrowings				    462,671	 441,295
Tax payable				    4	 4
Deferred tax liabilities				    3,446	 3,433

Total liabilities				    723,094	 676,506

	 Geographical segment

	 The Group’s businesses are operated entirely within Malaysia and as such, no segment information based on 
geographical location is presented.

	 Major customers

	 Revenue of RM12,742,000 (31.3.2020: RM59,733,000) from a major customer has contributed more than 10% 
of the Group’s total revenue.

39.	 COMPARATIVE INFORMATION
	
	 The financial year end of the Group and of the Company had changed from 30 September 2019 to 31 March 

2020 to facilitate the efficiency in financial reporting. The comparative figures are for the period from 1 October 
2018 to 31 March 2020. Consequently, the comparative figures for the statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, statements of cash flows, statements of changes in equity and related notes are not 
comparable.

40.	 SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR AND AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

40.1	 COVID-19 Pandemic

	 The recent outbreak of COVID-19 since the end of 2019 has seen significant cases increased worldwide 
which prompted the World Health Organisation to declare it as a pandemic on 11 March 2020. 

	 This has affected business and economic activities in Malaysia and beyond. 

	 The COVID-19 Pandemic also resulted in various travel restrictions and other precautionary measures 
imposed in Malaysia and various other countries.

	 As at the date of this report, the management of the Group has assessed the overall impact of the 
situation on the Group’s operations and financial position. 
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40.	 SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR AND AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 
(CONT’D)

40.1	 COVID-19 Pandemic (cont’d)

	 Based on the assessment, the leisure and hospitality businesses under leisure and hospitality segment 
of the Group have been financially affected during the current financial year mainly arose from its 
diminished sources of income as most of its business operations were suspended whilst the fixed 
overhead costs that include salary, security personnel expenses, and rental expense continued to 
be incurred. For leisure segment, the Group has temporary ceased its themeparks, nature park and 
waterparks operations at Bukit Gambang, Langkawi and Kuching respectively upon the implementation 
of the initial movement control order since 18 March 2020 until to-date. The themeparks operation 
at Bukit Gambang was resumed for few months in the second half year of 2020. However, the 
management decided to continue ceased the operation due to the situation of Covid-19 is still uncertain. 
For disruption in the property development operations due to Covid-19 and various movement control 
orders implemented by the Government throughout the year have led to delay in completing the property 
development projects especially projects in Sarawak. As a result, the Group has recognised significant 
liquidated ascertained damages as disclosed in the financial statements. The Group has resumed 
operations for certain areas of property development projects while adhering to the standard operating 
procedures and directives issued by the Government of Malaysia throughout the period. The Group has 
also activated its business continuity plan and implemented various procedures in its business conduct 
to reduce the risks of spread and safeguard its employees and customers. 

	 However, the management is unable to reliably estimate the financial impact of COVID-19 on the Group’s 
financial results for the financial year ending 31 March 2022 as the pandemic has yet to run its full 
course hence the current situation is still fluid. The Directors shall continuously assess the impact of 
COVID-19 on its operations as well as the financial position for the financial year ending 31 March 2022.

40.2	 Proposed Debt Restructuring Scheme - Corporate Debt Restructuring Committee (“CDRC”)

	 The Group has sought the assistance of the Corporate Debt Restructuring Committee (“CDRC”) under the 
purview of Bank Negara Malaysia to mediate with the financial institutions to restructure or renegotiate 
for the settlement of the respective financing facilities held by the Group  and certain of its subsidiaries 
of approximately RM461,000,000 at 31 March 2021. 

	 The CDRC has vide its letter dated 27 August 2020 approved the Group’s application for assistance 
to mediate between the Group and certain of its subsidiaries with their respective lenders (“CDRC 
Mediation”). 

	 To-date, the CDRC Mediation process is still in progress. The successful CDRC Mediation would enable 
the Group to strengthen its financial position and to ensure that the post restructuring debts are at a 
sustainable level to safeguard the Group. 

40.3	 Sentoria Bina Sdn Bhd - Scheme of Arrangement with its creditors pursuant to Section 366 of the 
Companies Act 2016 and Restraining Order under Section 368 of the Companies Act 2016

	 On 12 November 2020, a subsidiary company, Sentoria Bina Sdn. Bhd. (“SBSB”) had applied to the High 
Court of Malaysia at Kuala Lumpur for the following orders:

(a)	 An Order to summon creditors’ meetings of the creditors of SBSB or any class of creditors for the 
purpose of considering and if thought fit and appropriate, approving with or without modification, 
a proposed scheme of compromise and arrangement between SBSB and its creditors; and

(b)	 A Restraining Order to forthwith restrain and stay all and further and future proceedings in any 
action or proceedings against SBSB, its assets, its guarantor guaranteeing the performance of 
SBSB’s obligations under any documents and security documents.
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40.	 SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR AND AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 
(CONT’D)

40.3	 Sentoria Bina Sdn Bhd - Scheme of Arrangement with its creditors pursuant to Section 366 of the 
Companies Act 2016 and Restraining Order under Section 368 of the Companies Act 2016 (cont’d)

	 The orders commenced on 12 November 2020 for a period of 3 months and extended to another 3 
months until 12 May 2021. 

	 On 29 January 2021, SBSB has convened the Creditors’ Meeting pursuant to the Orders of the High 
Court of Malaya at Kuala Lumpur (“the High Court”) Orders dated 12 November 2020 and 22 January 
2021 pursuant to Section 366 of the Companies Act 2016 (the “Act”) and the Proposed Scheme of 
Arrangement (“the Scheme”) was agreed by the requisite majority of the creditors present and voting at 
the Creditors’ Meeting in accordance with Section 366 of the Act. 

	 Pursuant to Section 366 of the Act, the requisite majority required is 75% and SBSB managed to obtain 
the agreement of approximately 93% in value of the creditors who voted at the Creditors’ Meeting. SBSB 
had filed an application to the High Court under Section 366 of the Act on 5 February 2021 to seek the 
High Court’s approval of the Scheme.  On 3 May 2021, the High Court granted an order for the approval 
of the Scheme and the Scheme shall be binding on SBSB and its scheme creditors.

	 The Scheme amount in respect of the Scheme Creditors amounting to approximately RM104,000,000.

40.4	 Sentoria Themeparks and Resorts Sdn. Bhd. – Proposed Scheme of Arrangement with its creditors 
pursuant to Section 366 of the Companies Act 2016 and Restraining Order under Section 368 of the 
Companies Act 2016

	 On 8 April 2021, the Company announced that Sentoria Themeparks and Resorts Sdn. Bhd. (“STAR”), a 
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company has applied to the High Court of Malaya at Kuala Lumpur (“the 
High Court”) pursuant to Sections 366 and Section 368 of the Companies Act 2016 (“the Act”) for the 
following orders:-

 (a)  An Order pursuant to Section 366(1) of the Act to summon meetings of the creditors of STAR or 
any class of them (“Creditors”)  for the purpose of considering and if thought fit and appropriate, 
approving with or without modification, a proposed scheme of compromise and arrangement 
between STAR and its Creditors (“Proposed Scheme”); and

(b)   A Restraining Order (“RO”) pursuant to Section 368(1) of the Act to forthwith restrain and stay all 
and/or further and/or future proceedings in any action or proceedings against STAR, its assets, its 
guarantor guaranteeing the performance of STAR’s obligations under any documents and security 
documents.

	 The Orders commenced on 5 April 2021 and shall be in effect for a period of 3 months and extended to 
another 6 months until 4 January 2022.

	 The Orders were applied by STAR in order to formulate and finalise a proposed Scheme of Arrangement 
between STAR and its Creditors pursuant to Section 366 of the Act to settle the claims of Creditors while 
at the same time maintaining STAR as a going concern and the Order allows STAR to negotiate terms 
with its lenders and creditors without having the threat of any proceedings and actions being brought 
against STAR. 

	 The amount in respect of the Proposed Scheme Creditors amounting to approximately RM4,000,000.
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The Board of Directors of the Company (“Board”) is required by the Companies Act 2016 (“Act”) to make a statement 
expressing an opinion on the financial statements. The Board is of the opinion that the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2021 have been drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Group and of the Company as at the end of the financial year and of their financial performance and cash flows 
for the financial year ended on that date in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements 
of the Act.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board has:

•	 reviewed the accounting policies and ensured that they were consistently applied; and
•	 in cases where judgements and estimates were made, the judgements and estimates concerned were based 

on reasonableness and prudence.

The Board has relied on the Group’s risk management process and system of internal control to ensure that the 
information generated for the preparation of the financial statements from the underlying accounting records is 
accurate and reliable.

This Statement of Directors’ Responsibility is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board on 21 July 2021.

STATEMENT OF
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

PURSUANT TO PARAGRAPH 15.26(a) OF THE MAIN MARKET LISTING REQUIREMENTS OF BURSA 
MALAYSIA SECURITIES BERHAD
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List of
Material Properties
Held by the Group 

Location Description/ Existing use

Date of 
acquisition /

Date of 
Valuation

Land area
(sq metres)  Tenure  NBV 2021 

RM’million

Lot 8578, Blok 9
Salak Land District,
Kuching,
Sarawak

Water Park, Convention Centre and 
future mixed development project 
known as Borneo Samariang 
Resort City

23/8/2013 / 
28/2/2019

813,459 99 years 
leasehold

158.2

PT 1129 & PT 1130
Mukim Morib,
Kuala Langat,
Selangor

Water park, land held for 
development / mixed development 
project known as Morib Bay Resort 
City

10/7/2018 / 
18/1/2019

 567,600 Freehold 98.7

Bukit Gambang Safari Park, 
Jalan Bukit Gambang Utama, 
Bukit Gambang Resort City, 
26300 Kuantan,
Pahang Darul Makmur

Safari park known as Bukit 
Gambang Safari Park

30/9/2013 / 
30/9/2019

559,478 99 years 
leasehold

76.9

Bukit Gambang Water Park, 
Jalan Bukit Gambang Utama, 
Bukit Gambang Resort City, 
26300 Kuantan,
Pahang Darul Makmur

Water theme park known as Bukit 
Gambang Water Park

18/11/2009 / 
30/9/2019

352,077 99 years 
leasehold

75.6

Arabian Bay Resort,
Jalan Bukit Gambang Utama, 
Bukit Gambang Resort City, 
26300 Kuantan,
Pahang Darul Makmur

Corporate centre and club house, 
sixty-six (66) units of hotel suites 
and ten (10) units of penthouse 
suites together with basement 
level car park, commercial area 
and parking lots

14/9/2012 / 
30/9/2019

27,027 99 years 
leasehold

58.8

Master title no. 3212-3224, 
3236-3242,
Mukim of Ulu Lepar,
District of Kuantan,
State of Pahang Darul 
Makmur

Land held for projects known as 
Global Heritage North and South

20/1/2012 / 
30/9/2019

390,630 Freehold 51.1

PT 280, PT 282 and part 
of PT 279, Bandar Padang 
Mat Sirat, Kampung Kok 
Langkawi, District of 
Langkawi, Kedah 

Land held for development / mixed 
development project known as 
Langkawi Geopark Resort City

1/9/2014  283,283 90 years 
lease

49.4

Lot 8579 and Lot 8581, 
Blok 9 Salak Land District, 
Kuching, Sarawak

Land held for development / mixed 
development project known as 
Borneo Samariang Garden

30/9/2014 1,049,634 99 years 
leasehold

48.4

Lot 67085 and Lot 67090, 
Mukim Sungai Petani, Kedah

Land held for development / 
residential development project 

30/9/2015  747,070 Freehold 30.7

15 parcels of land in Mukim 
Ulu Melaka, Bukit Tekoh, 
Langkawi, Kedah

Land held for development / mixed 
development project known as  
Langkawi Medical Village

1/9/2014  231,027 90 years 
lease

13.7
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Total Number of Issued Shares	 :	 567,277,991 Ordinary Shares 
		  (including 9,596,900 Treasury Shares)
Class of Share	 :	 Ordinary Share
Voting Rights	 :	 One (1) Vote per Ordinary Share 

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

	 No. of		  No. of	
Size of Shareholdings	 Shareholders	 %	 Shares Held	 %

1 - 99	 81	 5.260	 2,978	 0.000
100 - 1,000 	 243	 15.779	 88,578	 0.016
1,001 - 10,000	 490	 31.818	 2,498,228	 0.448
10,001 - 100,000  	 565	 36.688	 20,093,007	 3.603
100,001 - 27,884,053* 	 158	 10.260	 191,131,848	 34.273
27,884,054 and above**	 3	 0.195	 343,866,452	 61.660

Total	 1,540	 100.000	 557,681,091^	 100.000

Notes:-
*	 less than 5% of issued shares
**	 5% and above of issued shares
^	 excluding treasury shares of 9,596,900

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 

	  Direct Interest 	  Indirect Interest 
		  No. of		  No. of	
Name		  Shares	 %#	 Shares	 %#

Sentoria Capital Sdn Bhd		  283,700,428	 50.871	 –	 –
Dato’ Chan Kong San		  –	 –	 283,700,428^	 50.871
Dato’ Gan Kim Leong		  –	 –	 301,421,268^^	 54.049
State Secretary, Pahang		  87,666,024	 15.720	 –	 –

Notes:-
#	 Calculated based on 557,681,091 shares, which do not include 9,596,900 treasury shares.
^	 Deemed interested by virtue of his interest in Sentoria Capital Sdn Bhd pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies 

Act 2016.
^^	 Deemed interested by virtue of his interest in Sentoria Capital Sdn Bhd and Base Rock Sdn Bhd pursuant to 

Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016.

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS

	  Direct Interest 	  Indirect Interest 
		  No. of		  No. of	
Name		  Shares	 %#	 Shares	 %#

Dato’ Hj. Abdul Rahman Bin Hj. Imam Arshad		  –	 –	 –	 –
Dato’ Chan Kong San 		  –	 –	 283,700,428^	 50.871
Dato’ Gan Kim Leong		  –	 –	 301,421,268^^	 54.049
Mr Wong Yoke Nyen		  –	 –	 –	 –
Datin Sri Lim Mooi Lang                  		  2,000,000	 0.359	 7,300,000*	 1.309

ANALYSIS OF
SHAREHOLDINGS 

AS AT 30 June 2021
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ANALYSIS OF
SHAREHOLDINGS 
AS AT 30 June 2021

Notes:-
#	 Calculated based on 557,681,091 shares, which do not include 9,596,900 treasury shares.
^	 Deemed interested by virtue of his interest in Sentoria Capital Sdn Bhd pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies 

Act 2016.
^^	 Deemed interested by virtue of his interest in Sentoria Capital Sdn Bhd and Base Rock Sdn Bhd pursuant to 

Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016.
*	 Deemed interested by virtue of her interest in shares of spouse and child pursuant to Section 59(11)(c) of the 

Companies Act 2016.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the other Directors of the Company had any interest in shares in the Company 
or its related corporations as at 30 June 2021.

LIST OF TOP THIRTY (30) SHAREHOLDERS 
(Without aggregating securities from different securities accounts belonging to the same registered holder)

No.	 Name	 Shareholdings	 %#

			 
1	 Affin Hwang Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 203,205,574	 36.438 

Pledged Securities Account for Sentoria Capital Sdn Bhd	
2	 State Secretary, Pahang	 87,666,024	 15.720
3	 Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 	 52,994,854	 9.503 

Pledged Securities Account for Sentoria Capital Sdn Bhd (021)	
4	 MIDF Amanah Investment Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 27,500,000	 4.931 

Seriemas Development Sdn Bhd for Sentoria Capital Sdn Bhd	
5	 Cartaban Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd	 22,917,100	 4.109 

Exempt an for BOCI Securities LTD (Clients A/C) 	
6	 Base Rock Sdn Bhd	 14,949,000	 2.681
7	 Perbadanan Kemajuan Pertanian Negeri Pahang	 12,100,000	 2.170
8	 LKPP Corporation Sendirian Berhad	 12,045,000	 2.160
9	 Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 10,650,000	 1.910 

Pledged Securities Account for Francis Chai Kim Lung	
10	 Hou Kok Chung	 7,000,000	 1.255
11	 Ng Eng Siong	 6,218,000	 1.115
12	 Grinterra Sdn Bhd	 4,441,160	 0.796
13	 Tan Siew Bee	 4,345,000	 0.779
14	 So Bee Hwe	 4,250,000	 0.762
15	 Lim Thean Keong	 3,564,000	 0.639
16	 Wong Jing Yi	 2,249,700	 0.403
17	 Base Rock Sdn Bhd	 2,135,000	 0.383
18	 Affin Hwang Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 2,000,000	 0.359 

Pledged Securities Account for JS Portfolio Sdn Bhd	
19	 Fan Pik Wah	 2,000,000	 0.359
20	 Lim Mooi Lang	 2,000,000	 0.359
21	 Tan Soo Lan	 1,953,500	 0.350
22	 CGS-CIMB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 1,600,000	 0.287 

Pledged Securities Account for So Bee Hwe (BPuteri-CL)	
23	 Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 1,156,176	 0.207 

Pledged Securities Account for Chin Yong Sang	
24	 Lye Ek Seang	 1,116,500	 0.200
25	 Low Lay Eng	 1,100,000	 0.197
26	 Yee Kong Way	 1,100,000	 0.197
27	 Khoo Lee Lee	 1,090,000	 0.195
28	 CGS-CIMB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 1,000,000	 0.179 

Pledged Securities Account for Anthony Wong Ai Sun (MY3939)	
29	 Chai Kim Swee	 1,000,000	 0.179
30	 Chiang Sang Sem	 1,000,000	 0.179

	 TOTAL	 496,346,588	 89.001

Notes:-
#	 Calculated based on 557,681,091 shares, which do not include 9,596,900 treasury shares.
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ANALYSIS OF
WARRANT B HOLDINGS

AS AT 30 June 2021

WARRANT B

No. of Warrants 	 :	 205,867,236
Exercise Price of Warrants	 :	 RM0.60
Exercise Period of Warrants	 :	 9 January 2018 to 9 January 2025
Expiry Right	 :	 Each Warrant entitles the holder to subscribe for one (1) new ordinary 

share in the Company at the Exercise Price during the Exercise Period
Voting Rights	 :	 The holder of Warrants is not entitled to any voting  rights

		  No. of		  No. of
Size of Warrant Holdings		  Holders	 %	 Warrants	 %

1 - 99		  3	 1.829	 180	 0.000
100 - 1,000 		  19	 11.585	 10,320	 0.005
1,001 - 10,000		  53	 32.317	 276,820	 0.135
10,001 - 100,000  		  65	 39.634	 2,271,528	 1.103
100,001 – 10,293,360* 		  22	 13.415	 22,421,254	 10.891
10,293,361 and above**		  2	 1.220	 180,887,134	 87.866

Total		  164	 100.000	 205,867,236	 100.000

Notes:-
*	 less than 5% of issued warrants
**	 5% and above of issued warrants

DIRECTORS’ WARRANT HOLDINGS

	  Direct Interest 	  Indirect Interest 
		  No. of		  No. of
Name		  Warrants	 %	 Warrants	 %

Dato’ Hj. Abdul Rahman Bin Hj. Imam Arshad		  –	 –	 –	 –
Dato’ Chan Kong San		  –	 –	 180,887,134^	 87.866
Dato’ Gan Kim Leong		  –	 –	 181,739,094^^	 88.280
Mr Wong Yoke Nyen		  –	 –	 –	 –
Datin Sri Lim Mooi Lang		  –	 –	 –	 –

Notes:-
^	 Deemed interest by virtue of his interest in Sentoria Capital Sdn Bhd pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies 

Act 2016.
^^	 Deemed interest by virtue of his interest in Sentoria Capital Sdn Bhd and Base Rock Sdn Bhd  pursuant to 

Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016.
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ANALYSIS OF
WARRANT B HOLDINGS
AS AT 30 June 2021

LIST OF TOP THIRTY (30) WARRANT HOLDERS 
(Without aggregating securities from different securities accounts belonging to the same registered holder)

		  Warrant	
No.	 Name 	   Holdings	 % 
			 
1	 Affin Hwang Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 160,316,062	 77.874 

Pledged Securities Account for Sentoria Capital Sdn Bhd	
2	 Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 20,571,072	 9.992 

Pledged Securities Account for Sentoria Capital Sdn Bhd (021)	
3	 Ng Say Piyu	 7,068,334	 3.433
4	 H.A. Properties Sdn Bhd	 6,265,000	 3.043
5	 LKPP Corporation Sendirian Berhad 	 4,380,000	 2.128
6	 Base Rock Sdn Bhd 	 851,960	 0.414
7	 Lim Hon Seng	 420,100	 0.204
8	 Lim Kok Leang	 400,000	 0.194
9	 HLIB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 391,500	 0.190 

Hong Leong Bank Bhd for Ewe Hong Khoon	
10	 Chin Yoke Kook	 349,500	 0.170
11	 HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd	 246,000	 0.119 

Morgan Stanley & Co. International PLC (Firm A/C)	
12	 Tan Phei Yien	 232,700	 0.113
13	 Lee Chee Siong	 226,600	 0.110
14	 M & A Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd	 219,700	 0.107 

Pledged Securities Account for Sae Wang Ahui (PNG)	
15	 Ngu Leh Ing	 200,000 	 0.097
16	 Wan Leng Whatt	 183,400	 0.089
17	 Lim Thiam Sang	 152,800	 0.074
18	 Fadhli Bin Sulaiman	 137,900	 0.067
19	 CGS-CIMB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 128,000	 0.062 

Pledged Securities Account for Siew Kim Lim (MY2848)	
20	 CIMSEC Nominess (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 120,000	 0.058 

CIMB forTan Tian Meng (PB)	
21	 Grinterra Sdn Bhd	 119,100	 0.058
22	 Yap Poh Lay	 110,400	 0.054
23	 Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 110,100	 0.053 

Pledged Securities Account for Goh Hong Hwa	
24	 Lee Guan Hock	 108,160	 0.053
25	 Lee Fook On	 100,000	 0.049
26	 Lee Kok Hoi	 100,000	 0.049
27	 Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 98,800	 0.048 

Pledged Securities Account for Siew Kim Lim	
28	 Tan Tian Meng	 88,000	 0.043
29	 Goh Eng Seong	 80,000	 0.039
30	 Seah Sook Sun	 75,088	 0.036

	 TOTAL	 203,850,276	 99.020
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Twenty-Second (22nd) Annual General Meeting of SENTORIA GROUP BERHAD 
(“the Company”) will be held and conducted on a fully virtual basis through live streaming with an online remote 
participation and voting provided by V-Cube Malaysia Sdn Bhd from the Broadcast Venue at BO1-A-09, Menara 2, 
KL Eco City, 3, Jalan Bangsar, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, on Wednesday, 8 September 2021 at 10.30 a.m. to 
transact the following businesses:

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.	 To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 
March 2021 together with the Directors’ and Auditors’ Reports thereon.

	
2.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees of RM6,000 per month to each of the 

Non-Executive Directors from the conclusion of the 22nd Annual General Meeting 
until the conclusion of the 23rd Annual General Meeting.

	
3.	 To approve the payment of the following attendance allowances to the Non-

Executive Directors from the conclusion of the 22nd Annual General Meeting until 
the conclusion of the 23rd Annual General Meeting:

(i)	 RM1,500 per Board/shareholders meeting for the Non-Executive Chairman 
of the Board and RM1,000 per Board/shareholders meeting for each of 
other Non-Executive Board Members; and

(ii)	 RM1,500 per Board committee meeting for the Non-Executive Board 
Members who are chairs of the Board committees and RM1,000 per Board 
committee meeting for Non-Executive Board Members who are members 
of the Board committees.

	
4.	 To re-elect the following Directors who retire pursuant to Article 142 of the 

Company’s Constitution and who have offered themselves for re-election:

(i)	 Dato’ Chan Kong San
(ii)	 Mr. Wong Yoke Nyen

5.	 To appoint Grant Thornton Malaysia PLT as Auditors of the Company for the 
financial year ending 31 March 2022 at such remuneration to be determined by 
the Directors.

(Explanatory Note 1)

Ordinary Resolution 1
(Explanatory Note 2)

Ordinary Resolution 2
(Explanatory Note 3)

Ordinary Resolution 3
Ordinary Resolution 4 

(Explanatory Note 4)

Ordinary Resolution 5 
(Explanatory Note 5)

SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions, with or without 
modifications:

6.	 Continuation in office as Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

	 “THAT approval be hereby given to Mr. Wong Yoke Nyen, whose tenure will reach 
a cumulative terms of nine (9) years on 8 October 2021, to continue in office as 
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in accordance with 
the Malaysia Code on Corporate Governance until the conclusion of the next 
Annual General Meeting.”

Ordinary Resolution 6
(Explanatory Note 6)

NOTICE OF
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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7.	 Authority to Directors pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 
2016

	 “THAT subject always to the Companies Act 2016 (“Act”), the Constitution of 
the Company and the approvals from Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa 
Securities”) and any other relevant governmental and/or regulatory authorities, 
the Directors of the Company be hereby authorised and empowered pursuant 
to the Act, to issue and allot shares in the Company from time to time at such 
price and upon such terms and conditions, for such purposes and to such person 
or persons whomsoever the Directors may in their absolute discretion, deem fit, 
provided that the aggregate number of shares issued pursuant to this resolution 
does not exceed twenty per centum (20%) of the total number of issued shares 
(excluding treasury shares) of the Company for the time being, to be utilised 
until 31 December 2021 as empowered by Bursa Securities pursuant to Bursa 
Securities’s letter dated 16 April 2020 to grant additional temporary relief 
measures to the listed issuers and thereafter, does not exceed ten per centum 
(10%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) of the 
Company  for the time being as stipulated under Paragraph 6.03(1) of Bursa 
Securities Main Market Listing Requirements (“MMLR”) to be utilised at the time 
of issuance of shares and such authority under this resolution shall continue 
in force until the conclusion of the 23rd Annual General Meeting or when it is 
required by law to be held, whichever is earlier, and THAT the Directors be and 
are empowered to obtain the approval for the listing of and quotation for the 
additional shares so issued on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.”

Ordinary Resolution 7
(Explanatory Note 7)

8.	 Proposed renewal of authority for the Company to purchase its own shares

	 “THAT subject to compliance with all applicable laws, the Company’s Constitution, 
and regulations and guidelines applied from time to time by Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) and/or any other relevant regulatory 
authorities:

(a)	 approval and authority be hereby given for the Company to utilise up to 
its total retained earnings, based on its latest audited financial statements 
available up to the date of transaction, to purchase, from time to time during 
the validity of the approval and authority under this resolution, such number 
of ordinary shares in the Company (as may be determined by the Directors) 
from Bursa Securities upon such terms and conditions as the Directors may 
deem fit and expedient in the interests of the Company provided that:

(i)	 the aggregate number of shares to be purchased and/or held by the 
Company pursuant to this resolution does not exceed 10% of the total 
number of issued shares of the Company at the time of purchase; and

(ii)	 in the event that the Company ceases to hold all or any part of such 
shares as a result of (among others) cancellations, re-sales and/or 
distributions of any of these shares so purchased, the Company shall 
be entitled to further purchase and/or hold such additional number 
of shares as shall (in aggregate with the shares then still held by the 
Company) not exceeding 10% of the total number of issued shares of 
the Company at the time of purchase.

Ordinary Resolution 8
(Explanatory Note 8)

NOTICE OF
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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(b)	 the approval and authority conferred by this resolution shall commence 
upon the passing of this resolution and shall continue to be valid and in 
force until:

(i)	 the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”);
(ii)	 the expiry of the period within which the next AGM is required by law 

to be held; or
(iii)	 revoked or varied by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the 

Company in general meeting,

	 whichever occurs first.

(c)	 approval and authority be given to the Directors, in their absolute discretion 
to:

(i)	 deal with the shares so purchased in the following manner:

(1)	 to cancel such shares;
(2)	 to retain such shares as treasury shares;
(3)	 to retain part of such shares as treasury shares and cancel the 

remainder of such shares; and/or
(4)	 in any other manner as may be prescribed by applicable laws 

and/or regulations and guidelines applied from time to time by 
Bursa Securities and/or any other relevant authority for the time 
being in force,

	 and such authority to deal with such shares shall continue to be valid 
until all such shares have been dealt with by the Directors.

(ii)	 deal with the existing treasury shares of the Company in the following 
manner:

(1)	 to cancel all or part of such shares;
(2)	 to distribute all or part of such shares as dividends to 

shareholders;
(3)	 to resell all or part of such shares on Bursa Securities in 

accordance with the relevant rules of Bursa Securities;
(4)	 to transfer all or part of such shares for the purposes of or under 

an employees’ share scheme;
(5)	 to transfer all or part of such shares as purchase consideration; 

and/or
(6)	 in any other manner as may be prescribed by applicable laws 

and/or regulations and guidelines applied from time to time by 
Bursa Securities and/or any other relevant authority for the time 
being in force,

	 and such authority to deal with such shares shall continue to be valid 
until all such shares have been dealt with by the Directors.

(d)	 approval and authority be given to the Directors to take all such actions 
that may be necessary to give effect to this resolution and, in connection 
therewith, to do all such acts and things as they may deem fit and expedient 
in the best interest of the Company.”

NOTICE OF
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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9.	 Proposed renewal of shareholders’ mandate for recurrent related party 
transactions of a revenue or trading nature and proposed new shareholders’ 
mandate for additional recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or 
trading nature

	 “THAT subject always to the Companies Act 2016 (“Act”), the Company’s 
Constitution, other applicable laws, guidelines, rules and regulations and the 
approvals of any relevant governmental and/or regulatory authorities, approval 
be and is hereby given to the Company and its subsidiary companies to enter 
into any of the transactions falling within the types of existing renewal and 
additional Recurrent Related Party Transactions of a revenue or trading nature 
with related parties as specified in Section 2.3 of the Circular to Shareholders 
dated 30 July 2021, provided that such transactions are necessary for the day-to-
day operations; in the ordinary course of business and at arms’ length based on 
normal commercial terms which are not more favourable to the related parties 
than those generally available to the public; and are not detrimental to the minority 
shareholders of the Company (“Mandate”) and that such approval shall continue 
to be in force until:

(i)	 the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) following this 
AGM at which the Mandate is passed, at which time it will lapse, unless by 
a resolution passed at that meeting, the Mandate is renewed; or

(ii)	 the expiration of the period within which the next AGM after that date is 
required to be held pursuant to Section 340(2) of the Act (but shall not 
extend to such extension as may be allowed pursuant to Section 340(4) of 
the Act); or

(iii)	 revoked or varied by ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the 
Company in general meeting,

	 whichever is the earlier;

	 AND THAT authority be   hereby given to the Directors to complete and do all such 
acts and things (including executing all such documents as may be required) as 
they may consider necessary or expedient to give effect to the Mandate.”

10.	 To transact any other ordinary business of which due notice shall have been given 
in accordance with the Company’s Constitution or the Companies Act 2016.

Ordinary Resolution 9
(Explanatory Note 9)

By Order of the Board

DATUK TAN LEH KIAH	 LIM CHIEN JOO (MS)	 CHIN LEE CHYEN (MS)
MAICSA No.: 0719692	 MAICSA No.: 7063152	 MAICSA No.: 7055910
SSM PC No.: 201908002912	 SSM PC No.: 201908004025	 SSM PC No.: 202008001611
Company Secretary	 Company Secretary	 Company Secretary

Seri Kembangan, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia
30 July 2021

NOTICE OF
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Notes:

1.	 As part of the initiatives to curb the spread of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”), the 22nd AGM will be 
held and conducted on a fully virtual basis through live streaming with an online remote participation and 
voting provided by V-Cube Malaysia Sdn Bhd from the Broadcast Venue at BO1-A-09, Menara 2, KL Eco City, 3, 
Jalan Bangsar, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. Shareholders are to attend, speak (including posing questions 
to the Board via real time submission of typed texts) and vote (collectively, “participate”) remotely at the 22nd 
AGM. Shareholders are advised to refer to the Administrative Guide.

2.	 For the purpose of determining who shall be entitled to attend this AGM remotely, the Company shall be 
requesting Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn. Bhd. to make available to the Company, the Record of Depositors 
as at 1 September 2021 (which is not less than three clear market days before the date of this AGM). Only a 
shareholder whose name appears on this Record of Depositors, shall be entitled to attend this AGM or appoint 
a proxy to attend, speak and vote on his/her behalf at the AGM.

3.	 A shareholder entitled to attend, speak and vote at this AGM, who is the holder of two (2) or more shares is 
entitled to appoint not more than 2 proxies to attend, speak and vote at this AGM in his/her stead. A proxy may 
but need not be a shareholder of the Company and there shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the 
proxy.

4.	 Where a shareholder appoints two (2) proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the 
proportion of his/her shareholdings to be represented by each proxy. Provided that having appointed a proxy 
to attend in his/her stead, if such shareholder personally attends this AGM, his/her proxy shall be precluded 
from the meeting. Such attendance by the shareholder has to be informed by the shareholder at least forty-
eight (48) hours before the convening of the AGM.

5.	 Where a shareholder is an Exempt Authorised Nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for 
multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”) as defined under Securities Industry 
(Central Depositories) Act 1991, there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised 
nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

6.	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing signed by the appointor or his/her attorney duly authorised 
in writing or, if the appointor is a corporation, either under its common seal or signed by an officer or attorney 
so authorised.

7.	 A shareholder who has appointed a proxy(ies) or attorney(s) or authorised representative(s) to attend, speak 
and vote at this virtual AGM, must request his/her proxy(ies) or attorney(s) or authorised representative(s) to 
register himself/herself at https://cutt.ly/DQydkYK. Please follow the procedures in Administrative Guide.

8.	 The appointment of proxy may be made in a hard copy form or by electronic form. In the case of an appointment 
made in hard copy form, the Form of Proxy must be deposited at the following address:-

	 Poll Administrator of Sentoria Group Berhad
	 54B, Damai Complex,
	 Jalan Lumut, 50400 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.

	 In the case of electronic appointment, the Form of Proxy must be electronically lodged to the Company, by 
emailing to investor@sentoria.com.my or e-registered at https://cutt.ly/DQydkYK.

	 Kindly refer to the Administrative Guide on the procedures for electronic lodgement of Form of Proxy. All Form 
of Proxy submitted must be received by the Company, not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time 
appointed for holding this AGM or any adjournment thereof.

9.	 Please ensure ALL the particulars as required in the hard copy of the Form of Proxy are completed, signed and 
dated accordingly.

10.	 Last date and time for lodging the Form of Proxy is on Monday, 6 September 2021 at 10.30 a.m.

11.	 Pursuant to Paragraph 8.29A(1) of the MMLR, all the resolutions set out in the Notice of this AGM will be put 
to vote by poll.
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Explanatory Notes

1.	 Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2021

	 This item of the Agenda is for discussion purposes only, as Section 340(1)(a) of the Companies Act 2016 
(“Act”) does not require the shareholders to formally approve the Audited Financial Statements. Hence, this 
item will not put forward for voting.

2.	 Ordinary Resolution 1 –Payment of Directors’ Fees from the conclusion of the 22nd Annual General Meeting 
until the conclusion of the 23rd Annual General Meeting

	 Article 104 of the Company’s Constitution (“Constitution”) provides that Directors’ Fees shall be determined 
by the Company in a general meeting.

	 The payment of monthly fixed fees to the Non-Executive Directors is to commensurate and compensate them 
for their time and effort on an on-going basis for their service to the Company.

	 The full details of Directors’ Fees paid during the financial year ended 31 March 2021 are further disclosed on 
pages 25 to 26 of this Annual Report.

3.	 Ordinary Resolution 2 – Payment of attendance allowances to the Non-Executive Directors from the 
conclusion of the 22nd Annual General Meeting until the conclusion of the 23rd Annual General Meeting

	 The payment of attendance allowances to the Non-Executive Directors is to defray their travelling and other 
incidental costs for attending Board’s, Board committees’ and shareholders’ meetings.

	 The full details of attendance allowances paid to Non-Executive Directors during the financial year ended 31 
March 2021 are further disclosed on pages 25 to 26 of this Annual Report.

4.	 Ordinary Resolution 3 and 4 – Re-election of Directors Pursuant to Article 142 of the Company’s Constitution

	 Article 142 of the Constitution expressly states that at every Annual General Meeting, one-third (1/3) of the 
Directors (including a Managing Director or an Executive Director) shall retire from office. In addition, Article 
142 also states that all Directors including a Managing Director or an Executive Director shall retire from office 
at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

	 Both, Dato’ Chan Kong San and Mr Wong Yoke Nyen, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-elections 
at this AGM pursuant to the above article.

	 Both, Dato’ Chan and Mr Wong, have undergone an annual assessment on their performances and contributions 
for the financial year ended 31 March 2021 by the Company’s Nomination Committee (“NC”) and based on 
this assessment, the Board has recommended the re-elections of Dato’ Chan and Mr Wong. Both, Dato’ Chan 
and Mr Wong, have abstained from all deliberations and decisions on their respective eligibility to stand for 
re-elections at the relevant NC and/or Board meetings, and will continue to abstain from all deliberations and 
decisions on their respective eligibilities to stand for re-election at this AGM.

5.	 Ordinary Resolution 5 – Appointment of Auditors

	 Pursuant to Section 273(b) of the Act, the term of office of the present Auditors, Grant Thornton Malaysia 
PLT, shall lapse at the conclusion of this AGM unless they are re-appointed by the shareholders to continue in 
office. Grant Thornton Malaysia PLT, have indicated their willingness to be appointed as the Auditors for the 
financial year ending 31 March 2022. The appointment of Grant Thornton Malaysia PLT as Auditors has been 
considered against the relevant criteria prescribed by Paragraph 15.21 of the MMLR.

	 This proposed Ordinary Resolution 5, if passed, will also give the Directors, the authority to determine the 
remuneration of the Auditors.

NOTICE OF
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6.	 Ordinary Resolution 6 – Continuation in office as Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

	 Mr Wong Yoke Nyen (“Mr Wong”) was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director (“INED”) since 
8 October 2012 and was re-designated as Senior INED on 30 September 2020. The Board had assessed 
the independence of Mr Wong and had via the Nomination Committee conducted an assessment on the 
contribution of Mr Wong at meetings held on 31 May 2021 and has recommended that Mr Wong, whose 
tenure will reach a cumulative term of 9 years on 8 October 2021, be allowed to continue to act as Senior 
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company based on the following justifications:-

a)	 He fulfils the criteria under the definition of Independent Director as stated in the Main Market Listing 
Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and thus, he is able to provide a check and balance 
by bringing an element of objectivity and independent judgement to the Board’s deliberations;

b)	 His vast experience in the accounting, finance and audit enables him to provide the Board and Board 
Committees with a diverse set of experience, expertise and independent judgement;

c)	 He has shown high commitment and devoted sufficient time and efforts and attended all the Board and 
Board Committees Meetings for informed and balanced decision making; 

d)	 He actively participated in Board and Board Committees’ discussion and provided an independent voice; 
and

e)	 He fulfilled his role with due care and diligence and has carried out his professional duties as Senior 
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in the interest of the Company and shareholders.

	 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 6, if passed, will allow Mr Wong to continue acting as Senior Independent 
Non-Executive Director to fulfill the requirements of Paragraph 3.04 of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad’s 
Main Market Listing Requirements and to be in line with the Practice No. 4.2 of the Malaysian Code of 
Corporate Governance.

7.	 Ordinary Resolution 7 - Authority to Directors pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016

	 The Company has not issued any new shares under the general mandate pursuant to Section 75 and 76 of 
the Act for the issuance and allotment of shares up to 20% of the total number of issued shares (excluding 
treasury shares) of the Company at the time of issuance of the shares, which was approved at the 21st AGM 
held on 30 September 2020 and which will lapse at the conclusion of this AGM. A renewal of this mandate is 
sought at this AGM as Ordinary Resolution 7.

	 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 7, if passed, will give authority to the Directors of the Company to issue 
and allot shares from the unissued share capital of the Company for such purposes as the Directors of the 
Company in their absolute discretion, consider to be in the interest of the Company without having to convene 
a general meeting. The 20% general mandate shall continue to be in force until 31 December 2021 and shall be 
reinstated to 10% general mandate from 1 January 2022 until the conclusion of the next AGM. This authority, 
unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting will expire at the conclusion of the 23rd AGM.

	 This general mandate, if passed, will provide flexibility to the Directors to allot and issue shares for any 
possible fundraising activities, including but not limited to placement of shares, for the purposes of funding 
future investments, working capital, acquisitions and/or such other applications as the Directors deem fit 
without the need to convene separate general meeting to obtain its shareholders’ approval so as to avoid 
incurring additional cost and time.
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8.	 Ordinary Resolution 8 - Proposed Renewal of Share Buy-Back Authority

	 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 8, if passed, will empower the Directors to buy-back and/or hold up to a 
maximum of 10% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company at the 
time of purchase, by utilising the funds allocated which shall not exceed the total retained earnings of the 
Company, based on its latest audited financial statements available as of the date of the transaction. This 
authority, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, will expire at the conclusion of the 
next AGM, or the expiration of period within which the next AGM is required by law to be held, whichever is 
earlier. The details of this proposal are set out in the Statement to Shareholders dated 30 July 2021.

9.	 Ordinary Resolution 9 - Proposed renewal of shareholders’ mandate for recurrent related party transactions 
of a revenue or trading nature and proposed new shareholders’ mandate for additional recurrent related 
party transactions of a revenue or trading nature

	 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 9, if approved, will allow the Company and its subsidiary companies to 
enter into renewal of existing recurrent related party transactions (“RRPT”) and additional RRPT of a revenue 
and trading nature with the related party as specified in Section 2.3 of the Circular to Shareholders dated 30 
July 2021, which is issued with this Annual Report. The details of this proposal are set out in the Circular to 
Shareholders dated 30 July 2021.

STATEMENT ACCOMPANYING
NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
PURSUANT TO PARAGRAPH 8.27(2) OF THE MAIN MARKET LISTING REQUIREMENTS OF BURSA MALAYSIA 
SECURITIES BERHAD (“MMLR”)

1.	 Details of individuals who are standing for election as Directors (excluding Directors standing for re-election)

	 No individual is seeking election as Director at the forthcoming 22nd Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the 
Company.

2.	 General mandate for issue of securities in accordance with Paragraph 6.03(3) of MMLR

	 The details of the proposed authority for Directors to issue shares in the Company pursuant to Sections 75 
and 76 of the Companies Act 2016 are set out in Explanatory Note 7 of the Notice of AGM.
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VIRTUAL 22ND ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SENTORIA GROUP BERHAD (“the Company”) (“22ND AGM”)

Date	 :	 Wednesday , 8 September 2021
Time	 :	 10.30 a.m.

A) STREAMING LOCATION B) CHAIRMAN LOCATION

Broadcast Venue Address:
V-cube Malaysia Sdn Bhd
BO1-A-09, Menara 2, 
KL Eco City, 3, Jalan Bangsar,
59200 Kuala Lumpur WP, Malaysia 

Conference Room 
No. 56 & 58, Jalan Dagang SB 4/2,
Taman Sg. Besi Indah, 
43300 Seri Kembangan, 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia,

SAFETY MEASURES DUE TO COVID-19 OUTBREAK

1.	 In light of the Covid-19 pandemic and the Company’s initiative to curb the spread of the pandemic, the Board 
of Directors of the Company has decided to convene the 22nd AGM of the Company via live streaming.

	 No shareholders are allowed to attend the Broadcast Venue on the day of the Virtual 22nd AGM.

	 Kindly note that the quality of the live streaming would depends on the bandwidth and stability of the internet 
connection of the participants.

2.	 Shareholders are encouraged to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy to attend and vote, at the 22nd 
AGM.  

REGISTRATION FOR THE VIRTUAL 22ND AGM

1.	 Shareholders are required to register ahead of the virtual 22nd AGM to allow the Company to make the 
necessary arrangement in relation to the meeting by registering online on or before 10.30 a.m. on 6 September 
2021 (“Cut-off date”):-

REGISTRATION URL:

Shareholder’s E-Registration	 :	 https://cutt.ly/1Qtb1ie

Proxy E-Registration	 :	 https://cutt.ly/DQydkYK

	 An acknowledged receipt email will be sent to you after the completion and submission of your e-registration. 

	 If you do not receive an email acknowledgement after your e-registration, it means your e-registration is not 
successful. Please check your spam/junk email folder or try to register again. 

2.	 Following the verification, authenticated parties (shareholders and proxy holders) will receive an email 
from agm@vcube.com.my containing your Unique Security (US) Link, Identifier (ID), Voting password and 
instructions to be used to enter the AGM at the date and time specified. 

3.	 Please check your inbox or spam-box on the night before the said AGM.

4.	 You must not forward your US link, ID and or Voting password. This will be in breach of terms of usage. This 
is also to avoid any technical disruptions to your personalized usage. Such mis-usage will void your vote and 
you may be prosecuted under the PDPA Act 2010. 

5.	 Shareholders who register by the Cut-off date but do not receive an email response before 7 September 2021, 
may contact us for assistance at the Hotline via WhatsApp Message to +60 11 - 4008 5532 (Monday to Friday: 
from 9.00 a.m. to 5.00 p.m.) or at email address: investor@sentoria.com.my.

ADMINISTRATIVE
GUIDE
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Notes:

(a)	 Eligibility of participants will be verified against the General Meeting’s Record of Depository as at 1 September 
2021.

(b)	 Participants must not forward your ID, Voting Password or US Link to any other persons. This will be in breach 
of terms of usage. This is also to avoid any technical disruptions to your personalized usage. Such mis-usage 
will void your vote and you may be prosecuted under the Personal Data Protection Act 2010. The link is trackable 
and will be erased after the virtual AGM has concluded.

(c)	 Shareholders who are unable to participate in the virtual AGM are encouraged to appoint the Chairman as their 
proxies.

(d)	 Browser: You will need a browser that is HTML5-compatible (e.g. Microsoft Edge, Chrome, Firefox) and a stable 
WIFI or LAN connection to participate in the virtual AGM which is device agnostic. A pre-environment test is 
attached with the US Link. 

	 For best user experience, you are strongly advised to join via a laptop or computer to engage fully in the 
proceedings and interactively download important information presented during the virtual AGM.

(e)	 All virtual AGM user data are recorded for compliance purpose.

FLOW CHART – 22ND VIRTUAL AGM OF SENTORIA GROUP BERHAD

ADMINISTRATIVE
GUIDE
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E-VOTING PROCEDURES:

1.	 Click on the Voting Link, enter your ID and your Voting password which has been emailed to you.  

2.	 During the session, the Chairperson of the Meeting or the Board will answer questions pertaining to each 
resolution within a certain timeframe.  Upon completion of the Q & A session, shareholders and proxy holders 
can click on the clickable voting link on the right-hand side of the screen to proceed with the voting process.

3.	 Shareholders and/or proxy holders must submit the e-vote during the live polling session for each Resolution 
through clicking the box:-

FOR

AGAINST

ABSTAIN

4.	 A fixed time for voting is allocated depending on the Chairperson’s decision.

5.	 A shareholder is allowed to vote either by Form of Proxy or online during this AGM.

6.	 The shareholder or proxy holder is only allowed to vote once.  In the event, the shareholder or proxy holder 
voted twice, only the first vote is valid.

7.	 Once e-voting is completed for all the resolutions by polling, the AGM will be adjourned for the vote counting 
compliance.

8.	 During the adjournment period, the voting data in CSV format will be downloaded, checked and validated by 
the Scrutineer.

9.	 The Chairperson will provide details of the overall results.

UPDATES ON 22ND AGM ARRANGEMENT

1.	 Shareholders are reminded to monitor the Company’s website or announcements from time to time for the 
latest updates on the status or changes to the arrangement of the 22nd AGM process http://sentoria.com.my/
investor-relations/announcement.php

ENQUIRY

1.	 If you have any enquiries prior to the AGM, please email to investor@sentoria.com.my and to include the 
following details when you email:-

i)	 Full name as per MyKad;
ii)	 Mobile Contact Number; and
iii)	 CDS Account Number. 

We would like to thank all parties for your understanding and co-operation in conducting the virtual AGM amidst 
the COVID-19 pandemic. Stay Safe. 

ADMINISTRATIVE
GUIDE
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✄

SENTORIA GROUP BERHAD
[Registration No.: 199801007217 (463344-K)]

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

FORM OF PROXY Number of ordinary shares held

I/We, ______________________________________________________________CDS Account No.__________________________________________

of ___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

being a Shareholder/Shareholders of SENTORIA GROUP BERHAD, hereby appoint:-

Full Name (in Block)  NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of
Shareholdings

Address No. of Shares %

Email Address

Mobile Phone No.

or failing him/her

Full Name (in Block)  NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of
Shareholdings

Address No. of Shares %

Email Address

Mobile Phone No.

as failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Twenty-Second Annual 
General Meeting of the Company to be held and conducted on a fully virtual basis through live streaming with an online remote 
participation and voting provided by V-cube Malaysia Sdn Bhd from the Broadcast Venue at BO1-A-09, Menara 2, KL Eco City, 3, 
Jalan Bangsar, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, on Wednesday, 8 September 2021 at 10:30 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. 
My/Our proxy is to vote as indicated below:

Ordinary Business Resolution For Against
1. To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees of RM6,000 per month to each of 

the Non-Executive Directors from the conclusion of the 22nd Annual General 
Meeting until the conclusion of the 23rd Annual General Meeting.

Ordinary Resolution 1

2. To approve the payment of attendance allowances to the Non-Executive 
Directors from the conclusion of the 22nd Annual General Meeting until the 
conclusion of the 23rd Annual General Meeting on the basis as set out in the 
Notice of this Annual General Meeting.

Ordinary Resolution 2

3. To re-elect Dato’ Chan Kong San as Director. Ordinary Resolution 3
4. To re-elect Mr Wong Yoke Nyen as Director. Ordinary Resolution 4
5. To appoint Grant Thornton Malaysia PLT as Auditors of the Company. Ordinary Resolution 5

Special Business
6. To approve the continuation in office of Mr Wong Yoke Nyen as Senior 

Independent Non-Executive Director.
Ordinary Resolution 6

7. To authorise the Directors to issue shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of 
the Companies Act 2016.

Ordinary Resolution 7

8. To approve the proposed renewal of authority for the Company to 
purchase its own shares.

Ordinary Resolution 8

9. To approve the proposed renewal of shareholders’ mandate for recurrent 
related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature and proposed new 
shareholders’ mandate for additional recurrent related party transactions of 
a revenue or trading nature.

Ordinary Resolution 9

(Please indicate with a “x” as to how you wish your vote/s to be cast. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy will vote 
or abstain from voting at his/her discretion)

Dated this____________________day of_ __________________________ , 2021

_______________________________________
Signature
(If shareholder is a corporation, this part should be executed under seal)

Notes:
1.	 As part of the initiatives to curb the spread of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”), the 22nd AGM will be held and conducted on a fully virtual basis through live 

streaming with an online remote participation and voting provided by V-Cube Malaysia Sdn Bhd from the Broadcast Venue at BO1-A-09, Menara 2, KL Eco City, 3, Jalan 
Bangsar, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. Shareholders are to attend, speak (including posing questions to the Board via real time submission of typed texts) and vote 
(collectively, “participate”) remotely at the 22nd AGM. Shareholders are advised to refer to the Administrative Guide.



2.	 For the purpose of determining who shall be entitled to attend this AGM remotely, the Company shall be requesting Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn. Bhd. to make available to the 
Company, the Record of Depositors as at 1 September 2021 (which is not less than three clear market days before the date of this AGM). Only a shareholder whose name appears 
on this Record of Depositors, shall be entitled to attend this AGM or appoint a proxy to attend, speak and vote on his/her behalf at the AGM.

3.	 A shareholder entitled to attend, speak and vote at this AGM, who is the holder of two (2) or more shares is entitled to appoint not more than 2 proxies to attend, speak and vote 
at this AGM in his/her stead. A proxy may but need not be a shareholder of the Company and there shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy.

4.	 Where a shareholder appoints two (2) proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/her shareholdings to be represented by each proxy. 
Provided that having appointed a proxy to attend in his/her stead, if such shareholder personally attends this AGM, his/her proxy shall be precluded from the meeting. Such 
attendance by the shareholder, has to be informed by the shareholder at least forty-eight (48) hours before the convening of the AGM.

5.	 Where a shareholder is an Exempt Authorised Nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”) 
as defined under Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of 
each omnibus account it holds.

6.	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing signed by the appointor or his/her attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the appointor is a corporation, either under its 
common seal or signed by an officer or attorney so authorised.

7.	 A shareholder who has appointed a proxy(ies) or attorney(s) or authorised representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at this virtual AGM, must request his/her proxy(ies) or 
attorney(s) or authorised representative(s) to register himself/herself at https://cutt.ly/DQydkYK. Please follow the procedures in Administrative Guide.

8.	 The appointment of proxy may be made in a hard copy form or by electronic form. In the case of an appointment made in hard copy form, the Form of Proxy must be deposited at 
the following address:-

	 Poll Administrator of Sentoria Group Berhad
	 54B, Damai Complex,
	 Jalan Lumut, 50400 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.
	 In the case of electronic appointment, the Form of Proxy must be electronically lodged to the Company, by emailing to investor@sentoria.com.my or e-registered at https://cutt.

ly/DQydkYK.
	 Kindly refer to the Administrative Guide on the procedures for electronic lodgement of Form of Proxy. All Form of Proxy submitted must be received by the Company, not less than 

forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding this AGM or any adjournment thereof.
9.	 Please ensure ALL the particulars as required in the hard copy of the Form of Proxy are completed, signed and dated accordingly.
10.	 Last date and time for lodging the Form of Proxy is on Monday, 6 September 2021 at 10.30 a.m.
11.	 Pursuant to Paragraph 8.29A(1) of the MMLR, all the resolutions set out in the Notice of this AGM will be put to vote by poll.
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Poll Administrator of Sentoria Group Berhad 
54B, Damai Complex, 
Jalan Lumut, 50400 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.
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Sentoria Group Berhad
[Registration No. : 199801007217 (463344-K)]

56 & 58 Jalan Dagang SB 4/2, Taman Sungai Besi Indah
43300 Seri Kembangan, Selangor Darul Ehsan

Tel: +603-8943 8388      Fax: +603-8943 5388
Email : sale_enquiry@sentoria.com.my
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Enriching Living Experience

SENTORIA GROUP BERHAD
[Registration No. : 199801007217 (463344-K)]
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